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Company overview

finanCial HigHligHts

Canfor is a leading integrated forest products company based in 
Vancouver, British Columbia (BC) with operations in BC, Alberta, 
Quebec, Washington state, and North and South Carolina. 
The Company produces primarily softwood lumber and also 
produces oriented strand board (OSB), remanufactured lumber 
products and specialized wood products. Canfor Shares are 
traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol CFP. 
The main operating company is Canadian Forest Products Ltd., 
from which the name Canfor is derived.

Canfor also owns a 50.2% interest in Canfor Pulp Limited 
Partnership, which is one of the largest producers of northern 
softwood kraft pulp in Canada and a leading producer of high 
performance kraft paper.

Canfor has an annual production capability of approximately 
5 billion board feet of lumber, 270 million square feet of plywood, 
and 1 billion square feet of OSB. Canfor also has approximately 
11 million cubic meters of allowable annual cut under its forest 
tenures, 97.5% of which is CSA SFM certified.

	 	 	 2009	 2008

Sales and income  Sales  $ 2,120.4 $ 2,611.6
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)   Operating income (loss) $ (210.4) $ (158.1)
   Net income (loss) (1) $ (70.5) $ (345.2)

Per common share (2) Net income (loss)  $ (0.50) $ (2.42)
(d o l l a r s)   Book value  $ 9.73 $ 10.48
    Share price 
    High $ 8.35 $ 11.06
    Low  $ 4.44 $ 5.96
     Close – December 31 $ 8.13 $ 7.60

Financial position Working capital $ 443.3 $ 531.4
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  Total assets $ 2,677.8 $ 3,200.4
   Net debt $ 234.5 $ 259.8
   Common shareholders’ equity $ 1,386.8 $ 1,494.8

Additional information (3)  Return on capital employed    (2.8)%  (17.1)%
   Return on common shareholders’ equity    (4.9)%  (18.5)%
   Ratio of current assets to current liabilities   2.6 : 1  2.0 : 1
   Ratio of net debt to capitalization   14.5%  14.8%
    EBITDA (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) $ (55.1) $ 13.1
   EBITDA margin     (2.6)%  0.5%
   Capital expenditures (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) $ 59.0 $ 80.2

(1)  2 0 0 8 n et  l o s s in c l u d e s a s s et im p a ir m e nt s o f  $169. 6 m i l l i o n b e f o r e t a x .
( 2 )  C o m m o n s h a r e s o u t s t a n d in g a t  D e ce m b e r 31,  2 0 0 9 a n d 2 0 0 8 o f  14 2 , 5 8 9, 2 9 7.
(3 )  S e e D ef in i t i o n s o f  S e l e c te d F in a n c ia l  Te r m s o n p a g e 6 8 . 

United States 49%

Canada 15%

Asia 26%

Europe & Other 10%

sales by market 2009

Lumber 45%

Pulp & Kraft Paper 43%

OSB 2%

Resale Lumber 3%

Miscellaneous 7%

sales by produCt line 2009



Late in 2009, Canfor’s executive team toured a number of our 
sawmills and delivered a message to our employees. The 
primary purpose of these trips was to congratulate them 
for their efforts during these challenging times. The second 
purpose (though equally important) was to reinforce with them a 
very simple concept – for Canfor to be successful, we must earn 
the trust of our shareholders.

It is a point of pride at Canfor that in the face of all the 
adversity this industry has faced over the last three years, our 
company has not only weathered the storm but exhibited a 
marked improvement in a number of key areas. We’ve confronted 
the assault on our industry with intensity and found the strength 
to perform at much higher levels and, as a result, Canfor will be 
a stronger company.

Our story of cost reductions and cash conservation is one 
which is now well documented. As the downturn deepened 
during 2009, and in the face of lowest lumber prices in recent 
memory and very low demand, we indefinitely shut three more 
sawmills in the summer, Rustad, Radium and Vavenby. This was 
in keeping with a determined strategy to be responsive to the 
markets, while reducing costs and conserving cash. At one point 
in 2009 as our efforts intensified, our production levels were 
reduced to nearly 50% of our total capacity. 

While still in negative territory, 2009 reflects the 
tremendous effort to improve on the precipitous cash burn rate 
we foresaw at the beginning of the year. Through a focused 
program titled Project Endurance 2, we renewed our efforts to 
conserve cash and not only met but exceeded our expectations 
by year end. We sought savings in every part of our business. 
Nothing was left untouched.

With the introduction and application of “Lean Sigma” 
principles, which lead to a focussed methodology to reduce cost 
and waste and increase employee involvement, we are finding 
ways to improve our productivity and reduce working capital. 
The combined effect of all of our efforts has left us with one of 
the strongest balance sheets in our industry and allowed us to 
finish 2009 with a cash balance of $133 million. Our message to 
you, our shareholders, is that we are not done with these efforts 
and, as markets improve, we will seek out growth opportunities 
where our management principles can be applied profitably. 

One positive effect of the U.S. housing downturn is the 
stimulus it gave us to focus on the emerging opportunity in 
China. The exponential volume growth that we’ve seen in 
our shipments to China is only one part of the story. Equally 
encouraging is the growing Asian appetite for higher grades of 
lumber, with more than 20% of our shipments to China being our 
construction grade lumber (2&Btr). In Japan, which has been an 
important market for us for many years, we were successful in 
increasing our market share of prime lumber products. 

In North America, we have focussed our efforts to further 
align to the needs of our highly-valued customers. We are 
committed to producing our wood products solutions on time, 
on grade and on tally. Our customers understand and appreciate 
this and we thank them for their loyalty.

To further ensure our ability to supply our customers with 
the lumber products solutions they need, we announced the 
restart of our Mackenzie and Chetwynd sawmills. Economically 
viable labour agreements at these operations cleared the way 
for capital investments that will further improve efficiency and 
reduce costs. Our Clear Lake sawmill employees also elected 
to reduce labour costs, making this mill more competitive. A 
profit-sharing agreement at these operations will engage the 
efforts and ideas of our hourly workforce and empower them to 
share in the success of their operations in the future.

On a more comprehensive basis, we are pleased to advise that 
we have also reached agreement with the United Steelworkers 
(USW) on a 4 year agreement that will reward our hourly 
employees in British Columbia with profit sharing and reinforce 
the teamwork necessary for high performance at all our mills.

It is particularly impressive that despite all of the 
uncertainty this downturn has caused to the daily lives of our 
employees, Canfor’s workforce has continued to improve on its 
forest industry-leading safety record. This leadership in safety 
is the direct result of the concerted effort by all our operations 
to run as safely as possible at all times.

In the pulp business, with our 50.2% ownership of Canfor 
Pulp Limited Partnership (CPLP), we also had to cope with a 
sudden decline in pulp prices late in 2008 and into the first half 
of 2009, resulting in significantly lower cash flow in 2009. With 
CPLP’s focus on improving its already low cost structure, and 
the rapid recovery of pulp prices in the latter part of 2009 and 
into 2010, we look to improved cash flow from this business. 

Before concluding, it is imperative that we make special 
mention of the contribution that our employees have made to 
the success of our company. Employees are the driving force 
of any good organization. Using “Lean Sigma” principles, 
we are capturing their ideas and initiative in our continuous 
improvement program we call the Canfor Operating System. 
This has further engaged our workforce with daily focus on 
safety, efficiency, quality and cost reductions. 

Our employees are all well aware of the challenges this 
downturn has presented to our company and themselves 
as individuals. We want to thank them for their effort, their 
commitment and their spirit throughout these trying times. 

In conclusion, we would like to thank all of our shareholders 
for their continued support during this economic downcycle. We 
have worked hard to earn your confidence in Canfor. We plan 
to exit this downturn a stronger organization and we believe 
Canfor is well positioned to deliver solid results for you. 

Ronald L. Cliff
Chairman of the Board

Jim Shepard
President and Chief Executive Officer

message to sHareHolders
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tHe lumber industry  
will reCover. 

but Canfor Has  
not been waiting  
for reCovery.

we’ve made 
signifiCant CHanges 
and redefined  
How we operate.

now tHe Company  
is better positioned 
for opportunity.



Strategic Production
 Re-opened key mills with new cost-structures
 Expanded production of higher grades
 Geared production to key customers

Lower conversion costs, increased quality and 
efficiency through the utilization of Lean Sigma 
manufacturing principles

Continuing focus on offshore markets 
 Significant growth of shipments to China and Korea
 Increased market share in Japan

Canfor is reducing reliance on natural gas, decreasing 
greenhouse gas emissions, improving air quality and 
reducing costs by installing bark-fired, thermal energy 
systems at our sawmills. The energy systems utilize 
wood residuals from the harvested logs to heat our 
mills and dry our lumber.

Our sustainability report can be found at  
www.canfor.com/sustainability

Aggressive cost-cutting and cash conservation

Ended 2009 with strong balance sheet

Strategic Production – Focus on most efficient and  
low cost operations

Highly qualified workforce who are incented to perform

Enhanced customer satisfaction through high quality 
products delivered on time, on tally, on grade

Realistic approach to markets and the future

Continued focus on safety has resulted in an  
industry-leading safety record

Despite cost-conscious focus, third party surveillance 
audits in 2009 found that Canfor continues to implement 
its Sustainable Forest Management System effectively.

CA NFoR CoRP oR AtIoN A NNUA L ReP oRt 20 09 03

solid foundation

Canfor has been building a solid foundation over the last three 
years of industry upheaval.

building momentum

Our Company has been building momentum by making dramatic 
changes to our business processes over the last three years.
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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) provides 
a review of Canfor Corporation’s (“Canfor” or “the Company”) 
financial performance for the year ended December 31, 2009 
relative to the year ended December 31, 2008, and the financial 
position of the Company. It should be read in conjunction with 
Canfor’s Annual Information Form and its audited consolidated 
financial statements and accompanying notes for the years ended 
December 31, 2009 and 2008. The financial information contained 
in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).

Throughout this discussion, reference is also made to EBITDA 
(calculated as operating income before amortization) which 
Canfor considers to be an important indicator for measuring 
trends in the performance of each of its operating segments 
and the Company’s ability to generate funds to meet its debt 
repayment and capital expenditure requirements. Reference 
is also made to Adjusted Net Income (Loss) (calculated as 
Net Income (Loss) less specific items affecting comparability 
with prior periods – for the full calculation, see reconciliation 
included in the section “Overview of Consolidated Results – 2009 
Compared to 2008”) and Adjusted Net Income (Loss) per Share 
(calculated as Adjusted Net Income (Loss) divided by the weighted 
average number of shares outstanding in the period). EBITDA, 
Adjusted Net Income (Loss) and Adjusted Net Income (Loss) per 
Share are not generally accepted earnings measures and should 
not be considered as an alternative to net income or cash flows 
as determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP. As there is 
no standardized method of calculating these measures, Canfor’s 
EBITDA, Adjusted Net Income (Loss) and Adjusted Net Income 
(Loss) per Share may not be directly comparable with similarly 
titled measures used by other companies. Reconciliations of 
EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income (Loss) to net income (loss) 
reported in accordance with GAAP are included in this MD&A.

Factors that could impact future operations are also 
discussed. These factors may be influenced by known and 
unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause the actual 
results to be materially different from those stated in this 
discussion. Factors that could have a material impact on any 
future oriented statements made herein include, but are not 
limited to: general economic, market and business conditions; 
product selling prices; raw material and operating costs; foreign 
exchange rates; interest rates; changes in law and public policy; 
the outcome of labour and trade disputes; and opportunities 
available to or pursued by Canfor. 

Certain prior period comparative information throughout this 
report has been restated for consistency with the presentation 
in the current period. All financial references are in millions of 
Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. The information in this 
report is as at February 10, 2010.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this MD&A constitute “forward-
looking statements” which involve known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results 
to be materially different from any future results, performance 
or achievements expressed or implied by such statements. 
Words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “projects”, “intends”, 
“plans”, “will”, “believes”, “seeks”, “estimates”, “should”, “may”, 
“could”, and variations of such words and similar expressions 
are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. These 
statements are based on management’s current expectations 
and beliefs and actual events or results may differ materially. 
There are many factors that could cause such actual events or 
results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements 
to differ materially from any future results expressed or implied 
by such statements. Forward-looking statements are based on 
current expectations and the Company assumes no obligation to 
update such information to reflect later events or developments, 
except as required by law.

Canfor is a leading Canadian integrated forest products 
company based in Vancouver, British Columbia, involved 
primarily in the lumber business, with production facilities in 
British Columbia, Alberta, Québec and the United States. Canfor 
also has a 50.2% interest in the pulp and paper business owned 
by Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership (“CPLP”), a 50% interest 
in the oriented strand board (“OSB”) business of Peace Valley 
OSB, a 49.99% interest in the pulp and newsprint business of 
Howe Sound Pulp and Paper Limited Partnership (“HSLP”) and 
owns a bleached chemi-thermo mechanical pulp (“BCTMP”) mill 
(“Taylor Pulp mill”), all of which are located in British Columbia. 

Canfor employs approximately 3,380 persons in its wholly 
owned subsidiaries and 1,770 in jointly owned operations for a 
total of 5,150 employees. 

Company overview

management’s disCussion and analysis
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LUMbeR 

Canfor’s lumber operations have a current annual production 
capacity of approximately 4.9 billion board feet of lumber. The 
majority of lumber produced by Canfor from its facilities is 
construction and specialty grade dimension lumber that ranges 
in size from one by three inches to two by twelve inches and 
in lengths from six to twenty-four feet. A growing portion of 
Canfor’s lumber production is comprised of specialty products 
that command premium prices, including Square Edge lumber 
for the North American market, J-grade lumber for the Japanese 
market, and machine stress rated (“MSR”) lumber used in 
engineered applications such as roof trusses and floor joists.

Canfor’s lumber operations also include two lumber 
remanufacturing facilities, two finger-joint plants, two lumber 
treating plants, a whole-log chipping plant and a trucking 
division. The lumber business segment also includes a 60% 
interest in Houston Pellet Inc., which has an annual capacity of 
150,000 tonnes of wood pellets.

Canfor holds approximately 10.4 million cubic metres of 
annual harvesting rights for its solid wood operations under 
various forest tenures located in the interior region of British 
Columbia and northern Alberta, and harvests logs from those 
tenures to supply its interior lumber operations. Any shortfalls in  
mill requirements are made up with wood purchased from those 
areas. Operations in Québec and North and South Carolina 
mostly purchase logs.

Canfor markets lumber products throughout North America 
and overseas, through its sales offices in Vancouver, Canada, 
Tokyo, Japan and Shanghai, China. In addition to its own 
production, Canfor also markets lumber produced externally 
to complement its product line. While the majority of Canfor’s 
product is sold to markets in the United States, the proportion 
of shipments to offshore markets, particularly China, has risen 
significantly in recent years. The Company ships substantially 
all lumber destined for North America by truck and rail, while 
the vast majority of product sold offshore is transported by 
container ship.

PULP ANd PAPeR

Canfor’s Pulp and Paper segment is comprised of the CPLP  
and Taylor Pulp mill operations, all of which are located in 
British Columbia. CPLP produces northern bleached softwood 
kraft (“NBSK”) pulp and specialty paper. NBSK pulp is primarily 
a bleached product, although unbleached and semi-bleached 
grades are also produced at the Prince George Pulp and  
Paper mill. 

The CPLP pulp mills have the capacity to produce over one 
million tonnes of pulp annually. Over 200,000 tonnes of BCTMP 
per year can be produced at the Taylor Pulp mill. CPLP’s paper 
machine, located at the Prince George Pulp and Paper mill, has 
an annual production capacity, at optimum product mix levels, 
of 140,000 tonnes of kraft paper. 

Canfor supplies CPLP with residual wood chips and hog 
fuel produced at certain of its specified sawmills in the Prince 
George region. Prices paid by CPLP for residual wood chips 
are based on a pricing formula to reflect market prices and 
conditions, with hog fuel (principally bark) purchased by CPLP at 
market prices. CPLP also has fibre supply agreements with third 
parties to supplement its supply of wood chips and hog fuel.

All pulp produced by CPLP and the Taylor Pulp mill is sold by 
CPLP’s sales offices in Vancouver, Canada, Brussels, Belgium, 
and Tokyo, Japan, to customers, primarily in North America, 
Europe and Asia. The significant majority of product sold to 
North America is shipped by rail, while product sold overseas is 
transported by container ship or breakbulk vessel.

otheR oPeRAtIoNS 

The Company’s panel operations have a current annual 
production capacity of approximately 1.7 billion square feet. The 
Company’s only panels facility currently operating is the Peace 
Valley OSB plant in Fort St. John, British Columbia, which is 
jointly owned with Louisiana-Pacific Canada Ltd. The Peace Valley 
OSB mill has an annual capacity of 820 million square feet (3/8” 
basis). OSB production is primarily performance rated sheathing 
and flooring, which is used in wall, roof and flooring construction 
of new homes and in repair and remodeling projects. Canfor 
also owns an OSB plant (“PolarBoard”) and a plywood plant 
(“Tackama”), both of which are located in Fort Nelson, British 
Columbia, and are both currently indefinitely idled. 

HSLP’s operations, which are based in Port Mellon, British 
Columbia, have the capacity to produce up to 400,000 tonnes of 
NBSK pulp and 230,000 tonnes of newsprint per year. The mill 
is jointly owned with Oji Paper Company Ltd. HSLP’s results are 
not reflected in Canfor’s consolidated statements, as Canfor’s 
investment in HSLP has been written off.

bUSINeSS StRAtegy

Canfor’s general business strategy is to be a lumber industry 
leader with strong financial performance, accomplished through:

• Achieving and maintaining a low cost structure 

• Optimizing the extraction of high-margin products  
and value from its available fibre sources

• Attaining world class supply chain performance

• Building strong long-term partnerships with  
valued customers

• Maintaining a strong financial position

• Fully engaging employees and utilizing their experience  
and expertise

• Capitalizing on attractive growth opportunities.

Canfor is focused on being the preferred supplier of lumber 
to the building industry around the world, with a particular 
focus on North America and Asia. The Company is committed 
to being a major supplier to the retail segment of lumber 
consumption and expanding its presence in key offshore 
markets, including China and Japan. This objective includes 
making higher value structural lumber and specialized products 
to cater to specific customer requirements.

CPLP, which on a day-to-day basis operates under a 
separate Board and senior management structure, has the 
following business strategies:

• Preserving its low-cost operating position

• Maintaining the premium quality of its products

• Opportunistically acquiring high quality assets.
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Lumber and panel markets felt the full impact of the severe 
U.S. and global economic downturn in 2009. The U.S. economy 
remained in a deep recession for most of the year as it struggled 
to recover from the upheaval in global credit markets and the 
continuing effects of the sub-prime mortgage crisis. In the first 
part of the year, U.S. housing starts fell even further from the 
historical low levels seen in late 2008 and a sharp falloff in prices 
followed. For Canadian lumber producers, the challenges were 
compounded by the continued strength of the Canadian dollar, the 
15% export tax levy on shipments from Canada to the U.S., and 
the continued need to harvest dead pine timber in parts of the 
B.C. Interior affected by the mountain pine beetle epidemic. 

Pulp markets were also severely impacted by the global 
downturn in the first part of 2009, as evidenced by sharply lower 
demand for printing and writing papers, the largest consuming 
segment of market pulp. However, prices bottomed out in April, 
before moving up steadily over the balance of the year, primarily 
in response to historically-low inventory levels, curtailments in 
world supply and improved demand. 

In the face of substantially lower demand for solid wood 
products, Canfor aggressively curtailed production at its solid 
wood operations, indefinitely idling several more sawmill 
operations and reducing shifts and shortening work weeks at its 
other facilities. At the end of 2009, the Company was operating 
at approximately 55% of its total lumber production capacity 
(approximately 60% over the 2009 year), and at a small fraction 
of its panels capacity. Market related downtime was also taken 
in early 2009 at the CPLP and Taylor Pulp mill operations. 

The depressed market conditions weighed heavily on 
the Company’s 2009 financial results. The Company was, 
however, able to mitigate the full impact of these losses on its 
cash resources through its continued focus on performance 
improvement and cash management. Following on from the 
success of its 2008 “Project Endurance” initiative, the Company 
in early 2009 launched “Project Endurance 2”, a corporate-wide 
initiative aimed at preserving the Company’s strong financial 
position during the severe downturn, through the realization 
of further performance improvements, reductions of working 
capital and non-essential capital spending, and the disposition 
of additional non-core assets. Project Endurance 2 delivered 
substantial cash flow benefits to Canfor in 2009, and was a 
major contributing factor to a decline of 7% in the Company’s 
lumber unit manufacturing costs (compared to 2008), and 
the preservation of the Company’s strong financial position. 
Through its efforts, the Company limited its 2009 EBITDA loss 
to $55 million, ending the year with cash of $133 million and one 
of the strongest balance sheets in the forest products industry. 

A welcome development for Canadian kraft pulp producers 
in the fall of 2009 was the federal government’s announcement 
of a Pulp and Paper Green Transformation Program (the 
“Program”). CPLP was allocated $122.2 million from this 
Program, which is designed as a reimbursement of funds to be 
spent on qualifying energy and environmental capital projects. 
HSLP was allocated $45.5 million under the Program.

A brief review of the more significant developments in  
2009 follows.

2009: FRoM bAd to WoRSe FoR SoLId Wood PRodUCeRS

THE TROUBLED U.S. HOUSING SECTOR

The downturn in the U.S. economy in 2008 intensified in the first 
part of 2009, and took a further toll on the U.S. housing sector. 
Housing starts plunged to new record low levels, with April’s 
housing starts of 479,000 units1 (Seasonally Adjusted Annual 
Rates – “SAAR”) representing the lowest level since records 
began in 1959 and less than half the level of housing starts 
reported only 12 months earlier. The U.S. federal government’s 
$8,000 tax credit for first-time homebuyers, introduced in 
January 2009, contributed to a slight pick up of activity in the 
third quarter of 2009 but this proved to be short-lived and 
housing activity fell off again towards the end of the year. 

U.S. housing starts for 2009 totalled 554,000 units, a 
39% decrease from an already depressed number of 902,000 
starts in 2008. The severity of the current downturn is further 
evidenced by the fact that 2009 starts were some 45% below 
troughs in previous downturns over the last 50 years, as 
highlighted in the following chart.

Inventories of new and used homes available for sale in 
the U.S. market in December of 2009 were 8.1 months2 and 7.2 
months3, respectively, down from 12.9 months and 9.3 months at 
the end of 2008, but still above historical levels. The repair and 
remodeling and Do-It-Yourself sector, however, experienced only 
a minor decline, and did improve as the year progressed. 

Canadian and offshore markets were also significantly 
impacted by the global downturn, particularly in the first half of 
2009. The second half of the year saw more stable conditions, 
but both demand and pricing remained well below historical 
levels. One notable exception was China where demand for 
Canfor product continued to show rapid growth, so much so 
that China shipment volumes outpaced Japan (traditionally the 
Company’s largest offshore market) for the first time in 2009. 

overview of 2009

(1)  U. S .  Bur e au o f  th e C e n s u s
( 2 )  U. S .  Bur e au o f  th e C e n s u s
(3 )  N A R – N at i o n a l  A s s o c ia t i o n o f  Re a l to r s
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PRICES IN U.S. AND CANADIAN DOLLARS HIT NEW  
RECORD-LOWS

Reflecting the continuing collapse of demand for lumber 
products into 2009, Western Spruce/Pine/Fir (“SPF”) 2x4 
#2&Btr prices fell to their lowest levels in decades. At one 
point in the first quarter, prices dipped as low as US$134 
per thousand board feet4 (“Mfbm”). Many lumber producers, 
including Canfor, responded by taking significant market 
downtime, and the contraction in supply resulted in prices 
edging upwards over subsequent quarters. Nonetheless, 
Western SPF 2x4 #2&Btr prices in 2009 still averaged only 
US$182 per Mfbm, some US$40 per Mfbm, or 18%, below 
2008 levels. Sales of wide-dimension lumber (width greater 
than 6 inches) were similarly impacted by the slump in market 
demand, but in the second half of 2009 prices received a 
welcome uplift, mostly as a result of low product availability. 
Prices of Southern Yellow Pine (“SYP”) 2x4 #2 East in 2009 fell 
17% from the previous year, again reflecting very weak demand. 
Wider SYP product also experienced significant price declines. 

The following chart highlights the trend in U.S. housing 
starts and monthly average Western SPF 2x4 #2&Btr 
benchmark lumber prices in 2008 and 2009.

The majority of Canfor’s sales are denominated in US 
dollars, and therefore Canfor’s results are considerably 
impacted by exchange rate movements, with a strong Canadian 
dollar resulting in lower revenues. Currency markets were 
volatile for much of 2009. In the first quarter of 2009 the 
Canadian dollar fell to a low for the year of $0.7695 against the 
US dollar reflecting the worsening global economic climate, but 
then staged a strong recovery over the balance of the year, to 
end 2009 at $0.956, 14 cents or 17% higher than a year earlier. 
Over the 2009 year, the Canadian dollar averaged $0.876 versus 
its U.S. counterpart, down 6 cents, or 7%, compared to 2008.

The following chart highlights the trend in monthly  
average benchmark Western SPF 2x4 2&Btr lumber prices 
in US and Canadian dollars (with the Canadian dollar prices 
representing the US dollar price multiplied by the monthly 
average exchange rate).

CONTINUED PAYMENT OF ExPORT TAx 

Under the Softwood Lumber Agreement (“SLA”) implemented 
by the federal governments of Canada and the U.S. in 2006, 
Canadian softwood lumber exporters pay an export tax on 
lumber shipped to the U.S. when the price of lumber is at or 
below US$355 per Mfbm, as determined by the Random Lengths 
Framing Lumber Composite Price (“RLCP”). The export tax 
rate is determined monthly, with the rate being based on the 
following trigger prices: 

Tr i g g e r R L C P P r ice  Tax Rate

Over US$355    0 %
US$336-$355    5 %
US$316-$335    10 %
US$315 and under    15 %

The SLA also includes a “Surge Mechanism”, which 
increases the export tax rate for the month by 50% when the 
monthly volume of exports from a region exceeds a “Trigger 
Volume” as defined in the SLA. 

Except for a Third Country Adjustment export tax refund 
for the last quarter of 2007 and first quarter of 2008, Canfor’s 
lumber exports from British Columbia to the U.S. have been 
subject to the highest export tax bracket of 15% since the SLA 
came into effect in October of 2006. The export tax on lumber 
shipments from Alberta to the U.S. varied between 15% and 
22.5% (the surge tax rate) over the same period. 

In 2009, the RLCP averaged US$222 per Mfbm, some 30% 
below the lowest trigger price threshold, and the Company  
paid export taxes of approximately $49 million (before taking 
account of the receipt in January 2009 of the aforementioned 
Third Country Adjustment refund of $11 million). The total 
export tax paid since the implementation of the SLA is 
approximately $237 million.

(4 )  R a n d o m L e n g th s P ub l i c a t i o n s ,  In c .
(5 )  B a n k o f  C a n a d a

U.S. Housing Starts SAAR (thousand units) Western SPF #2&Btr (US$/Mfbm)
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FoCUS oN oPeRAtIoNAL IMPRoveMeNt ANd CASh 
CoNSeRvAtIoN CoNtINUeS

The Company followed up on its strong operational performance 
in 2008, with another solid year of cost management in 2009. 
Despite significant additional lumber curtailments in 2009, the 
Company achieved a decrease in its lumber unit manufacturing 
costs compared to 2008. The savings came primarily from 
various Project Endurance 2 cost reduction initiatives, as well 
as lower diesel and natural gas costs and reduced market 
stumpage and purchased wood costs resulting from lower 
average lumber market prices. As highlighted earlier, the 
Company indefinitely idled the PolarBoard and Tackama plants 
through 2009 in order to mitigate losses in its panels business. 
Recognizing the severity of the downturn, salary incentive plans 
were suspended and salary roll-backs remained in place. 

A strong cost performance was also achieved in the pulp 
and paper business segment, with unit manufacturing costs 
declining 10% compared to 2008, primarily as a result of 
a combination of cost reduction initiatives and lower fibre, 
chemical, energy and overhead costs. 

Working capital and capital spending continued to be 
closely managed in 2009. Capital spending was restricted to 
essential maintenance-of-business expenditures and selected 
high-return projects. The latter included the completion of 
the Fort St. John sawmill energy system, several key capital 
upgrades at the Company’s New South sawmill operations and 
the commencement of a new energy system at the Mackenzie 
sawmill. In 2009, CPLP also made a payment of $4.3 million 
to BC Hydro in September to reduce its obligation for power 
production from a cogeneration project at its Prince George 
Pulp and Paper mill. The Company’s focus on its supply chain 
management also resulted in a significant reduction in log, 
in-process and finished lumber inventory volumes by year end. 

Cash flow in 2009 was boosted by sales of non-core assets 
and insurance claim proceeds, which in total generated cash of 
approximately $84 million in the year, as follows: 

• In February, the Company completed the sale of its former 
Panel and Fibre operation located in New Westminster, 
British Columbia, for net proceeds of $46 million. 

• In April, the Company reached a final settlement of its 
North Central Plywoods (“NCP”) mill fire claim for net 
proceeds of $63 million, $33 million of which was received 
from its insurers in 2009. Significantly, no conditions were 
attached to the use of the proceeds under the terms of the 
settlement. The NCP mill was permanently closed following 
the fire which destroyed the facility.

• In November, the Company completed the sale of surplus 
property in Vancouver for net proceeds of approximately  
$5 million. 
As a result, the Company was able to end the year in 

a strong financial position, despite the depressed market 
conditions, with cash on hand of $133 million, undrawn available 
operating lines of credit of $426 million, and a consolidated net 
debt to total capitalization ratio of 14.5%.

A summary of those lumber and panel operations indefinitely idled for part or all of 2009, and the corresponding reduction in 
production (based on annual capacity), is presented below: 
    Production
   Date idled capacity

Lumber Mills    (MMfbm)
Chetwynd (scheduled to restart in spring of 2010) March 2008 220
Mackenzie (restarted in July 2009) June 2008 305
Radium  July 2009 185
Rustad  July 2009 390
Vavenby July 2009 235
 1,335

Panels operations (MMsf 3/8” basis)
PolarBoard (OSB) June 2008 640
Tackama (Plywood) October 2008 270
 910

CANFoR AdJUStS PRodUCtIoN to MAtCh WeAkeR 
PRodUCt deMANd

In response to the challenges besetting the U.S. housing 
market, Canfor curtailed an additional 720 million board feet 
of lumber production in 2009, indefinitely idling its Radium, 
Rustad and Vavenby sawmill operations in the B.C. Interior 
midway through the year, and taking other downtime in the form 
of reduced shifts, shortened workweeks, and summer vacation 
and Christmas shuts at its other operations. In mid-January 
2010, the Company also curtailed its Quesnel sawmill as a 
result of weak market demand and the current economics of 
running that operation. 

As a result of the cooperation of its employees and other 
stakeholders, the Company both restarted its Mackenzie 
sawmill operation on a single shift in July 2009, after a 13-month 
curtailment, and in December 2009 announced the restart of 
operations at its Chetwynd sawmill in the spring of 2010. The 
Chetwynd operation has been indefinitely idled since March 2008. 

The Company operated at approximately 60% of lumber 
capacity for the year, which equates to approximately 3 billion 
feet of lumber production.

The majority of the Company’s panels operations continued 
to be idled through 2009; no plywood was produced in the year 
and the only OSB plant that operated was the jointly owned 
Peace Valley (“PV”) OSB mill, which itself took significant 
market downtime in the first half of the year.
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SeLeCted FINANCIAL INFoRMAtIoN ANd StAtIStICS:
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t f o r p e r s h a r e a m o unt s)  2009 2008

Sales $ 2,120.4 $ 2,611.6
EBITDA $ (55.1) $ 13.1
Operating loss  $ (210.4) $ (158.1)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on long-term debt and investments, net $ 50.4 $ (100.3)
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments6 $ 24.4 $ (88.5)
Gain on sale of mill property $ 44.6 $ –
North Central Plywoods mill fire, net $ (3.0) $ 57.9
Prince George Pulp & Paper mill fire, net $ – $ 8.2
Asset impairments $ – $ (169.6)
Net loss  $ (70.5) $ (345.2)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.50) $  (2.42)
Average exchange rate (US$/CDN$)7 $ 0.876 $  0.938
U.S. housing starts (million units SAAR)8   0.554   0.902

(6)  In c l u d e s g a in s ( l o s s e s)  f r o m n at ur a l  g a s ,  d i e s e l ,  f o r e i gn e xc h a n g e a n d l um b e r p r ice d e r i v a t i v e s (s e e “ Un a l l o c ate d a n d O th e r I te m s” s e c t i o n f o r m o r e d et a i l s ) . 
(7 )  S o ur ce – B a n k o f  C a n a d a (a v e r a g e n o o n r a te f o r th e p e r i o d)
(8 )  S o ur ce – U. S .  C e n s u s Bur e a u ,  s e a s o n a l l y  a d ju s te d a n n u al  r a te ( “ S A A R ”)

ANALySIS oF SPeCIFIC IteMS AFFeCtINg CoMPARAbILIty oF Net LoSS
A f te r - t a x im p a c t ,  n e t  o f  n o n - co ntr o l l in g in te r e s t s 

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t f o r p e r s h a r e a m o unt s)  2009 2008

Net loss, as reported $ (70.5) $ (345.2)
Restructuring, mill closure and severance costs $ 22.4 $ 35.3
Foreign exchange loss (gain) on long-term debt and investments, net $ (36.0) $ 72.2
Loss (gain) loss on derivative financial instruments $ (19.0) $ 54.5
Gain on sale of mill property $ (37.8) $ –
North Central Plywoods mill fire, net $ 2.0 $ (45.0)
Prince George Pulp & Paper mill fire, net $ – $ (3.4)
Asset impairments $ – $ 131.0
Corporate income tax rate reductions $ (7.3) $ (9.1)
Net impact of above items $ (75.7) $ 235.5
Adjusted net loss $ (146.2) $ (109.7)

Net loss per share, as reported $ (0.50) $ (2.42)
Net impact of above items per share $ (0.53) $ 1.65
Adjusted net loss per share $ (1.03) $ (0.77)

overview of Consolidated results – 2009 Compared to 2008

gRoWth oF CANFoR’S bUSINeSS IN ChINA

In 2009, China increased its reliance on Western Canadian  
SPF lumber due to economic, environmental and supply 
concerns related to timber sourced from Russia (traditionally 
a major supplier to China) and increasing acceptance of SPF 
products in general.

In addition to the above factors, significant progress was 
made by Canadian federal and provincial governments and the 
forest industry in the development of wood frame construction 
in China. China continues to focus its attention on reduced 
energy usage, particularly carbon reduction initiatives, and 
potential purchasers are starting to better understand the 
advantages of the environmental and seismic performance of 
wood frame construction.

Canfor’s product mix sold into China has been mostly 
focused on lower grade lumber, but the proportion of SPF #2 
increased significantly during 2009. The two major reasons 
were the increased use of lumber in housing construction, 
where higher grades are required, and better product yields 
realized by Chinese remanufacturers when converting the SPF 
#2 raw material into finished products. Although the Company’s 
sales volumes to China do not represent a large percentage 
of the Company’s overall business, nevertheless shipments to 
China in 2009 were almost double that of 2008.

gReeN tRANSFoRMAtIoN PRogRAM 

The Canadian federal government’s announcement in October 
2009 of the allocation of credits from a Pulp and Paper Green 
Transformation Program (the “Program”) was a welcome 
development for Canadian kraft pulp producers. The Program is 
designed as a reimbursement of funds to be spent on qualifying 
energy and environmental capital projects up until March 2012. 
CPLP was allocated $122.2 million from this Program and 
has identified and will be submitting a number of projects for 
Program approval, which are expected to provide economic 
and environmental benefits to CPLP’s operations. HSLP was 
allocated $45.5 million under the Program.
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The Company recorded a net loss of $70.5 million ($0.50 per 
share) for the year ended December 31, 2009, which was $274.7 
million ($1.92 per share) less than the net loss of $345.2 million 
($2.42 per share) reported for the year ended December 31, 2008.

After adjusting for significant items affecting comparability 
with prior periods, the Company’s adjusted net loss for 2009 
was $146.2 million ($1.03 per share), compared to a similarly 
adjusted net loss of $109.7 million ($0.77 per share) for 2008.

The Company recorded an operating loss of $210.4 million 
in 2009, a $52.3 million higher loss than 2008. Reported EBITDA 
was negative $55.1 million, an adverse movement of $68.2 
million compared to EBITDA of $13.1 million for the previous year. 
For the most part, the adverse variances reflected significantly 
reduced operating income for the pulp and paper business and, to 
a lesser extent, higher losses in the lumber business. 

For the lumber business, the impact of lower lumber and 
residual chip prices in 2009 more than offset further operational 
cost improvements achieved, lower market stumpage rates 
(related to lower Canadian lumber prices) and lower natural gas 
and diesel prices. The 2008 year also included a Third Country 
Adjustment export tax refund of $10.8 million. Losses from the 
Company’s plywood and OSB operations were down in 2009, for 
the most part reflecting one-time costs in 2008 related to the 
indefinite idling of Tackama and PolarBoard, and the permanent 
closure of the Company’s NCP plywood mill in 2008, as well as 
mitigating losses by not operating the Tackama and PolarBoard 
mills through all of 2009. Corporate costs continued to trend 
downwards in 2009. 

The significantly lower pulp and paper earnings in 2009 
reflected the effects of very weak demand and depressed US 
dollar prices in the first part of the year. These were offset in 
part by lower unit manufacturing costs, higher market pulp 
shipments and the lower average value of the Canadian dollar. 
Lower unit manufacturing costs were primarily attributable 
to cost reduction initiatives, lower fibre, chemical and energy 
prices and the impact of fewer scheduled maintenance  
outages. The higher market pulp shipments primarily related  
to increased non-contractual sales volumes.

For solid wood products, inventory write-down adjustments 
were again recorded by the Company in 2009. Differences in 
inventory write-down adjustments recorded at the end of 2009 
and 2008 positively impacted 2009 operating income by $21.2 
million, and reflected a combination of lower inventory volumes, 
reduced costs and higher prices at the end of 2009 compared 
to 2008. In 2008, operating income was also positively impacted 
by write-down movements of $28.4 million, which for the 
most part reflected significantly lower costs and log inventory 
volumes at the end of 2008 versus 2007, which more than offset 
the negative impact of weaker prices over the same period. 

Reflecting the Canadian dollar’s increase of 14 cents, 
or 17%, compared to the US dollar from a year earlier, the 
Company in 2009 recorded a foreign exchange translation gain 
on its US dollar denominated debt less investments of $50.4 
million (2008 - loss of $100.3 million). With the Canadian dollar 
gaining ground against its U.S. counterpart through most of 
2009, the Company recorded a gain of $36.0 million on its foreign 
exchange collars and forward contracts in 2009 (2008 – loss of 
$86.1 million), which was partly offset by losses on natural gas 
swaps. The net gain on derivative financial instruments was 
$24.4 million for 2009 (2008 - loss of $88.5 million). 

In February of 2009 the Company completed the sale of 
the site of its former Panel and Fibre operation located in 
New Westminster, British Columbia, for net proceeds of $46.0 
million. The Company also reached a final settlement of its  
NCP mill fire claim in April of 2009 for net proceeds of $63.3 
million, $33.3 million of which was received from its insurers 
in 2009 (the other $30 million cash was received in 2008). No 
conditions were attached to the use of the proceeds under the 
terms of the settlement.

A more detailed review of the Company’s operational 
performance and results is provided in “Operating Results by 
Business Segment – 2009 compared to 2008”, which follows this 
overview of consolidated results.

ebItdA 

The following table reconciles the Company’s net loss, as reported in accordance with GAAP, to EBITDA: 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Net loss, as reported $ (70.5) $ (345.2)
Add (subtract):    
 Amortization $ 155.3 $ 171.2
 Interest expense, net $ 29.3 $ 25.4
 Foreign exchange loss (gain) on long-term debt and investments, net $ (50.4) $ 100.3
 Loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments $ (24.4) $ 88.5
 Gain on sale of mill property $ (44.6) $ –
 North Central Plywoods mill fire, net $ 3.0 $ (57.9)
 Prince George Pulp & Paper mill fire, net $ – $ (8.2)
 Asset impairments $ – $ 169.6
 Other (income) expense $ 11.4 $ (12.7)
 Income tax recovery $ (71.9) $ (141.9)
 Non-controlling interests $ 7.7 $ 24.0

ebItdA, as reported $ (55.1) $ 13.1
Restructuring, mill closure and severance costs $ 29.9 $ 53.5
Negative (positive) impact of inventory write-downs9 $ (21.2) $ (28.4)
ebItdA excluding impact of inventory write-downs and restructuring $ (46.4) $ 38.2

(9)  In a cco r d a n ce w i th C a n a d ia n G A A P, C a nf o r r e co r d s i t s  l o g a n d f in i s h e d p r o d u c t in v e nto r i e s a t  th e l o w e r o f  co s t  a n d n et  r e a l i z a b l e v a l u e ( “NR V ”) .  S i gn i f i c a nt m o v e m e nt s in 
in v e nto r y v o l um e s c a n o cc ur e a c h y e a r d u e to m a r ket co n d i t i o n s .  W h e r e NR V i s  b e l o w co s t  th i s c a n r e s u l t  in s w in g s in in v e nto r y w r i te - d o w n a m o unt s r e co r d e d e a c h y e a r. 
In a d d i t i o n to in v e nto r y v o l um e s ,  th e l e v e l  o f  in v e nto r y w r i te - d o w n s r e co r d e d r e f l e c t s c h a n g e s in m a r ket p r ice s ,  f o r e i gn e xc h a n g e r a te s ,  a n d co s t s o v e r th e r e s p e c t i v e 
r e p o r t in g p e r i o d s .
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oveRvIeW 

The Lumber segment reported negative EBITDA of $81.4 million 
for 2009, an adverse movement of $25.9 million compared to 
negative EBITDA of $55.5 million reported for 2008. EBITDA 
excluding the impact of inventory write-downs and restructuring 
was down by the same amount from the prior year. Additional 
market-related curtailment taken in 2009 was approximately 720 
million board feet, or 15% of production capacity.

The decline in EBITDA reflected the weaker market 
conditions in 2009, with lumber sales prices in Canadian dollars 
and residual chip prices well down from 2008 levels. The 
Third Country Adjustment export tax refund of $10.8 million 
recorded in late 2008 also contributed to the adverse variance. 
Partly offsetting these factors were lower unit manufacturing 
costs, reflecting improved operational performance and cost 
reductions as well as lower energy costs and losses mitigated 
through curtailment. Restructuring costs for 2009 were $2.2 
million higher at $20.9 million, for the most part reflecting costs 
related to the indefinite idling of three B.C. Interior sawmill 
operations midway through the year.

MARketS

Canfor’s total lumber sales volume for 2009 was approximately 
3.4 billion board feet, down 15% from 2008, with SPF and SYP 
making up 91% and 9% of total sales, respectively.

In 2009, sales to the U.S. accounted for 69% of total sales 
revenue, down 3% from 2008, as the Company increased its 
proportion of sales to Canada and Asia. A breakdown of lumber 
sales by country for 2009 and 2008 follows.

Lumber Sales by Country/Region (based on dollar values): 

 2009 2008

U.S.  69%  72%
Canada  16%  16%
Asia  14%  11%
Other  1%  1%
  100%  100%

Total U.S. housing starts for 2009 were the lowest on record 
at 554,000 units13, a 39% decline from 2008. Single family starts 
declined by 29% from the previous year to 444,000 units13. In 
the second half of 2009, existing home sales increased and 
inventories declined, assisted by the U.S. Federal government’s 
housing stimulus package that was implemented during the year. 
The stimulus package also resulted in a marginal increase in 
U.S. housing starts during the second half of the year. New and 
existing home inventories fell from over 12 months supply early 
in the year to 8.1 months13 and 7.2 months14 respectively by year 
end, in part explained by falling prices and the stimulus package. 

In comparison, the repair and renovation sector experienced 
a more modest decline, with sales activity picking up as the year 
progressed. Lumber sales volumes for the sector were only 3% 
below the previous year. 

Total Canadian housing starts were 149,000 units15 in 2009, 
a decrease of 30% from 2008 starts of 211,000 units. However, 
Canadian housing starts trended higher in the latter part of 2009, 
after a significant decline for the first seven months of the year. 

LUMbeR

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND STATISTICS – LUMBER

Summarized results for the Lumber segment for 2009 and 2008 are as follows:
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  un l e s s o th e r w i s e n ote d)  2009 2008

Sales $ 1,162.9 $ 1,490.5
Operating income (loss) $ (171.4) $ (155.0)
EBITDA, as reported $ (81.4) $ (55.5)
Restructuring, mill closure and severance costs $ 20.9 $ 18.7
Negative (positive) impact of inventory write-downs $ (16.2) $ (13.9)
EBITDA excluding impact of inventory write-downs and restructuring $ (76.7) $ (50.7)
Capital expenditures $ 39.1 $ 39.5
Average SPF 2x4 #2 & Btr lumber price in US$10 $ 182 $ 222
Average SPF price in Cdn$ $ 208 $ 237
Average SYP 2x4 #2 lumber price in US$11 $ 233 $ 281
Average SYP price in Cdn$ $ 266 $ 300
Production – SPF lumber (MMfbm)  2,766.8  3,299.4
Production – SYP lumber (MMfbm)  267.5  388.6
Shipments – Canfor-produced SPF lumber (MMfbm)12  2,914.2  3,388.2
Shipments – Canfor-produced SYP lumber (MMfbm)12  317.6  432.7
Shipments – wholesale lumber (MMfbm)  165.8  171.0

(10)  We s te r n S p r u ce / P in e / F i r,  p e r th o u s a n d b o a r d f e e t  (S o ur ce – R a n d o m L e n g th s P ub l i c a t i o n s ,  In c . )
(11)  S o u th e r n Ye l l o w P in e ,  E a s t s i d e ,  p e r th o u s a n d b o a r d f e e t  (S o ur ce – R a n d o m L e n g th s P ub l i c a t i o n s ,  In c . )
(12 )  In c l u d e s s h ip m e nt s o f  l um b e r p ur c h a s e d f o r r e m a n u f a c t ur e .

operating results by business segment – 2009 Compared to 2008

The following discussion of Canfor’s operating results relates 
to the operating segments and the non-segmented items as per 
the Segmented Information note in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements. 

Canfor’s operations include the Lumber and Pulp and  
Paper segments. Effective January 1, 2009 the Company’s 

panels business is no longer reported separately as an 
operating segment. With the exception of the Peace Valley  
OSB Limited Partnership, of which the Company owns a 50% 
share, all panel operations are currently indefinitely idled. 
The results of the panels business are now included in the 
Unallocated & Other segment.

(13)  U. S .  Bur e a u o f  th e C e n s u s 
(14 )  N A R – N at i o n a l  A s s o c ia t i o n o f  Re a l to r s
(15 )  C MH C – C a n a d a M o r tg a g e a n d H o u s in g C o r p o r at i o n
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oveRvIeW

EBITDA generated by the Pulp and Paper segment for 2009 was 
$55.9 million, down $69.7 million from 2008, due principally to 
weaker realized prices in Canadian dollar terms for NBSK pulp 
and BCTMP over the year. The lower sales realizations reflected 
a sharp drop in US dollar list prices in the first part of the year 
and a higher percentage of sales into lower margin business. 
Lower fibre, chemical and natural gas costs along with various 
cost reductions and fewer scheduled maintenance outages 
partly offset the impact of the weaker sales realizations.

MARketS 

A significant number of pulp mills were idled during 2009, either 
indefinitely or permanently, which kept supply constrained, 
resulting in significant reductions in producer inventory stocks. 
After a very challenging first quarter, pulp consumption steadily 
improved through the balance of the year. 

The steady improvement in consumption and continued 
reduction of supply resulted in lower pulp inventories. At the 
end of December 2009, World 20 producers20 of bleached 
softwood pulp inventories stood at 23 days of supply, in stark 
contrast to 40 days of supply at the end of 2008. Market 
conditions are considered balanced when inventories fall in the 
27 to 30 days of supply range.

(16)  R a n d o m L e n g th s P ub l i c a t i o n s ,  In c .
( 2 0 )  Wo r l d 2 0 d a t a i s  b a s e d o n t w e nt y p r o d u c in g co untr i e s r e p r e s e nt in g 8 0 % o f 

w o r l d c h e m ic a l  m a r ket p u l p c a p a c i t y  a n d i s  b a s e d o n in f o r m at i o n co m p i l e d a n d 
p r e p a r e d b y th e P ul p a n d P a p e r P r o d u c t s C o un c i l  ( “P P P C ”) .

Offshore lumber demand increased significantly in 2009, 
with shipment volumes as a percentage of total sales increasing 
from 9% in 2008 to 15% in 2009. This was mostly attributable 
to shipments to China, where higher demand for more 
construction grade lumber (partly in response to the Sichuan 
earthquake in 2008) led to a doubling of shipments from 2008. 
Shipments to Japan in 2009 reflected a 15% decrease in 2x4 
housing starts. 

SALeS

Canfor’s lumber sales revenues of $1,163 million for 2009 were 
down $328 million, or 22%, compared to 2008, reflecting the 15% 
decline in shipments and price erosion across all grades in 2009. 
Shipments in 2009 were approximately 600 million board feet 
down from 2008, as the Company continued to respond to weaker 
demand by taking more production curtailment. The Western SPF 
lumber 2x4 #2&Btr Random Lengths price averaged US$155 per 
Mfbm16 in the first quarter of 2009 before gradually improving to 
US$205 per Mfbm in the fourth quarter. For 2009, the average 
price was US$182 per Mfbm, an 18% decrease from the previous 
year. Similarly, SYP 2x4 #2 Random Lengths prices fell by 17% 
against last year, averaging US$233 per Mfbm. 

Prices for wider SPF and SYP dimensions were also down 
compared to 2008, though in most cases the drop was less 
severe than for 2x4 products. The 7% decrease in the average 
value of the Canadian dollar versus the US dollar for 2009 
compared to 2008 helped to offset some of the price erosion for 
SPF producers.

Total residual fibre revenue for 2009 was well down from 
2008 levels, reflecting significantly lower sawmill operating 
rates and residual chip prices, the latter resulting from lower 
average NBSK pulp prices.

oPeRAtIoNS 

Lumber production for 2009 was 3,034 million board feet, 654 
million board feet, or 18%, lower than for 2008. The lower 
production mostly reflected the indefinite idling of the Rustad, 
Radium and Vavenby sawmills midway through the year, and 
reduced shifts, shortened work weeks and vacation shuts at the 
Company’s other operations. The Chetwynd sawmill remained 
closed through 2009, while the Mackenzie mill recommenced 
operations in July of 2009 on a single shift basis. 

Despite the challenges presented by additional 
curtailments, the Company continued to make headway in 
reducing costs in 2009. Total unit manufacturing costs were 
down 7% compared to the prior year, the major contributing 
factors being operating and overhead cost reductions, lower 
market stumpage and purchased wood costs (related to lower 
lumber market prices), weaker energy prices and sawmill and 
planer productivity gains. 

The Company’s export tax expense in 2009 was $48.7 million 
(2008 - $55.1 million), substantially reflecting a 15% export 
tax on shipments to the U.S. from the Company’s B.C. Interior 
operations through 2009. Lower market prices and fewer 
shipments to U.S. destinations in 2009 outweighed the impact of 
the Third Country Adjustment refund of $10.8 million recorded 
in late 2008.

The contract between the Company’s B.C. Interior 
manufacturing operations and the United Steelworkers Union 
(“USW”) expired on July 1, 2009. The Company is currently in 
negotiations with the USW regarding a new labour agreement. 

PULP ANd PAPeR

Selected Financial Information and Statistics – Pulp and Paper17

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  un l e s s o th e r w i s e n ote d)  2009 2008

Sales $ 918.2 $ 950.8
Operating income  $ 5.4 $ 76.8
EBITDA $ 55.9 $ 125.6
Capital expenditures $ 17.9 $ 39.9
Average pulp price delivered to U.S. - in US$18 $ 718 $ 857
Average pulp price in Cdn$ $ 820 $ 914
Production – pulp (000 mt)  1,192.0  1,124.6
Production – paper (000 mt)  131.1  132.6
Shipments – Canfor-produced pulp (000 mt)  1,243.5  1,088.0
 Pulp marketed on behalf of HSLP (000 mt)19  322.9  313.1
Shipments – paper (000 mt)  135.0  124.8

(17 )  In c l u d e s Ta y l o r P u l p m i l l  a n d 10 0 % o f  C P L P, w h ic h i s  co n s o l i d a te d in C a nf o r ’s o p e r at in g r e s u l t s .  P u l p p r o d u c t i o n a n d s h ip m e nt v o l um e s p r e s e nte d a r e f o r b o th NB S K p u l p 
a n d B C T MP.

(18 )  P e r to n n e ,  NB S K p u l p l i s t  p r ice d e l i v e r e d to U. S .  (Re s o ur ce In f o r m at i o n S y s te m s , In c .  -  “R I S I ” )
(19)  H o w e S o un d P ul p a n d P a p e r L im i te d P a r tn e r s h ip P u l p m i l l
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The following chart highlights the significant downward 
trend in US and Canadian dollar NBSK pulp list price delivered 
to the U.S. in the second half of 2008 and early 2009, followed 
by the steady improvement thereafter (with the Canadian 
dollar prices representing the US dollar price multiplied by the 
monthly average exchange rate). 

S o ur ce:  R I S I

SALeS 

Shipments of Canfor-produced pulp were up 14% compared 
to the prior year, with the increase attributable mostly to 
higher production levels at CPLP resulting primarily from 
fewer scheduled maintenance outages and the impact of the 
Prince George Pulp and Paper mill fire in 2008. The additional 
production volume in 2009 was largely absorbed by higher sales 
of lower margin business, including non-contract business. 

Compared to the previous year, average NBSK pulp list prices 
were down US$139 per tonne, or 16%, though this was offset 
partially by a weaker average Canadian dollar in 2009. Realized 
pulp prices in Canadian dollar terms for NBSK pulp were 14% 
lower than 2008, with the weaker Canadian dollar and lower 
freight costs only partly offsetting the lower list prices and 
the lower value sales mix. BCTMP prices were down almost 
20% from the prior year in US dollar terms, but saw similar 
increases to NBSK pulp list prices in the second half of the year. 
Paper shipments were also up compared to 2008, though prices 
were down 13% in Canadian dollar terms. 

Price increases were implemented by pulp producers in the 
last three quarters of 2009. NBSK pulp price increases from the 
bottom of the market in April 2009 totalled US$195 per tonne or 
30%, bringing December list prices before discounts in the U.S. 
and Northern Europe markets to US$830 and US$800 per tonne21 
respectively, and China, with no discounts, to US$710 per tonne.

oPeRAtIoNS

Pulp production volume was 1,192,000 tonnes for 2009, up 67,000 
tonnes compared to the prior year. As highlighted earlier, this was 
principally the result of fewer scheduled maintenance outages 
and the impact of the fire at the Prince George Pulp and Paper 
mill in 2008. Unit manufacturing costs fell by over 10% when 
compared to 2008, with lower fibre, chemical and energy costs, 
the impact of fewer scheduled maintenance outages, higher 
production volumes and cost reduction initiatives all contributing 
to the improvement. The decrease in fibre costs reflected lower 
prices for residual chips and whole log chips, partially offset by an 
increase in volume of higher cost whole log chips. 

UNALLoCAted ANd otheR IteMS
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Operating loss of Panels operations $ (23.0) $ (56.9)
Corporate and other costs $ (21.4) $ (23.0)
Interest expense, net $ (29.3) $ (25.4)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on long-term debt and investments, net $ 50.4 $ (100.3)
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments $ 24.4 $ (88.5)
Gain on sale of mill property $ 44.6 $ –
North Central Plywoods mill fire, net $ (3.0) $ 57.9
Prince George Pulp & Paper mill fire, net $ – $ 8.2
Asset impairments  $ – $ (169.6)
Other income (expense), net $ (11.4) $ 12.7

OPERATING LOSS OF PANELS OPERATIONS

Results of the Panels operations in 2009 reflected the continued 
challenging market conditions and ongoing costs associated 
with the indefinite idling of the Company’s Tackama and 
PolarBoard plants. The operating loss of $23.0 million for 2009 
was down $33.9 million from 2008, principally due to one-time 
costs in 2008 related to the indefinite idling of Tackama (October 
2008) and PolarBoard (June 2008) and the permanent closure 
of the NCP mill (June 2008). In 2009, the Company continued to 
mitigate losses by idling Tackama and PolarBoard for the whole 
year. At the PV OSB operation, the lower average Canadian 
dollar and lower input costs offset the impact of weaker market 
prices in 2009.

CORPORATE AND OTHER COSTS

Corporate and other costs, which comprise corporate, head 
office and certain information technology costs, decreased by 
$1.6 million in 2009 compared to 2008. This was due primarily to 
various cost reduction initiatives and the elimination of Canfor’s 
short-term incentive compensation in 2009, which more than 
offset higher salary based compensation due to an increase 
in the Company’s share price, and higher severance costs and 
amortization costs in 2009. 

( 21)  R I S I
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INTEREST INCOME AND ExPENSE

Net interest expense for 2009 increased $3.9 million from 2008 
to $29.3 million, with lower interest expense resulting from the 
repayment of long-term debt of $175.5 million more than offset 
by a reduction in interest income, for the most part reflecting 
reduced cash balances and lower interest rates on short-term 
investments. The expense for 2009 also included fees related to 
CPLP’s new credit facilities. 

FOREIGN ExCHANGE GAIN (LOSS) ON TRANSLATION OF LONG-
TERM DEBT AND INVESTMENTS

At the end of 2009, the Canadian dollar was up 14 cents, or 
17%, versus the US dollar from a year earlier. As a result, the 
Company recorded a foreign exchange translation gain on its  
US dollar denominated debt less investments of $50.4 million 
(2008 - loss of $100.3 million). 

GAIN (LOSS) ON DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company uses a variety of derivative financial instruments 
as partial economic hedges against unfavourable changes in 
natural gas and diesel costs, foreign exchange rates and lumber 
prices. In 2009, the Company recorded a net gain of $24.4 
million related to its derivative instruments (2008 – loss of 
$88.5 million). With the Canadian dollar gaining ground against 
its U.S. counterpart for most of 2009, the Company recorded a 
gain of $36.0 million on its foreign exchange collars and forward 
contracts in 2009 (2008 – loss of $86.1 million), which was offset 
partly by losses incurred on natural gas swaps.

The following table summarizes the amounts of the various 
components for the comparable periods.

Gain (Loss) on Derivative Financial Instruments: 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) 2009 2008

Foreign exchange collars and  
forward contracts $ 36.0 $ (86.1)
Natural gas swaps  (16.0)  1.0
Diesel options and swaps  1.6  (3.4)
Lumber futures  2.8  –
 $ 24.4 $ (88.5)

ASSET IMPAIRMENTS 

In the 2008 year, Canfor recorded asset impairments totalling 
$169.6 million. These related principally to certain of the 
Company’s panels capital assets, and assets related to Howe 
Sound Pulp and Paper Limited Partnership and Coastal Fibre 
Limited Partnership. Impairments were also recorded in 
relation to the Company’s investment in non-bank asset-backed 
commercial paper (“ABCP”), as well as other investments 
and spare parts inventory balances. (See “Critical Accounting 
Estimates: Asset Impairments” for more details.)

SALE OF PANEL AND FIBRE MILL PROPERTY

In February 2009, the Company completed the sale of a property 
located in New Westminster, British Columbia, for net proceeds 
of $46.0 million. The property was the site of the Company’s 
former Panel and Fibre operation, which was permanently 
closed at the beginning of 2008. The sale transaction resulted in 
a pre-tax gain of $44.6 million. 

SETTLEMENT OF NCP MILL FIRE CLAIM

In April 2009, the Company and its insurer agreed a final 
settlement on its NCP insurance claim for gross proceeds 
of $65.5 million, less a deductible of $2.2 million, to give net 
proceeds of $63.3 million. The Company received cash advances 
of $30.0 million from its insurer in 2008 and the remaining 
amount of $33.3 million in the second quarter of 2009. Under 
the terms of the settlement, there are no conditions attached to 
the use of the proceeds.

OTHER INCOME AND ExPENSE

Other expense for 2009 was $11.4 million, compared to income 
of $12.7 million recorded for 2008. In both years, the significant 
majority of these amounts reflected foreign exchange 
movements on US dollar denominated cash, receivables and 
payables of Canadian operations.

INCoMe tAx ReCoveRy

The reconciliation of income taxes calculated at the statutory rate to the actual income tax provision is as follows:
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Net loss before income taxes and non-controlling interests $ (134.7) $ (463.1)
Income tax recovery at statutory rate $ 40.4 $ 143.6
Add (deduct):    
Non-controlling interests  2.3  7.4
Change in corporate income tax rates  7.3  9.1
Entities with different income tax rates and other tax adjustments  2.9  4.4
Tax recovery at rates other than statutory rate  2.8  3.5
Permanent difference from capital gains and losses and other non-deductible items  16.2  (26.1)
Income tax recovery $ 71.9 $ 141.9

The Company recorded an income tax recovery of $71.9 million 
in 2009, compared to a recovery of $141.9 million in 2008.

The 2009 recovery is comprised of a current income tax 
recovery of $49.4 million and a future income tax recovery 
of $22.5 million. The most significant factors contributing to 
the future income tax recovery are the impact of an increase 

in the non-capital losses carried forward, which gave rise 
to a recovery of $16.2 million, the impact of the reversal in 
temporary differences relating to property plant and equipment, 
which gave rise to a recovery of $25.9 million, offset by the 
impact of the realization of derivative financial instruments, 
which gave rise to an expense of $21.1 million.
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The decrease in net assets in 2009 primarily reflected the 
Company’s losses for the year, as well as the impact of the 
stronger Canadian dollar on its US dollar denominated debt.

Canfor’s ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 2.6:1 
at the end of 2009, up from 2.0:1 at the end of 2008. While net 
working capital decreased by $88.1 million over the year, lower 
current liabilities at the end of 2009 resulted in a higher current 
ratio compared to the end of 2008 (due to the lower denominator 
in the ratio calculation). The net decrease in actual net working 
capital resulted primarily from 2009 cash operating losses and 
capital spending, which were offset in part by working capital 
reductions and proceeds from the Panel and Fibre property sale. 

The Company’s net debt to capitalization ratio was 14.5% at 
December 31, 2009, which was substantially unchanged from 
the previous year. The impact of lower net debt balances at year 
end, in part reflecting foreign exchange gains on US dollar debt, 
offset the impact of the year’s net loss and the foreign exchange 
loss on Canfor’s self-sustaining foreign operations recorded in 
shareholders’ equity.

oPeRAtINg ACtIvItIeS

In 2009, Canfor used cash from operations of $68.6 million, 
compared to cash of $151.8 million generated in 2008. Cash used 
in 2009 reflected higher operating losses, which were partly 
offset by reductions in working capital balances, related to lower 
operating levels and targeted reductions in log, in-process and 
finished goods inventory levels. For 2008, the cash generated 
from operations included an income tax refund of $137.5 million, 
related to previous period losses, and lower trade receivables 
balances, which were partly offset by restructuring, mill closure 
and severance payments made during that year. 

FINANCINg ACtIvItIeS

Financing activities in 2009 used net cash of $208.3 million, 
$165.9 million higher than the $42.4 million used in 2008. The 
increase reflected repayments of long-term debt totalling $175.5  
million in 2009 compared to $14.8 million repaid in 2008. Also 
in 2009, CPLP repaid its operating loan of $25.2 million drawn 
in 2008, and the Company paid less cash distributions to non-
controlling interests (2009 - $8.9 million; 2008 - $52.3 million), 
due to lower cash flow from operations.

The following table summarizes Canfor’s financial position as at the end of the years 2009 and 2008:
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t f o r r a t i o s)  2009 2008

Net cash $ 133.4 $ 362.4
Operating working capital  326.2  322.7
Current portion of long-term debt  (34.0)  (168.3)
Current portion of deferred reforestation   (27.8)  (32.5)
Income taxes recoverable   45.5  47.1
Net working capital  443.3  531.4
Long-term investments  93.7  125.7
Property, plant, equipment and timber  1,676.6  1,798.5
Goodwill  73.3  85.7
Deferred charges  117.1  110.2
   $ 2,404.0 $ 2,651.5

    
Long-term debt $ 333.3 $ 428.7
Deferred reforestation obligation  60.3  63.1
Other long-term provisions and accruals  149.5  145.7
Future income taxes, net  200.8  242.4
Non-controlling interests  273.3  276.8
Shareholders’ equity  1,386.8  1,494.8
Net assets $ 2,404.0 $ 2,651.5

    
Ratio of current assets to current liabilities  2.6 : 1  2.0 : 1
Ratio of net debt to capitalization   14.5%  14.8%

At the end of 2009, Canfor had $133.4 million of cash and cash equivalents, down $229.0 million from prior year.
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t f o r r a t i o s)  2009 2008

Cash generated from (used in)    
Operating activities $ (68.6) $ 151.8
Financing activities  (208.3)  (42.4)
Investing activities  49.6  (48.4)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash and cash equivalents of self-sustaining foreign operations  (1.7)  5.9
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ (229.0) $ 66.9

The changes in the components of these cash flows during 2009 are discussed below:

summary of finanCial position

CHanges in finanCial position
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INveStINg ACtIvItIeS

Net cash generated from investing activities in 2009 amounted 
to $49.6 million (2008 – outflow of $48.4 million).

Property, plant and equipment additions totalled $59.0 
million for 2009, of which approximately $40 million was spent 
to improve the Company’s cost position, production and capacity. 
The balance was to maintain the existing productive capacity of 
the operations or to ensure Canfor’s safety and environmental 
performance. The challenging operating climate led to the 
continuation of restrained capital spending in 2009. The more 
significant projects included completion of the Fort St. John 
sawmill energy system, where bark is burned to provide heat for 
drying lumber, a capital upgrade at the Darlington sawmill and 
the commencement of a new energy system at the Mackenzie 
sawmill. In the pulp segment, capital spending consisted 
primarily of essential maintenance of business projects and 
a payment of $4.3 million by CPLP to BC Hydro in September 
to reduce CPLP’s obligation for power production from its 
cogeneration project at the Prince George Pulp and Paper mill. 

Sales of non-core assets, including the site of the 
Company’s former Panel and Fibre operation, generated cash 
of $55.3 million. The Company also received cash of $33.3 
million upon final settlement of its NCP mill fire claim (in 2008, 
the Company received advances of $30.0 million). Cash of 
$19.9 million was also received in connection with the partial 
redemption of ABCP and interest income related to the ABCP’s 
restructuring period.

ChANgeS IN eqUIty 

In addition to the 2009 $70.5 million net loss charged to retained 
earnings, other comprehensive income decreased by $37.5 
million, reflecting the impact of the stronger Canadian dollar on 
the translation of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries.

finanCial reQuirements and liQuidity

oPeRAtINg LoANS 

On a consolidated basis, at December 31, 2009, the Company 
had $445.6 million of unsecured operating loan facilities, of 
which $0.6 million was drawn down and an additional $18.6 
million was reserved for several standby letters of credit. The 
Company also had a separate facility to cover a $16.0 million 
standby letter of credit.

Excluding CPLP, the Company’s bank operating lines were 
$405.6 million of which $0.6 million was drawn down and $18.1 
million was reserved for several standby letters of credit, the 
majority of which relates to unregistered pension plans. 

The Company’s operating loan facilities include two 
facilities in the amounts of US$12.9 million (“Facility A”) and 
US$34.1 million (“Facility B”) at December 31, 2009, which 
were negotiated in the first quarter of 2009. Facility A expires in 
January 2012, with the option of four one-year extensions, and 
is non-recourse to the Company under normal circumstances, 
except for an amount of US$6.7 million. Facility B expires in 
January 2011 and is non-recourse to the Company under normal 
circumstances. The ABCP assets of the Company have been 
pledged as security to support these credit facilities.

On September 30, 2009, CPLP completed a new $40.0 million 
bank credit facility with a maturity date of November 30, 2011, of 
which $0.5 million was utilized at December 31, 2009 for standby 
letters of credit issued for general business purposes. In 
addition, CPLP arranged a separate facility with a maturity date 
of November 30, 2011, to cover a $16.0 million standby letter of 
credit issued to BC Hydro under an Energy Purchase Agreement.

debt CoveNANtS

Canfor has certain financial covenants on its debt obligations 
that stipulate maximum net debt to total capitalization ratios and 
minimum net worth amounts based on total shareholders’ equity. 
The net debt to total capitalization is calculated by dividing total 
debt, less cash and cash equivalents, by shareholders’ equity 
plus total debt less cash and cash equivalents. Debt obligations 
are held by various entities within the Canfor group and the 
individual debt agreements specify the entities within the group 
that are to be included in the covenant calculations. 

In certain circumstances, when net debt to total 
capitalization exceeds a certain threshold, Canfor is subject to 
an interest coverage ratio that requires a minimum amount of 
EBITDA relative to net interest expense.

In addition, CPLP has leverage and interest coverage ratios 
calculated by reference to operating earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortization.

Provisions contained in Canfor’s long-term borrowing 
agreements also limit the amount of indebtedness that the 
Company may incur and the amount of dividends it may pay on 
its common shares. The amount of dividends the Company is 
permitted to pay under its long-term borrowing agreements 
is determined by reference to consolidated net earnings less 
certain restricted payments. 

Management reviews results and forecasts to monitor the 
Company’s compliance with these covenant requirements. 
Canfor was in compliance with all its debt covenants for the year 
ended December 31, 2009. 

2010 PRoJeCted CAPItAL SPeNdINg ANd  
debt RePAyMeNtS 

Based on its current outlook for 2010, assuming no further 
deterioration in market conditions in 2010, the Company 
anticipates that it may invest approximately $75 million in 
capital projects (net of estimated Green Transformation funds 
received), which will consist primarily of maintenance of 
business expenditures and a small number of improvement 
projects. Scheduled long-term debt repayments in 2010 consist 
of a US$32.3 million payment due in March. Canfor intends to 
finance its planned capital expenditures and scheduled debt 
repayments from existing cash reserves.
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deRIvAtIve FINANCIAL INStRUMeNtS

As at December 31, 2009, the Company had the following derivatives:

A. Foreign exchange forward contracts and collars of US$98.0 million. There were unrealized gains of $1.6 million on the foreign 
exchange derivatives at the end of the year. The contracts in place at the end of 2009 were as follows:
 2009

 Notional Amount exchange Rates

 (m i l l i o n s o f  U S d o l l a r s) ( p r o te c t i o n /  to p s i d e ,  

US dollar collars  p e r d o l l a r )

0-12 months
US Dol l ar C ol l ar s  $ 12.0 $ 1.0500 / $ 1.2200

US dollar forward sales contracts (m i l l i o n s o f  U S d o l l a r s)  (range of rates, per dollar)

0 -12 months
US Dol l ar For w ar d C ontr ac t s  $ 86.0 $ 1.0302 - $ 1.0723

In early 2010, the Company entered into additional foreign exchange collars with a total notional amount of $165.0 million and 
protection and topside rates of $1.04 and $1.21 per US dollar, respectively.

B. Floating to fixed swaps that fix the price of future natural gas purchases on 3.2 million gigajoules. There were unrealized losses of 
$6.8 million on the natural gas swaps at the end of the year.
 2009

 Notional Amount Average Rate

Natural gas (m i l l i o n s o f  g i g a j o u l e s)  (d o l l a r s p e r g i g a j o u l e)

F lo at ing to f i xed s w ap
0 – 12 months 2.1 $ 7.53
13 – 3 6 months  1.1 $ 8.04

C. Floating to fixed swaps that fix the price of diesel purchases on 2.0 million gallons. There were unrealized losses of $0.9 million on 
these swaps at the end of the year. Canfor uses heating oil contracts as proxy to hedge the diesel purchases.
 2009

 Notional Amount Average Rate

diesel (m i l l i o n s o f  g a l l o n s)  (d o l l a r s p e r g a l l o n)

F lo at ing to f i xed s w ap
0  –  12 months 1.8 $ 2.49
13 – 3 6 months 0.2 $ 2.12

D. Futures contracts for the sale of lumber with a total notional amount of 55.8 MMfbm. There were unrealized gains of $0.3 million at 
year end on these contracts.
 2009

 Notional Amount Average Rate

Lumber (MM f b m) (U S d o l l a r s p e r M f b m)

Futur e s contr ac t s  
0  – 12 months 55.8 $ 242.30

CoMMItMeNtS

The following table summarizes Canfor’s financial contractual obligations at December 31, 2009 for each of the next five years and 
thereafter: 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)   2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 thereafter total

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations  $ 34.0 $ 87.4 $ 52.3 $ 193.6 $ – $ – $ 367.3
Interest payments on long-term debt   $ 21.4 $ 16.2 $ 11.9 $ 7.8 $ – $ – $ 57.3
Operating leases   $ 15.1 $ 10.1 $ 6.7 $ 4.1 $ 1.6 $ 0.7 $ 38.3
     $ 70.5 $ 113.7 $ 70.9 $ 205.5 $ 1.6 $ 0.7 $ 462.9
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Other contractual obligations not included in the table above are:
• Contractual commitments totalling $30.2 million, principally 

related to the construction of capital assets. This relates in 
part to the new energy system at the Mackenzie sawmill and 
capital expenditures at the Chetwynd sawmill in advance of 
its anticipated re-opening in the spring of 2010. 

• Purchase obligations and contractual obligations in 
the normal course of business. For example, purchase 
obligations of a more substantial dollar amount generally 
relate to the pulp business and are subject to “force 
majeure” clauses. In these instances, actual volumes 
purchased may vary significantly from contracted amounts 
depending on Canfor’s requirements in any given year. 

• Deferred reforestation, for which a liability of $88.1 million 
has been recorded at December 31, 2009 (2008 – $95.6 
million). The reforestation liability is a fluctuating obligation, 
based on the area harvested. The future cash outflows are 
a function of the actual costs of silviculture programs and of 
harvesting and are based on, among other things, the location 
of the harvesting and the activities necessary to adequately 
stock harvested areas and achieve a “free-to-grow” state.

• Obligations to pay pension and other post-employment 
benefits, for which a liability of $132.2 million has been 
recorded at December 31, 2009 (2008 - $127.0 million).

PeNSIoN obLIgAtIoNS 

A new funding valuation as of December 31, 2009 is currently 
being performed for certain pension plans of the Company. The 
Company estimates that the cash funding contributions required 
for 2010 will likely be between $25 million and $40 million, in 
part dependent upon the amortization period of the funding 
deficit (5 or 10 years, subject to regulator approval). Of this 
amount, approximately $8 million will relate to current service 
costs of active employees.

The Company undertakes transactions with various related 
entities. These transactions are in the normal course of business 
and are generally on the same terms as those accorded to 
unrelated third parties, except where noted otherwise. 

hoWe SoUNd PULP ANd PAPeR LIMIted PARtNeRShIP 

Howe Sound Pulp and Paper Limited Partnership (“HSLP”) is 
jointly owned by Canfor and Oji Paper Co. Ltd. (“Oji”), as limited 
partners, and operates a kraft pulp and newsprint mill at Port 
Mellon, British Columbia. 

At December 31, 2009, Canfor recorded a total net receivable 
from HSLP, after impairments, of $21.2 million. Canfor’s 
transactions with HSLP during 2009, as well as various 
receivable balances that are included in this net receivable 
balance, are set out below:

a) Under a long-term fibre agreement with Western Forest 
Products Inc., Coastal Fibre Limited Partnership (“CFLP”) 
purchases chips and logs for resale to HSLP at CFLP’s cost. 
In 2009, these purchases totalled $9.8 million and $11.2 
million respectively and the balance receivable at December 
31, 2009 was $21.3 million. CFLP charges HSLP a commission 
for this service, which amounted to $0.1 million in 2009 
and at December 31, 2009, there was a balance receivable 
of $0.9 million. These amounts have been proportionately 
consolidated in Canfor’s financial statements.

b) Canfor and Oji, the partners of HSLP, and HSLP have a 
prepayment agreement whereby the partners prepay HSLP 
in advance of the due date for receivables for pulp marketed, 
or to be marketed, and collected on their behalf. Canfor 
charges a market rate of interest to HSLP for the period 
paid in advance and the prepayment is partially covered by 
the assignment of current or future accounts receivable. 
The agreement provides for Canfor and Oji to prepay up to 
a maximum amount of $60.0 million each, which is used 
as short-term operating funds by HSLP. Canfor, through 
CPLP, markets the pulp production of HSLP for which it 
receives commissions under the terms of its agency sales 
agreement. Canfor provides management, fibre supply 
and other services to HSLP at cost. At December 31, 2009, 
Canfor has a balance of $41.4 million owing from HSLP.

otheR

Other related party transactions include: 
1. The purchase of pulp chips and lumber, at market value, 

from Lakeland Mills Ltd. and Winton Global Lumber Ltd.,  
in which Canfor holds a one-third equity interest; and

2. Shipping services provided to Canfor by Seaboard 
International Shipping Company, in which Canfor holds  
a minority interest. 

Additional details are contained in Note 27 to Canfor’s 2009 
consolidated financial statements

transaCtions witH related parties
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In addition to exposure to changes in product prices and 
foreign exchange, the Company’s financial results are impacted 
by seasonal factors such as weather and building activity. 
Adverse weather conditions can cause logging curtailments, 
which can affect the supply of raw materials to sawmills, OSB 
plants, and pulp mills. Market demand also varies seasonally 
to some degree. For example, building activity and repair and 

renovation work, which affects demand for lumber products, 
is generally stronger in the spring and summer months. These 
factors, along with global supply and demand conditions, affect 
the Company’s shipment volumes. Also, the global economic 
slowdown and collapse of the U.S. housing market has adversely  
impacted the Company’s results since 2008.

seleCted Quarterly finanCial information

tHree-year Comparative review

 2009 2008

   q4 q3 q2 q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Sales and income (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)

Sales $ 549.6 $ 540.9 $ 541.7 $ 488.2 $ 588.7 $ 668.0 $ 706.4 $ 648.5
Operating income (loss) $ (23.6) $ (31.4) $ (31.2) $ (124.2) $ (74.2) $ 12.8 $ 20.8 $ (117.5)
Net income (loss) $ (17.0) $ (5.2) $ 10.5 $ (58.8) $ (229.8) $ (94.2) $ 64.2 $ (85.4)
Per common share (d o l l a r s)

Net income (loss) – basic and diluted $ (0.12) $ (0.04) $ 0.07 $ (0.41) $ (1.61) $ (0.66) $ 0.45 $ (0.60)

Statistics
Lumber shipments (MMfbm)  887  837  884  791  956  906  1,107  1,023
OSB shipments (MMsf 3/8”)  63  69  61  30  56  91  153  164
Pulp shipments (000 mt)  315  307  344  277  236  284  289  279

Average exchange rate –  
 US$/Cdn$ $ 0.947 $ 0.912 $ 0.858 $ 0.803 $ 0.825 $ 0.960 $ 0.990 $ 0.996

Average Western SPF  
 2x4 #2&Btr lumber price (US$) $ 205 $ 191 $ 174 $ 155 $ 190 $ 263 $ 230 $ 205
Average SYP (East) 2x4  
 #2 lumber price (US$) $ 231 $ 230 $ 236 $ 235 $ 258 $ 289 $ 294 $ 285
Average OSB price –  
 North Central (US$) $ 172 $ 178 $ 145 $ 154 $ 172 $ 202 $ 174 $ 138
Average NBSK pulp list price  
 delivered to U.S. (US$) $ 820 $ 733 $ 645 $ 673 $  787 $  880 $  880 $ 880

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t p e r s h a r e a m o unt s)  2009 2008 2007

Sales $ 2,120.4 $ 2,611.6 $ 3,275.6
Net income (loss)  $ (70.5) $ (345.2) $ (360.6)
Total assets $ 2,677.8 $ 3,200.4 $ 3,507.8
Total long-term financial liabilities  $ 333.3 $ 428.7 $ 481.6
Net income (loss) per share, basic and diluted $ (0.50) $ (2.42) $ (2.53)
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oveRvIeW oF oPeRAtINg ReSULtS

The Company recorded EBITDA of $15.2 million and a net loss 
of $17.0 million for the fourth quarter of 2009, compared to 
negative EBITDA of $30.2 million and a net loss of $229.8 million 
in the fourth quarter of 2008. The loss per share (basic and 
diluted) was $0.12 for the fourth quarter of 2009, compared to a 
loss per share of $1.61 in the fourth quarter of 2008.

The fourth quarter of 2008’s results included asset 
impairment charges of $99.6 million ($74.1 million, or $0.52  
per share after taxes). 

An overview of the results by business segment for the fourth 
quarter of 2009 compared to the last quarter of 2008 follows.

oveRvIeW

The Lumber segment reported negative EBITDA of $8.6 million 
for the fourth quarter of 2009, an improvement of $15.5 million 
from EBITDA of negative $24.1 million reported for the same 
quarter of 2008. Excluding the impact of inventory write-down 
adjustments and restructuring costs, EBITDA in the current 
quarter showed a favourable movement of $0.7 million from  
the comparative period. In the last quarter of 2008, the 
Company recorded higher inventory write-downs, following a 
significant decline in market prices that resulted from a sharp 
falloff in demand. 

Compared to the same quarter of 2008, there were modest 
increases in US dollar prices for most narrow dimension 
Western SPF lumber products, and more significant price 
gains for several wider dimensions. The Company’s unit 
manufacturing costs at its sawmills were down 8%, despite 
significantly higher market curtailment. The price gains and 
lower unit costs offset the combined impact of the 15% increase 
in the value of the Canadian dollar compared to the US dollar, 
the Third Country Adjustment export tax refund recorded in late 
2008, and to a lesser extent lower residual chip prices related to 
lower Canadian dollar realized NBSK pulp prices. 

MARketS

Demand for softwood lumber remained weak in the last quarter 
of 2009. U.S. housing starts averaged 554,000 units25 SAAR for 
the quarter, a 16% decrease from the fourth quarter of 2008, 
while single family starts were in line with the comparative 
quarter at 472,000 units25. Home sales increased and inventories 
of both new and existing homes declined in response to 
lower home prices, historically low mortgage rates, and the 
U.S. federal government’s tax credit of $8,000 for first-time 
homebuyers. The U.S. federal government has extended the 
deadline for this credit from November 2009 to April 2010, and 
recently announced a further home buyers tax credit of $6,500 
for current homeowners, also until April 2010. 

The slow recovery of the Canadian housing market from the 
lows in the first part of 2009 continued in the fourth quarter. 
Housing starts averaged 171,000 units26 SAAR, in line with the 
fourth quarter of 2008. 

Total offshore lumber sales volumes almost doubled from 
the fourth quarter of last year, with shipments to both China and 
Japan well up, gaining 31% and 29% respectively. 

Quarter ended deCember 31, 2009 vs. Quarter ended deCember 31, 2008

LUMbeR

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND STATISTICS - LUMBER

Summarized results for the Lumber segment for the fourth quarter of 2009 and 2008 were as follows:
   q4 Q4
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  un l e s s o th e r w i s e n ote d)  2009 2008

Sales $ 285.3 $ 363.9
Operating income (loss) $ (30.8) $ (50.8)
EBITDA, as reported $ (8.6) $ (24.1)
Restructuring, mill closure and severance costs $ 4.3 $ 3.7
Negative (positive) impact of inventory write-downs $ 0.1 $ 15.5
EBITDA excluding impact of inventory write-downs and restructuring  $ (4.2) $ (4.9)
Average SPF 2x4 #2&Btr lumber price in US$22 $ 205 $ 190
Average SPF price in Cdn$ $ 216 $ 230
Average SYP 2x4 #2 lumber price in US$23 $ 231 $ 258
Average SYP price in Cdn$ $ 244 $ 313
Production – SPF lumber (MMfbm)  691.7  791.6
Production – SYP lumber (MMfbm)  76.0  78.6
Shipments – Canfor-produced SPF lumber (MMfbm)24  750.1  834.3
Shipments – Canfor-produced SYP lumber (MMfbm)24  115.8  86.2
Shipments – wholesale lumber (MMfbm)  20.6  35.7

( 2 2 )  We s te r n S p r u ce / P in e / F i r,  p e r th o u s a n d b o a r d f e e t  (S o ur ce – R a n d o m L e n g th s P ub l i c a t i o n s ,  In c . )
( 2 3)  S o u th e r n Ye l l o w P in e ,  E a s t s i d e ,  p e r th o u s a n d b o a r d f e e t  (S o ur ce – R a n d o m L e n g th s P ub l i c a t i o n s ,  In c . )
( 2 4 )  In c l u d e s s h ip m e nt s o f  l um b e r p ur c h a s e d f o r r e m a nu f a c t ur e .

( 2 5 )  U. S .  C e n s u s Bur e a u
( 2 6)  C MH C
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SALeS

Lumber sales revenue for the fourth quarter of 2009 was down 
$78.6 million, or 22%, compared to the fourth quarter of 2008. 
Overall, shipments were down 70 million board feet, or 7%, with 
additional market-related curtailment offset in part by higher 
drawdowns in finished good inventories as well as productivity 
gains in the current quarter. 

Lumber SPF prices, as measured by Western SPF 2x4 
#2&Btr, were up US$15 per Mfbm, or 8%, compared to the 
fourth quarter of 2008. Similar movements were recorded for 
most other Western SPF widths. The one exception was 2x10 
wide dimension lumber products, where US dollar prices moved 
up over 50% from the same quarter in 2008. With the exception 
of 2x10 products, the pricing gains were eroded by a 12 cent, 
or 15%, increase in the average value of the Canadian dollar 
compared to the same quarter a year ago. Average prices for 
SYP lumber, as measured by 2x4 #2, were down US$27 per 
Mfbm, or 10%, over the same period. 

The Random Lengths Framing Lumber Composite price 
averaged US$243 per Mfbm27 for the fourth quarter of 2009, 
remaining well below the trigger price of US$315 per Mfbm 
required to reduce the export tax rate on all U.S. bound 
shipments below the current rate of 15%. 

Total residual fibre revenue was down sharply compared 
to the same quarter of 2008 due to the combination of reduced 
operating rates and weaker Canadian dollar NBSK pulp prices 
in the current period. 

oPeRAtIoNS

Lumber production for the fourth quarter of 2009 was 768 
million board feet, 103 million board feet, or 12%, lower than for 
the same quarter in 2008. Production for the current quarter 
reflected the indefinite idling of the Chetwynd, Radium, Rustad 
and Vavenby sawmills, as well as a reduced number of shifts 
at other locations. In the same quarter of 2008, the Company’s 
Chetwynd and Mackenzie mills were idled. Productivity gains 
partly offset the impact of the additional market curtailment in 
the current period.

Unit manufacturing costs were 8% lower than the same 
quarter of 2008, mainly due to further cost reduction initiatives 
which reduced operating and overhead costs, lower energy 
costs, increased sawmill and planer productivity, and lower log 
market stumpage rates and purchased wood costs resulting from 
depressed markets and lumber prices. 

The impact of inventory write-down adjustments was minimal 
in the fourth quarter of 2009. In contrast, the fourth quarter of 
2008’s results included a negative impact of $15.5 million from 
such adjustments, principally reflecting the sharp falloff in prices 
resulting from the significant deterioration in market conditions 
during that quarter.

Restructuring costs in the fourth quarter were $4.3 million, 
$0.6 million higher than for the last quarter of 2008. Costs in the 
fourth quarter of 2009 included costs associated with three B.C. 
Interior sawmills that were indefinitely idled midway through 
the year, while the Mackenzie sawmill was idled through the last 
quarter of 2008 (subsequently reopened in July 2009).

PULP ANd PAPeR

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND STATISTICS – PULP AND PAPER28

Summarized results for the Pulp and Paper segment for the fourth quarter of 2009 and 2008 were as follows:
   q4 Q4
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  un l e s s o th e r w i s e n ote d)  2009 2008

Sales $ 253.3 $ 204.3
Operating income (loss)29 $ 16.5 $ (2.2)
EBITDA30 $ 29.3 $ 8.9
Average pulp price delivered to U.S. – US$30 $ 820 $ 787
Average price in Cdn$ $ 866 $ 954
Production – pulp (000 mt)  307.3  256.1
Production – paper (000 mt)  38.4  30.1
Shipments – Canfor-produced pulp (000 mt)  315.4  235.6
 Pulp marketed on behalf of HSLP (000 mt) 31  68.2  52.6
Shipments – paper (000 mt)  38.1  24.3

( 2 8)  In c l u d e s th e Ta y l o r P u l p m i l l  a n d 10 0 % o f  C P L P, w h ic h i s  co n s o l i d a te d in C a nf o r ’s o p e r at in g r e s u l t s .  P u l p p r o d u c t i o n a n d s h ip m e nt v o l um e s p r e s e nte d a r e f o r b o th NB S K 
p u l p a n d B C T MP.

( 2 9)  E a r n in g s f o r 2 0 0 9 in c l u d e a p o s i t i v e im p a c t f r o m in v e nto r y w r i te - d o w n a d ju s tm e nt s o f  $ 2 . 4 m i l l i o n ( 2 0 0 8 – n e g at i v e im p a c t o f  $ 2 . 5 m i l l i o n)
(3 0 )  P e r to n n e ,  NB S K p u l p p r ice d e l i v e r e d to U. S .  (R I S I )
(31)  H o w e S o un d P ul p a n d P a p e r L im i te d P a r tn e r s h ip p u l p m i l l

oveRvIeW

EBITDA in the Pulp and Paper segment for the fourth quarter of 
2009 was $29.3 million, up $20.4 million from the fourth quarter 
of 2008. The improved performance was primarily attributable 
to higher shipments, lower fibre, chemical and natural gas 
costs, fewer scheduled maintenance outages and the favourable 
impact of higher production volumes on unit costs. Higher NBSK 
pulp and BCTMP US dollar prices and lower freight costs were 
more than offset by the much stronger Canadian dollar and a 
lower value sales mix. Both CPLP and the Taylor Pulp mill took 
market downtime towards the end of the fourth quarter of 2008, 
as a result of a sharp drop in demand and prices. 

MARketS 

Pulp market conditions were strong in the fourth quarter of 
2009 as a significant number of pulp mills remained idled which 
kept supply constrained, resulting in significant reductions in 
producer inventory stocks. The consumption levels have been 
steadily improving since earlier in the year. Although full year 
2009 Pulp and Paper Products Council statistics indicate that 
global demand for printing and writing papers was down 11%, 
there has been steady improvement in monthly demand since 
the end of the first quarter of 2009.

( 2 7 )  R a n d o m L e n g th s P ub l i c a t i o n s ,  In c .
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The steady improvement in consumption and continued 
reduction of supply has resulted in lower pulp inventories. At 
the end of December 2009, World 20 producers32 of bleached 
softwood pulp inventories stood at 23 days of supply. By 
comparison, December 2008 inventories stood at 40 days 
of supply. Market conditions are considered balanced when 
inventories fall in the 27 to 30 days of supply range.

Kraft paper demand in the fourth quarter remained strong 
as customers had to replenish stock levels that had been drawn 
down, in many cases to critically low levels.

SALeS 

Shipments of Canfor-produced pulp were up 80,000 tonnes, 
or 34%, from the fourth quarter of 2008, primarily reflecting 
improved demand and additional non-contract business. 
Average NBSK market pulp list prices for U.S. delivery in the 
fourth quarter of 2009 were US$820 per tonne, up US$33, or 4%, 
from the comparable quarter of 2008. The increase in US dollar 
prices was more than offset by the 15% increase in the value of 
the Canadian dollar and a higher percentage of sales of lower 
margin business (including non-contract business to Asia). 

oPeRAtIoNS

Pulp production for the fourth quarter of 2009 was 307,000 
tonnes, up 51,000 tonnes, or 20%, compared to the fourth 
quarter of 2008, mostly as a result of fewer scheduled 
maintenance outages, and the market curtailment taken by 
CPLP and the Taylor Pulp mill in late 2008. 

Unit manufacturing costs were well down compared to the 
same quarter of 2008, as a result of higher production volumes, 
lower fibre, chemical and energy costs and the impact of less 
scheduled maintenance. The lower fibre costs reflected lower 
market prices for sawmill residual and whole log chips. 

UNALLoCAted ANd otheR IteMS
   q4 Q4
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Operating loss of Panels operations33 $ (3.5) $ (15.2)
Corporate costs $ (5.8) $ (6.0)
Interest expense, net $ (7.1) $ (7.7)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on long-term debt and investments, net $ 8.0 $ (72.0)
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments  $ 2.3 $ (81.7)
Prince George Pulp & Paper mill fire, net $ – $ (0.3)
Asset impairments $ – $ (99.6)
Other income (expense), net $ (2.7) $ 12.9

(3 3)  T h e P a n e l s o p e r at i o n s in c l u d e th e P e a ce Va l l e y O S B j o in t  v e nt ur e ,  th e o n ly f a c i l i t y  c ur r e nt ly  o p e r at in g ,  a n d th e C o m p a n y ’s Ta c k a m a p ly w o o d a n d P o l a r B o a r d O S B p l a nt s , 
b o th o f  w h ic h a r e c ur r e nt ly  in d ef in i te ly  i d l e d .

Results of the Panels operations in the fourth quarter of 2009 
reflected weak OSB market conditions and the ongoing costs 
of indefinitely idling the Tackama and PolarBoard plants. The 
operating loss of $3.5 million for the fourth quarter of 2009 
represented an improvement of $11.7 million from the same 
quarter in 2008, and was mostly the result of the indefinite 
idling of the Tackama plant in October 2008 and higher log 
inventory write-downs recorded in the last quarter of 2008. At 
Peace Valley OSB, a higher-value sales mix and lower wax and 
resin costs in the current quarter more than offset the impact 
of the stronger Canadian dollar on sales realizations and annual 
maintenance shutdown costs in the fourth quarter of 2009. 

Corporate costs were $5.8 million for the fourth quarter 
of 2009, down $0.2 million from the fourth quarter of 2008, 
as savings from the elimination of short-term incentive 
compensation in 2009 and other cost reduction initiatives were 
offset by higher share based compensation in the current 
period, due to an increase in the Company’s share price, and the 
reversal of an incentive compensation expense recorded in the 
last quarter of 2008. 

Net interest expense of $7.1 million for the fourth quarter 
of 2009 was down $0.6 million from the fourth quarter of 2008. 
Savings from lower debt levels in the current quarter and the 
impact of the stronger Canadian dollar on interest on US dollar 
denominated debt more than offset lower interest income on 
reduced cash balances in the current period. The expense for 
the fourth quarter of 2009 also included fees related to CPLP’s 
new credit facilities.

The Company recorded a foreign exchange translation 
gain on its US dollar denominated debt, net of investments, of 
$8.0 million for the fourth quarter of 2009, as a result of the 
2% increase in the value of the Canadian dollar against the 
US dollar over the quarter. In the fourth quarter of 2008, the 
Company recorded a loss of $72.0 million, as a result of a 13% 
decline in the value of the Canadian dollar over that period. 

In the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company recorded a net 
gain of $2.3 million related to its derivative instruments, due 
substantially to the stronger Canadian dollar. For the fourth 
quarter of 2008, the Company recorded a net loss of $81.7 
million, as a result of the significant weakening of the Canadian 
dollar over that period. 

Other expense, net of $2.7 million for the fourth quarter of 
2009 and other income, net of $12.9 million for the fourth quarter 
of 2008 for the most part reflected foreign exchange movements 
on US dollar denominated cash, receivables and payables of 
Canadian operations over each of the respective quarters.

(3 2 )  Wo r l d 2 0 d a t a i s  b a s e d o n t w e nt y p r o d u c in g co untr i e s r e p r e s e nt in g 8 0 % o f 
w o r l d c h e m ic a l  m a r ket p u l p c a p a c i t y  a n d i s  b a s e d o n in f o r m at i o n co m p i l e d a n d 
p r e p a r e d b y th e P ul p a n d P a p e r P r o d u c t s C o un c i l  ( “P P P C ”) .
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ebitda reConCiliation and speCifiC items affeCting Comparability

ebItdA ReCoNCILIAtIoN

The following table reconciles the Company’s net income (loss) from continuing operations, as reported in accordance with GAAP,  
to EBITDA: 
 2009 2008

   q4 q3 q2 q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Net income (loss), as reported $ (17.0) $ (5.2) $ 10.5 $ (58.8) $ (229.8) $ (94.2) $ 64.2 $ (85.4)
Add (subtract):                
 Amortization $ 38.8 $ 38.4 $ 38.5 $ 39.6 $ 44.0 $ 42.2 $ 41.5 $ 43.5
 Interest expense, net $ 7.1 $ 6.9 $ 7.0 $ 8.3 $ 7.7 $ 6.7 $ 5.7 $ 5.3
 Foreign exchange loss (gain) on  
  long-term debt and temporary  
  investments, net $ (8.0) $ (26.2) $ (29.1) $ 12.9 $ 72.0 $ 16.2 $ 0.1 $ 12.0
 Loss (gain) on derivative  
  financial instruments $ (2.3) $ (17.7) $ (25.7) $ 21.3 $ 81.7 $ 38.8 $ (26.0) $ (6.0)
 Gain on sale of mill property $ – $ – $ – $ (44.6) $ – $ – $ – $ –
  North Central Plywoods  
  mill fire, net $ – $ – $ 3.0 $ – $ – $ – $ (57.9) $ –
 Prince George Pulp & Paper  
  mill fire, net $ – $ – $ – $ – $ 0.3 $ – $ – $ (8.5)
 Asset impairments $ – $ – $ – $ – $ 99.6 $ 70.0 $ – $ –
 Other (income) expense $ 2.7 $ 8.7 $ 2.5 $ (2.5) $ (12.9) $ (0.1) $ 1.5 $ (1.2)
 Income tax (recovery) expense $ (14.0) $ (7.2) $ (1.0) $ (49.7) $ (80.2) $ (30.0) $ 24.0 $ (55.7)
 Non-controlling interests $ 7.9 $ 9.3 $ 1.6 $ (11.1) $ (12.6) $ 5.4 $ 9.2 $ 22.0
ebItdA, as reported $ 15.2 $ 7.0 $ 7.3 $ (84.6) $ (30.2) $ 55.1 $ 62.3 $ (74.0)
Restructuring, mill closure and  
 severance costs $ 5.9 $ 6.2 $ 11.4 $ 6.4 $ 10.3 $ 5.4 $ 34.0 $ 3.8
Negative (positive) impact of  
 inventory write-downs34 $ (0.5) $ 1.7 $ (52.2) $ 29.8 $ 17.6 $ 3.5 $ (88.4) $ 38.9
ebItdA excluding impact of  
 inventory write-downs and  
 restructuring $ 20.6 $ 14.9 $ (33.5) $ (48.4) $ (2.3) $ 64.0 $ 7.9 $ (31.3)

(3 4 )  In a cco r d a n ce w i th C a n a d ia n G A A P, C a nf o r r e co r d s i t s  l o g a n d f in i s h e d p r o d u c t in v e nto r i e s a t  th e l o w e r o f  co s t  a n d n et  r e a l i z a b l e v a l u e ( “NR V ”) .  S i gn i f i c a nt m o v e m e nt s in 
in v e nto r y v o l um e s o cc ur d u e to th e s e a s o n a l  b u i l d a n d dr a w d o w n o f  l o g s in th e f i r s t  a n d s e co n d q u a r te r s e a c h y e a r.  W h e r e NR V i s  b e l o w co s t  th i s c a n r e s u l t  in l a r g e s w in g s 
in in v e nto r y w r i te - d o w n a m o unt s r e co r d e d in th o s e p e r i o d s .  In a d d i t i o n to in v e nto r y v o l um e s ,  th e l e v e l  o f  in v e nto r y w r i te - d o w n s r e co r d e d in a r e p o r t in g p e r i o d r e f l e c t s 
c h a n g e s in m a r ket p r ice s ,  f o r e i gn e xc h a n g e r a te s ,  a n d co s t s o v e r th e r e s p e c t i v e r e p o r t in g p e r i o d s .

SPeCIFIC IteMS AFFeCtINg CoMPARAbILIty oF Net LoSS

Factors that impact the comparability of the quarters are noted below: 
A f te r - t a x im p a c t ,  n e t  o f  n o n - co ntr o l l in g  

in te r e s t s 2009 2008

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t f o r p e r  

s h a r e a m o unt s)  q4 q3 q2 q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Net income (loss), as reported $ (17.0) $ (5.2) $ 10.5 $ (58.8) $ (229.8) $ (94.2) $ 64.2 $ (85.4)
Restructuring, mill closure and  
 severance costs $ 5.4 $ 5.3 $ 7.5 $ 4.2 $ 6.9 $ 3.6 $ 22.3 $ 2.6
Foreign exchange (gain) loss on  
 long-term debt and temporary  
 investments, net $ (5.8) $ (19.6) $ (19.7) $ 9.1 $ 52.2 $ 11.3 $ – $ 8.7
(Gain) loss on derivative  
 financial instruments $ (1.4) $ (12.7) $ (17.3) $ 12.4 $ 50.3 $ 21.4 $ (14.5) $ (2.7)
Gain on sale of mill property $ – $ – $ – $ (37.8) $ – $ – $ – $ –
North Central Plywoods  
 mill fire, net $ – $ – $ 2.0 $ – $ – $ – $ (45.0) $ –
Prince George Pulp & Paper  
 mill fire, net $ – $ – $ – $ – $ 0.2 $ – $ – $ (3.6)
Asset impairments $ – $ – $ – $ – $ 74.1 $ 56.9 $ – $ –
Corporate income tax  
 rate reductions $ – $ – $ – $ (7.3) $ – $ – $ – $ (9.1)
Net impact of above items $ (1.8) $ (27.0) $ (27.5) $ (19.4) $ 183.7 $ 93.2 $ (37.2) $ (4.1)
Adjusted net income (loss) $ (18.8) $ (32.2) $ (17.0) $ (78.2) $ (46.1) $ (1.0) $ 27.0 $ (89.5)

Net income (loss) per share  
(ePS), as reported $ (0.12) $ (0.04) $ 0.07 $ (0.41) $ (1.61) $  (0.66) $ 0.45 $ (0.60)
Net impact of above items  
 per share $ (0.01) $ (0.19) $ (0.19) $ (0.14) $ 1.29 $  0.65 $ (0.26) $ (0.03)
Adjusted net income (loss)  
 per share  $ (0.13) $ (0.23) $ (0.12) $ (0.55) $ (0.32) $ (0.01) $ 0.19 $ (0.63)
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LUMbeR MARketS

Looking ahead, although lumber market prices have improved 
significantly in early 2010, market conditions in the U.S. are 
expected to show only a modest improvement for the year 
overall. New and existing home inventories are forecast 
to decline somewhat during this period, although high 
unemployment rates and high mortgage delinquency and 
foreclosure rates are expected to limit this reduction. Global 
lumber supply and inventory levels are expected to remain 
at historically low levels and demand is projected to show 
a modest increase, in part due to the extension of the U.S. 
home buyer tax credit to April 30, 2010. The combination of all 
these factors is expected to have a positive impact on prices 
for all products in the first half of the year relative to the 
fourth quarter of 2009. Lumber consumption in Canada is also 
expected to increase as new housing starts rise with improved 
consumer confidence. 

The repair and remodeling segment is also expected to show 
some modest improvement as a result of a projected increase in 
home sales and increased consumer spending. 

Overall, markets in Asia are expected to remain strong, 
particularly in Japan, China and Korea, which should ensure 
that inventory levels remain low.

PULP ANd PAPeR MARketS 

Markets are expected to remain strong through the first quarter 
of 2010 due to strong seasonal demand. Approximately 12% of 
global capacity is still idled and some mill restarts are expected 
to help absorb the current supply shortfall. Inventories held by 
producers and customers are at low levels compared to what is 
considered a balanced market. With the supply/demand balance 
still in the favour of producers, there is potential for further 
price increases in March or April. Any relative weakness in 
the US dollar versus the Canadian dollar and the Euro is also 
expected to exert upward pressure on list prices which are 
denominated in US dollars.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts recorded in the financial statements. Management 
regularly reviews these estimates and assumptions based on 
currently available information. While it is reasonably possible that 
circumstances may arise which cause actual results to differ from 
these estimates, management does not believe it is likely that any 
such differences will materially affect Canfor’s financial position.

eMPLoyee FUtURe beNeFItS 

Canfor has various defined benefit and defined contribution 
plans providing both pension and other retirement benefits to 
most of its salaried employees and certain hourly employees 
not covered by forest industry union plans. Canfor also provides 
certain health care benefits and pension bridging benefits to 
eligible retired employees. The costs and related obligations of 
the pension and other retirement benefit plans are accrued in 
accordance with the recommendations of the Canadian Institute 
of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”). 

Canfor uses independent actuarial firms to perform 
actuarial valuations of the fair value of pension and other 
retirement benefit plan obligations. The application of these 
recommendations requires judgments regarding certain 
assumptions that affect the accrued benefit provisions and 
related expenses, including the discount rate used to calculate 
the present value of the obligations, the expected rate of 
return on plan assets, the rate of compensation increase 
and the assumed health care cost trend rates. Management 
and the Board of Directors’ Pension Committee evaluate 
these assumptions annually based on experience and the 
recommendations of its actuarial firms. Changes in these 
assumptions result in actuarial gains or losses, which are 
amortized over the average remaining service period of the 
active employee group covered by the plans, only to the extent 
that the unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses are in 
excess of 10% of the greater of the accrued benefit obligations 
and the market-related value of plan assets. 

outlook

CritiCal aCCounting estimates



CA NFoR CoRP oR AtIoN A NNUA L ReP oRt 20 0926

deFeRRed ReFoReStAtIoN

Canfor accrues an estimate of its future liability to perform 
forestry activities, defined to mean those silviculture treatments 
or activities that are carried out to ensure the establishment 
of a free-growing stand of young trees, including logging 
road rehabilitation. An estimate is recorded in the financial 
statements based on the number of hectares of timber 
harvested in the period and the estimated costs of fulfilling 
Canfor’s obligation. Payments in relation to reforestation are 
expected to occur over periods of up to 16 years (the significant 
majority occurring in the first seven years) and have been 
discounted accordingly at rates of 4% to 9%. The actual costs 
that will be incurred in the future may vary based on, among 
other things, the actual costs at the time of silviculture activities. 

FUtURe INCoMe tAxeS

In accordance with CICA recommendations, Canfor recognizes 
future income tax assets when it is more likely than not that the 
future income tax assets will be realized. This assumption is 
based on management’s best estimate of future circumstances 
and events. If these estimates and assumptions are changed  
in the future, the value of the future income tax assets could  
be reduced or increased, resulting in an income tax expense  
or recovery. Canfor reevaluates its future income tax assets  
on a regular basis.

ASSet RetIReMeNt obLIgAtIoNS

Canfor records the estimated fair value of a liability for asset 
retirement obligations, such as landfill closures, in the period 
when a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. For 
CPLP’s landfill closure costs, the fair value is determined 
using estimated closure costs discounted over the estimated 
useful life. Payments relating to landfill closure costs are 
expected to occur at periods ranging from 32 to 40 years and 
have been discounted at rates ranging from 5.8% to 6.3%. The 
actual closure costs and periods of payment may differ from 
the estimates used in determining the year-end liability. The 
fair value of the liability is added to the carrying amount of the 
associated asset and amortized over its useful life. The liability 
is accreted over time through changes to earnings and reduced 
by actual costs of settlement. 

eNvIRoNMeNtAL ReMedIAtIoN CoStS

Costs associated with environmental remediation obligations 
are accrued and expensed when such costs are probable and 
can be reasonably estimated. Such accruals are adjusted as 
further information develops or circumstances change. Costs of 
future expenditures for environmental remediation obligations 
are discounted to their present value when the amount and 
timing of expected cash payments are reliably determinable.

The actuarial assumptions used in measuring Canfor’s defined benefit plan are as follows:

 2009 2008

 Pension other Pension Other  
 benefit  benefit  Benefit  Benefit  
( w e i ghte d a v e r a g e a s s um p t i o n s) Plans  Plans  Plans  Plans

Accrued benefit obligation as of December 31:
 Discount rate 6.25% 6.75% 6.60% 6.70%
 Rate of compensation increase 3.00% n/a 3.00% n/a
Benefit costs for year ended December 31:
 Discount rate 6.60% 6.70% 5.60% 5.50%
 Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.50% n/a 7.50% n/a
 Rate of compensation increase 3.00% n/a 3.00% n/a

Assumed health care cost trend rates were as follows:
( w e i ghte d a v e r a g e a s s um p t i o n s)  2009 2008

Initial health care cost trend rate 7.15% 5.83%
Ultimate health care trend rate 4.20% 4.40%
Year ultimate rate reached 2029 2014

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the other post-retirement benefit plans. A 
one percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates in each year would have had the following impact on the amounts 
recorded in 2009:
   1% Increase 1% Decrease

Increase (decrease) in accrued benefit obligation $ 20.0 $ 16.3
Increase (decrease) in total service and interest cost $ 1.4 $ 1.1

See “Financial Requirements and Liquidity – Pension Obligations” section for further discussion regarding the funding position of 
Canfor’s pension plans.
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IMPAIRMeNt oF goodWILL

Goodwill, which is the excess of the purchase price paid for  
an acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired,  
is not amortized but is assessed annually for impairment or  
more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that it  
may be impaired. 

In order to assess the goodwill for impairment, an analysis 
of the future expected discounted cash flows of the assets to 
which the goodwill relates is prepared as and when required. 
As part of this process, assumptions are made in relation to 
forecast product prices and exchange rates. Price forecasts are 
determined with reference to Resource Information Systems, 
Inc. (“RISI”) publications and management estimates, and 
forecast exchange rates are based on forecasts from various 
recognized authorities. Given the inherent uncertainty regarding 
longer term prices and foreign exchange rates, management 
considers various possible scenarios and assigns probabilities 
to the likelihood of occurrence of each of these. The net present 
value of the future expected cash flows is compared to the 
carrying value of the Company’s investment in these assets, 
including goodwill, at year end. 

Based upon the analysis performed in 2009 the net present 
value of the estimated future discounted cash flows exceeded 
the value of the investment, and therefore no impairments to 
goodwill were required. However, if the U.S. and global economic 
downturn were to be longer or more severe than anticipated 
in the forecast assumptions, there is a possibility that an 
impairment of goodwill may be required in future periods.

ASSet IMPAIRMeNtS 

CAPITAL ASSETS

Canfor reviews the carrying values of its long-lived assets on 
a regular basis as events or changes in circumstances may 
warrant. Where the carrying value of assets is not expected to 
be recoverable from future cash flows, they are written down 
to fair value. A review of the carrying values of Canfor’s sawmill 
and panelboard operations and various other assets was 
undertaken in 2008 and 2009 as a result of operating losses in 
both years and difficult market conditions.

The first step in this process was to determine for each 
operation whether projected undiscounted future cash flows 
from operations exceeded the net carrying amount of the 
assets as of the assessment date. For those operations where 
impairment was indicated, the second step was to calculate fair 
values using discounted future cash flows expected from their 
use and eventual disposition.

Estimates of future cash flows used to test the recoverability 
of Canfor’s long-lived assets generally include key assumptions 
related to forecast product prices and exchange rates. Other 
significant assumptions are the estimated useful life of the 
long-lived assets, and the impacts of both the Softwood Lumber 
Agreement with the U.S. and Mountain Pine Beetle epidemic. 
Price and foreign exchange forecasts for 2010 and beyond were 
determined with reference to Resource Information Systems, 
Inc. publications. 

As a result of its review, no impairment charges were 
required in relation to Canfor’s capital assets in 2009 (2008 – 
$77.2 million).

ASSETS RELATED TO HOWE SOUND PULP AND PAPER LIMITED 
PARTNERSHIP AND COASTAL FIBRE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

Canfor holds a 49.99% interest in Howe Sound Pulp and Paper 
Limited Partnership (“HSLP”) and a 50% interest in Coastal 
Fibre Limited Partnership (“CFLP”), an entity which supplies 
chips and logs and related services to HSLP. An impairment 
charge on assets related to HSLP and CFLP of $70.0 million was 
recorded in 2008, reflecting fair value based on estimated future 
cash flows. No further impairments were recorded in 2009. 

NON-BANK ASSET-BACKED COMMERCIAL PAPER

In 2008, an impairment of $10.2 million (US$8.4 million) was 
recorded in relation to the Company’s investment in non-bank 
asset-backed commercial paper (“ABCP”). These investments 
had failed to make payment on maturity and were subject to a 
restructuring plan, which was completed in January 2009. The 
ABCP was impaired to estimated fair value at December 31, 
2008. No further impairments were recorded in 2009.

OTHER

An impairment amount of $12.2 million was recognized for the 
year ended December 31, 2008 in relation to other investments 
and spare parts inventory at indefinitely idled operations. 

vALUAtIoN oF Log ANd FINIShed PRodUCt INveNtoRIeS

Solid wood inventories are written down to the lower of cost and 
net realizable value, which is determined by taking into account 
forecast prices and exchange rates for the period over which 
the inventories are expected to be sold. Forecast prices are 
determined using RISI forecasts and management’s estimates 
as at the year end, and may differ from the actual prices at 
which the inventories are sold. At the end of December 2009, the 
inventory balances included total write-downs of $25.7 million.

ALLoWANCe FoR doUbtFUL ACCoUNtS

An allowance for doubtful accounts of $2.1 million has been 
recorded at December 31, 2009 which reflects management’s 
assessment of risks attached to specific receivable balances. 
While significant bad debts have not been experienced in 
prior years, the provision is considered appropriate due to the 
continued downturn in the U.S. which may affect the ability of 
certain customers to pay amounts owed to the Company.
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goodWILL ANd deFeRRed StARt-UP CoStS

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the new CICA 
Handbook Section 3064 Goodwill and Intangible Assets. These 
requirements have been incorporated into the consolidated 
financial statements. 

This Section replaced Section 3062 Goodwill and Intangible 
Assets and Section 3450 Research and Development Costs, 
and establishes revised standards for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and 
intangible assets. On adoption of this new Standard, EIC 27 
Revenues and Expenditures During the Pre-operating Period is 
withdrawn and so various pre-production and start-up costs are 
required to be expensed as incurred. No material adjustments 
were required upon adoption of this new Standard.

FINANCIAL INStRUMeNtS

During 2009, the CICA amended Handbook Section 3862 
Financial Instruments – Disclosures to require enhanced 
disclosures about the relative reliability of the data that an entity 
used to measure the fair values of its financial instruments. 
Additional disclosures as required by this amendment include 
the classification of financial instruments measured at fair value 
at one of three levels according to the relative reliability of the 
inputs used in estimating fair values. These disclosures have 
been included in Note 26 to the financial statements. 

bUSINeSS CoMbINAtIoNS, CoNSoLIdAted FINANCIAL 
StAteMeNtS ANd NoN-CoNtRoLLINg INteReStS

The CICA has issued three new inter-related accounting 
standards, Handbook Sections 1582 Business Combinations, 1601 
Consolidated Financial Statements, and 1602 Non-controlling 
Interests. Prospective application of these new Sections is 
mandatory for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2011, with earlier adoption permitted. The CICA 
requires all three Sections to be adopted concurrently. Canfor 
expects to early adopt the new standards as of January 1, 2010.

Section 1582 will replace CICA Handbook Section 1581 
Business Combinations, and will bring the accounting for 
business combinations under Canadian GAAP in line with the 
accounting under International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). This will impact Canfor’s financial statements should a 
business combination, such as a merger or an acquisition, occur 
during the year.

Sections 1601 and 1602 replace CICA Handbook Section 1600 
Consolidated Financial Statements. Adoption of these Sections 
also reduces the differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS. 
The adoption of Section 1602 will have a significant impact on 
the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of 
income (loss) of Canfor. The non-controlling interest on Canfor’s 
balance sheet will be reclassified from long-term liabilities into 
equity, and the net income (loss) of non-controlling interests 
will no longer be deducted in arriving at the total net income 
(loss) of Canfor. As at December 31, 2009, the effect of applying 
the new Sections on Canfor’s balance sheet would be to reduce 
long-term liabilities by $273.3 million, and increase equity by 
the same amount.

INteRNAtIoNAL FINANCIAL RePoRtINg StANdARdS

In February 2008, the Accounting Standards Board announced 
that publicly accountable entities will be required to prepare 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS for interim and 
annual periods in fiscal years beginning on or after January 
1, 2011. More information on the adoption of IFRS can be 
found under “Conversion to International Financial Reporting 
Standards” on page 32.

Risks and uncertainties fall into the general business areas of 
markets, international commodity prices, competition, currency 
exchange rates, environmental issues, forest land base, 
government regulations, policy reform and labour disputes, and, 
for Canadian companies, a history of trade disputes and issues 
and Aboriginal land claims. The future impact of the various 
uncertainties and potential risks described in the following 
paragraphs (together with the risks and uncertainties identified 
under each of the Company’s business segments) cannot be 
quantified or predicted with certainty. However, Canfor does not 
foresee unmanageable adverse effects on its business operations 
from, and believes that it is well positioned to deal with, such 
matters as may arise. The risks and uncertainties are set out in 
alphabetical order.

AboRIgINAL ISSUeS

Canadian judicial decisions have recognized the continued 
existence in the country of Aboriginal rights, including title, 
to lands continuously used or occupied by Aboriginal groups. 
Although Aboriginal groups have claimed Aboriginal rights 
over substantial portions of B.C. no Aboriginal right or title has 
yet been determined in areas overlapping with Canfor’s forest 
tenures and other operations. While uncertainty regarding 
property rights in Canada (including forest tenure and other 
resource rights) continues to exist, particularly in those areas 
where treaties have not been concluded with Aboriginal groups, 
the Government of B.C. has provided greater certainty for the 
forest industry by reaching agreements on forest resources 
with many bands. As a means of protecting treaty and aboriginal 
rights, as well as undetermined aboriginal rights, Canadian courts 
continue to confirm a duty to consult with Aboriginal groups 
when the Crown has knowledge of existing rights or the potential 
existence of an Aboriginal right, such as title, and contemplates 
conduct that might adversely impact them. The courts have not 
extended this duty to third parties, such as forest companies.

CHanges in aCCounting poliCies

risks and unCertainties
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As issues relating to Aboriginal and treaty rights and 
consultation continue to be heard, developed and resolved 
in Canadian courts, Canfor will continue to cooperate, 
communicate and exchange information and views with 
Aboriginal groups and government, and participate with the 
Crown in its consultation processes with Aboriginal groups 
in order to foster good relationships and minimize risks to its 
tenures and operational plans. Due to their complexity, it is 
not expected that the issues regarding Aboriginal and treaty 
rights or consultation will be finally resolved in the short term 
and, accordingly, the impact of these issues on the timber 
supply from Crown lands and Canfor’s tenures and on Canfor’s 
operations is unknown at this time.

Canfor believes in building mutually beneficial and lasting 
relationships with local First Nations whose treaty rights 
or potential Aboriginal rights overlap with Canfor’s areas of 
operations. Some of these relationships with Aboriginal people 
have been formalized through agreements that generally seek 
to increase First Nations’ participation in Canfor’s planning and 
harvesting activities while strengthening Canfor’s access to fibre. 

eNvIRoNMeNtAL ISSUeS

Canfor’s operations are subject to environmental regulation 
by federal, provincial, state and local authorities, including 
specific environmental regulations relating to air emissions 
and pollutants, wastewater (effluent) discharges, solid waste, 
landfill operations, forestry practices, site remediation and the 
protection of endangered species and critical habitat. Canfor 
has incurred, and will continue to incur, capital expenditures 
and operating costs to comply with environmental laws and 
regulations. No assurance can be given that changes in these 
laws and regulations or their application will not have a material 
adverse effect on Canfor’s business, operations, financial 
condition and operational results. Similarly, no assurance 
can be given that capital expenditures necessary for future 
compliance with existing and new environmental laws and 
regulations could be financed from Canfor’s available cash 
flow. In addition, Canfor may discover currently unknown 
environmental issues, contamination, or conditions relating to 
its past or present operations. This may require site or other 
remediation costs to maintain compliance or correct violations 
or result in governmental or private claims for damage to 
person, property or the environment, which could have a 
material adverse effect on Canfor’s business, financial condition 
and operational results. 

Canfor has systems in place to identify, account for and 
appropriately address potential environmental liabilities. 
The Company also has governance in place including an 
Environmental Health and Safety Committee of the Board, an 
Environmental Management Committee including Officers of the 
Company, and environmental professionals on staff to manage 
potential risks, issues and liabilities.

Canfor has in place internal policies and procedures under 
which all its forestry and manufacturing operations are audited 
for compliance with laws and accepted standards and with 
its management systems. Canfor’s woodlands operations in 
Canada are third-party certified to internationally-recognized 
sustainable forest management standards. Canfor’s operations 
and its ability to sell its products could be adversely affected 
if those operations did not, or were perceived by the public as 
failing to, comply with applicable laws and standards, including 
responsible environmental and sustainable forestry standards.

On November 25, 2009, the B.C. Ministry of Environment 
released new greenhouse gas (“GHG”) reporting regulations 
under the Greenhouse Gas Reduction Act, requiring any 
facilities emitting more than 10,000 tonnes of CO2 gas to report 
2010 emissions in 2011. Based on this new regulation, a small 
number of Canfor’s sawmills and all of the pulp mills (including 
CPLP’s pulp mills) will have to register and report GHG 
emissions in 2011. GHG emission reporting has been required 
federally and in Alberta for several years. CPLP’s facilities 
have been reporting federally, however Canfor facilities have 
not triggered federal or Alberta reporting thresholds. Canfor is 
also a participant in the carbon offset market in Alberta, selling 
offset credits tied to its purchase of renewable heat and power 
from a biomass cogeneration facility in Grande Prairie.

FINANCIAL RISk MANAgeMeNt ANd  
eARNINgS SeNSItIvItIeS

Demand for forest products, both wood products and pulp 
and paper, is closely related to global business conditions and 
tends to be cyclical in nature. Product prices can be subject to 
volatile change. Canfor, like the majority of the Canadian forest 
products industry, competes in a global market and the majority 
of its products are sold in US dollars. Consequently, changes 
in foreign currency relative to the Canadian dollar can impact 
Canfor’s revenues and earnings. 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Canfor is exposed to a number of risks as a result of holding 
financial instruments. These risks include credit risk, liquidity 
risk and market price risk.

Canfor’s Risk Management Committee manages risk in 
accordance with a Board approved Price Risk Management 
Controls Policy. This policy provides the framework for risk 
management related to commodity price, foreign exchange, 
interest rate and counterparty credit risk.

(A) CRedIt RISk:

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to Canfor if a customer 
or third party to a derivative instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. 

Financial instruments that are subject to credit risk include 
cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and long-term 
investments and other. Cash and cash equivalents includes 
cash held through major Canadian and international financial 
institutions and temporary investments with an original 
maturity date of three months or less. 

Canfor utilizes a combination of credit insurance, letters of 
credit and self-insurance to manage the risk associated with 
trade receivables. Approximately 65% of the outstanding trade 
receivables are covered by credit insurance. Canfor’s trade 
receivable balance at December 31, 2009 is $137.2 million, net of 
an allowance for doubtful accounts of $2.1 million. At December 
31, 2009, approximately 97% of the trade accounts receivable 
balance was within Canfor’s established credit terms. 

(b) LIqUIdIt y RISk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that Canfor will be unable to meet 
its financial obligations on a current basis. Canfor manages 
liquidity risk through regular cash-flow forecasting in 
conjunction with maintaining in good standing adequate 
committed operating bank loan facilities.

At December 31, 2009, Canfor has operating loans of $0.6 
million, accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $211.4 
million and current debt obligations of $34.0 million (US$32.3 
million), all of which fall due for payment within one year of the 
balance sheet date.
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(C) MARket RISk:

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
interest rates, foreign currency and commodity prices.
(i) Interest Rate risk:

 Canfor is exposed to interest rate risk through its current 
financial assets and financial obligations bearing variable 
interest rates. Canfor’s cash and cash equivalents include 
term deposits with original maturity dates of three months 
or less. 

 Changes in the market interest rates do not have a 
significant impact on Canfor’s results of operations due to 
the short-term nature of the respective financial assets and 
obligations and because all long-term debt is based on fixed 
rates of interest.

 Canfor currently does not use derivative instruments to 
reduce its exposure to interest rate risk.

(ii) Currency risk:

 Canfor is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily related 
to the US dollar, as Canfor’s products are sold principally 
in US dollars and all long-term debt is denominated in 
US dollars. In addition, Canfor holds financial assets and 
liabilities primarily related to New South Companies Inc. 
based in South Carolina, in US dollars.

 A portion of the currency risk associated with US dollar 
denominated sales is naturally offset by US dollar 
denominated expenses and the US dollar denominated 
debt. Part of the remaining exposure is covered by option 
contracts (foreign exchange collars) that effectively limit the 
minimum and maximum Canadian dollar recovery related 
to the sale of those US dollars (See “Derivative Financial 
Instruments” section below).

(iii) Energy Price risk:

 Canfor is exposed to energy price risk relating to purchases 
of natural gas and diesel oil for use in its operations. 

 The exposure may be hedged up to 100% through the use 
of floating to fixed swap contracts or option contracts with 
maturity dates up to a maximum of three years. In the case 
of diesel oil, Canfor uses heating oil contracts to hedge its 
exposure (See “Derivative Financial Instruments” section 
below).

(iv) Commodity Price risk:

 Canfor is exposed to commodity price risk related to the 
sale of lumber, pulp, paper, and oriented strand board. 
From time to time, Canfor enters into futures contracts on 
the Chicago Mercantile Exchange for lumber and forward 
contracts direct with customers for pulp. Under the Price 
Risk Management Controls Policy, up to 15% of lumber sales 
and 5% of pulp sales may be sold in this way.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Subject to risk management policies approved by its Board of 
Directors, Canfor, from time to time, uses derivative instruments, 
such as forward exchange contracts and option contracts to 
hedge future movements of exchange rates and futures and 
forward contracts to hedge commodity prices. See section 
“Financial Requirements and Liquidity” for details of Canfor’s 
derivative financial instruments outstanding at year end.

SENSITIVITIES

Estimates of the sensitivity of Canfor’s pre-tax results to 
currency fluctuations and prices for its principal products, 
based on 2010 Business Plan forecast production and year-end 
foreign exchange rates, are set out in the following table:

Im p a c t o n a n n u a l  p r e - t a x e a r n in g s (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)

SPF lumber – US$10 change per Mfbm35, 36   $ 27
SYP lumber – US$10 change per Mfbm35 ,36   $ 5
Pulp – US$10 change per tonne35, 36, 37   $ 8
Ca nadian dollar – US$0.01 change per Canadian dollar:  

Operations37   $ 8 
US dollar denominated debt37   $ 3

(3 5 )  B a s e d o n s a l e s o f  C a nf o r - p r o d u ce d p r o d u c t . 
(3 6)  E xc l u d in g p ote nt ia l  c h a n g e in f ib r e co s t s .
(3 7 )  In c l u d e s C a nf o r ’s 5 0 . 2 % in te r e s t  in C P L P.

MARKET CONDITIONS 

Prices for lumber and panels in 2008 and 2009 have been at 
historically low levels, which has resulted in large operating 
losses incurred by the Company in both years, and significant 
asset impairments recorded in 2008. Should the U.S. and 
global economic slowdown continue for an extended period 
of time, there exists a risk that the Company may not remain 
in compliance with its debt covenants and would have to 
renegotiate the terms of its borrowing agreements with lenders.

goveRNMeNt RegULAtIoN 

Canfor is subject to a wide range of general and industry-
specific environmental, health and safety and other laws 
and regulations imposed by federal, provincial and local 
authorities, including those governing the use, storage, 
handling, generation, treatment, emission, release, discharge 
and disposal of certain hazardous materials and wastes, the 
remediation of contaminated soil and ground water and the 
health and safety of employees. If Canfor is unable to extend or 
renew a material approval, licence or permit required by such 
laws, or if there is a delay in renewing any material approval, 
licence or permit, Canfor’s business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows could be materially 
adversely affected. Future events such as any changes in these 
laws and regulations or any change in their interpretation or 
enforcement, or the discovery of currently unknown conditions, 
may give rise to additional expenditures or liabilities.

INCoMe tRUSt tAxAtIoN 

On June 12, 2007, legislation was substantively enacted 
whereby distributions made by publicly traded income trusts 
and partnerships will be taxed similar to that of income earned 
and distributed by a corporation. The Specified Investment 
Flow-Through Trust (“SIFT”) Tax will become effective on 
January 1, 2011. On March 12, 2009 the Canadian government 
enacted legislation (SIFT Conversion Rules) which enables 
the conversion of a SIFT entity into a corporation on a tax-
free rollover basis, prior to 2013. Canfor Pulp Income Fund 
has reviewed its options and intends to present a proposal for 
unitholders’ approval at its annual general meeting on April 27, 
2010 involving an internal restructuring under which unitholders 
will hold their beneficial interest in CPLP through a corporation 
rather than a trust. The Company does not consider that this 
change will have a material impact on its business.
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LAboUR AgReeMeNtS ANd CoMPetItIoN FoR 
PRoFeSSIoNAL SkILLed LAboUR 

Any labour disruptions and any costs associated with labour 
disruptions at Canfor’s mills could have a material adverse 
effect on its production levels and results of operations. 
Canfor’s various collective agreements with the USWA 
(United Steelworkers of America), the PPWC (Pulp, Paper 
and Woodworkers of Canada) and the CEP (Communications, 
Energy and Paperworkers Union) have terms expiring in June 
2009 (USW-Interior B.C.), January 2010 (USW-Uneeda), June 
2014 (PPWC) and February 2010 (CEP) respectively. Any future 
inability to negotiate acceptable contracts could result in a 
strike or work stoppage by the affected workers and increased 
operating costs as a result of higher wages or benefits paid to 
unionized workers. Canfor is currently engaged in negotiations 
with USW-Interior B.C. 

Market conditions may cause shortages of both professional 
and skilled labour, which could have an adverse impact on the 
operation and management of Canfor’s facilities.

MAINteNANCe obLIgAtIoNS ANd FACILIty dISRUPtIoNS 

Canfor’s manufacturing processes are vulnerable to operational 
problems that could impair Canfor’s ability to manufacture 
its products. Canfor could experience a breakdown in any of 
its machines, or other important equipment, and from time to 
time, planned or unplanned maintenance outages that cannot 
be performed safely or efficiently during operations must be 
conducted. Such disruptions could cause a significant loss 
of production, which could have a material adverse effect on 
Canfor’s business, financial condition and operating results.

MoUNtAIN PINe beetLe 

Timber affected by the Mountain Pine Beetle continued to be 
a focus for Canfor harvesting activities in B.C. in 2009. The 
impact of the infestation on Canfor’s operations continues to be 
manageable in the short term and, by applying new technology 
and best practices, the Company will continue to harvest in the 
dead pine stands. However, given the nature and extent of the 
infestation, the long-term operational and financial impact on 
Canfor may be significant. 

A major assumption about impact on harvest levels is the 
shelf life of the dead Lodgepole Pine, which represents the 
length of time the timber is commercially viable for sawlogs. 
Indications are that shelf life can vary from 3 to 15 years 
depending on soil moisture levels. In addition, utilization of the 
attacked fibre has been improved by adjustments to harvesting 
processes to allocate more of this timber to pulping operations. 

In 2010, the Chief Forester for the Province of B.C. is 
scheduled to review the Annual Allowable Cut (“AAC”) for six 
Timber Supply Areas, with Canfor having operations in five of 
these. At this time the review is not expected to significantly 
impact the AAC in these areas. 

In Alberta, the Mountain Pine Beetle outbreak continues to 
impact the quality of increasing amounts of fibre, with beetle 
flights from B.C. in August 2009 leading to additional outbreaks 
in previously non-infested areas. Government commitments to 
maintain funding of mountain pine beetle detection, monitoring 
and management programs into 2010 were secured, despite 
the significant revenue shortfalls experienced by the Alberta 
government in 2009. 

In February 2010, Canfor received approval for an 
amendment to its Forest Management Agreement (“FMA”) 
management plan in Alberta which is designed to increase 
harvesting of newly infested pine stands and pine stands that 
are most susceptible to beetle attack. The amendment resulted 
in an increase of approximately 13% in the AAC that will enable 
the Company to harvest the majority of highly susceptible pine 
stands in the FMA over the next fifteen years. 

obLIgAtIoNS to bC hydRo 

Effective September 15, 2009 CPLP finalized an amending energy 
agreement with BC Hydro which provides for the sale of power 
production that exceeds an amended commitment of the original 
cogeneration project at the Prince George Pulp and Paper mill. 
The obligation to produce power for the remainder of the term of 
the agreement, extending to August 2020, is reduced to 338 GWh 
per year from 390 GWh. Under the agreement, CPLP is required 
to post a letter of credit as security in annually decreasing 
amounts as the minimum required amount of electricity is 
generated. At December 31, 2009, CPLP had no repayment 
obligation under the terms of the agreement and a standby letter 
of credit in the amount of $16.0 million had been issued to BC 
Hydro as security for future power generation commitments.

ReSIdUAL FIbRe ReveNUeS 

Wood chips are a residual product of Canfor’s lumber 
manufacturing process and are primarily sold to CPLP. These 
chips are the principal raw material utilized by CPLP in its pulp 
manufacturing operations. Canfor has a Fibre Supply Agreement 
with CPLP, which contains a pricing formula that currently 
results in CPLP paying Canfor market prices for wood chips 
based on combined pulp market variability and CPLP product 
mix efficiencies. Canfor currently provides approximately 63% 
of CPLP’s chip requirements. If market conditions caused CPLP 
to cease pulp operations for an extended period of time, Canfor 
would have a limited market for its chip supply and this could 
affect its ability to run its sawmills economically. Similarly, 
if lumber market conditions were such that Canfor is unable 
to provide the current volume of chips to CPLP as a result of 
sawmill closures, whether temporary or permanent, CPLP’s 
financial results could be materially affected. 

SoFtWood LUMbeR AgReeMeNt 

The Softwood Lumber Agreement (“SLA”), in effect from 
October 2006, provides both Canada and the U.S. with rights 
to terminate the agreement. In order to terminate under all 
circumstances except one, the U.S. must provide a six month 
notice period, and cannot launch a new countervailing duty 
(“CVD”) or anti-dumping duty (“ADD”) investigation for 12 
months after termination. The exception is that the U.S. may 
terminate immediately and launch new CVD or ADD cases 
without the 12 month standstill if Canada is accused of an 
egregious breach of the SLA. Canada may terminate at any time 
with six months notice.

Any early termination of the SLA would likely result in the 
U.S. initiating a new CVD and ADD investigation, potentially 
leading to duties imposed on the Canadian lumber producers, 
including the Company.

In addition to the above, the SLA includes a “Surge 
Mechanism”, which increases the export tax rate for the month 
by 50% when the monthly volume of exports from a region 
exceeds a certain “Trigger Volume” as defined in the SLA. In 
2009, the Company paid surge tax of $0.9 million on shipments 
from Alberta.
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StUMPAge RAteS 

The B.C. government introduced a Market Pricing System 
(“MPS”) for the B.C. Interior on July 1, 2006. Canfor is actively 
participating in discussions on MPS with the Ministry of Forests, 
which is scheduled for its fourth annual update on July 1, 
2010. Canfor will continue to seek to manage and reduce the 
stumpage costs for its Interior operations under the stumpage 
appraisal system. The near-term imperative is to ensure that 
the stumpage system accurately reflects the market value 
of timber and is responsive to the deteriorating quality of the 
beetle-impacted fibre. Changes to the stumpage system and 
resultant stumpage rates could have a material impact on 
Canfor’s business.

tRANSPoRtAtIoN SeRvICeS 

Canfor relies primarily on third parties for transportation of 
its products, as well as delivery of raw materials, a significant 
portion of which are transported by railroad, trucks and ships. 
If any of Canfor’s third party transportation providers were to 
fail to deliver the raw materials or products or distribute them 
in a timely manner, Canfor may be unable to sell those products 
at full value, or at all, or unable to manufacture its products 
in response to customer demand, which could have a material 
adverse effect on Canfor’s financial condition and operating 
results. In addition, if any of these third parties were to cease 
operations or cease doing business with Canfor, the Company’s 
operations or cost structure may be adversely impacted.

outstanding sHare data

disClosure Controls and internal Controls over finanCial reporting

Conversion to international finanCial reporting standards

At February 10, 2010, there were 142,589,297 common shares 
issued and outstanding. In addition, at February 10, 2010, there 
were 200,468 stock options outstanding with exercise prices 
ranging from $8.30 to $10.10 per share.

The Company has established disclosure controls and 
procedures to ensure that information disclosed in this MD&A 
and the related financial statements was properly recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported to the Board of Directors 
and the Audit Committee. The Company’s chief executive officer 
(“CEO”) and chief financial officer (“CFO”) have evaluated the 
effectiveness of these disclosure controls and procedures for 
the year ending December 31, 2009, and have concluded that 
they are effective. 

The CEO and CFO acknowledge responsibility for the design 
of internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”), and confirm 
that there were no changes in these controls that occurred 
during the year ended December 31, 2009 which materially 
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Company’s ICFR. Based upon their evaluation of these controls 
for the year ended December 31, 2009, the CEO and CFO have 
concluded that these controls are operating effectively.

In early 2008, the Accounting Standards Board announced 
that publicly accountable entities will be required to prepare 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for interim and annual periods in 
fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. 

The Company developed a conversion implementation plan 
to ensure that differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS 
that affect Canfor were identified and that any required changes 
to accounting processes and controls (including information 
technology systems) could be made in a timely manner to 
ensure a smooth transition on January 1, 2010. The conversion 
plan also includes elements to ensure the timely preparation 
of comparative information under IFRS for 2010, and to ensure 
efficient and accurate reporting under IFRS in 2011.

The Company has a project manager leading the conversion 
to IFRS, who is working with other members of the finance 
team to execute the elements of the implementation plan. 
The implementation team is working closely with senior 
management in a number of different business areas to ensure 
that the impacts of the conversion throughout the business are 
managed in a timely and efficient manner. A steering committee 
is overseeing the project.

Canfor has reviewed the impact of IFRS on its systems, 
processes and controls. No significant impacts were identified 
in relation to its information systems or day-to-day accounting 
processes. Canfor is reviewing its disclosure controls and 
procedures and will update these as required to ensure that 
they are appropriate for reporting under IFRS. In addition, 
various training sessions have been carried out for those 
employees impacted by the transition to IFRS, with further 
training to be provided as required prior to changeover in 2011.

SIgNIFICANt ACCoUNtINg IMPACtS oF CoNveRSIoN  
to IFRS FoR CANFoR

A number of differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS  
have been identified that are expected to have a significant 
impact on Canfor’s financial statements. The Company is 
currently in the process of quantifying these differences in 
order to prepare an opening balance sheet under IFRS as 
of January 1, 2010. The areas that are expected to have a 
significant impact on Canfor are explained below. Since the 
process of finalizing the accounting impacts of the conversion 
to IFRS is still ongoing and the accounting standards will 
continue to evolve through 2011, it is possible that further 
differences may arise that could have a significant impact on 
the Company’s financial statements under IFRS.
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IFRS 1 “FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL  
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS” 

As a first-time adopter of IFRS, the Company is required to apply 
IFRS 1 “First time adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards”. IFRS 1 provides a number of optional exemptions 
to first-time adopters. The exemptions which are significant to 
Canfor, and it currently plans to take are noted below.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The methodology used to determine if an asset should be 
impaired is somewhat different under IFRS to that under 
Canadian GAAP. The Canadian GAAP rules provide for a two-
step test, with no impairment being required if the undiscounted 
future expected cash flows relating to an asset are higher than 
the carrying value of that asset. Under IFRS, the undiscounted 
cash flows are not considered and an impairment is recorded 
where the recoverable amount (defined as the higher of ‘value 
in use’ and ‘fair value less costs to sell’) is below the asset’s 
carrying value. This difference may result in an impairment 
being recorded under IFRS, but not under Canadian GAAP, and 
therefore require an opening balance sheet adjustment under 
IFRS. If an impairment is required under IFRS, the future annual 
amortization expense would be reduced due to the lower base 
value of the assets.

In addition under IFRS, timber licenses will be classified 
separately as an intangible asset on the balance sheet.

One further adjustment to the opening balance sheet is 
expected to be the reclassification of major inspection and 
overhaul expenses at CPLP’s pulp mills to property, plant  
and equipment, where such amounts occur at regular intervals 
over the life of the asset and those intervals are over one  
year. This adjustment would result in the related expenses  
being reclassified to capital assets and a higher amortization 
expense being recorded going forward. This would have a 
positive impact on the Company’s EBITDA under IFRS  
compared to Canadian GAAP.

EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

IFRS 1 provides an exemption that allows a company 
transitioning to IFRS to recognize all unamortized actuarial 
gains and losses in its opening balance sheet on transition. 
This adjustment would impact retained earnings at the opening 
balance sheet date. Canfor plans to take this exemption. 

IFRS also provides different options for the treatment of 
these actuarial gains and losses going forward than those 
available under Canadian GAAP. One of these options is to 
recognize the full amounts of such gains and losses in the 
Company’s balance sheet each year, with the adjustment 
recorded to Other Comprehensive Income, rather than 
recognizing these amounts through the income statement over 
a number of years. Canfor plans to take this option.

In addition, under IFRS past service costs associated  
with defined benefit plans that have fully vested are required to 
be expensed immediately. Under Canadian GAAP, these may be 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining 
service period of active employees. This will have an impact  
on Canfor’s opening balance sheet and future employee  
benefit expense. 

JOINT VENTURES

Canadian GAAP allows for the use of proportional consolidation 
in the accounting for joint ventures. This is also currently 
allowed under IFRS, however it is expected that future changes 
may remove this option and permit only the equity method 
of accounting for such interests. This would affect a number 
of Canfor’s balance sheet and income statement line items, 
specifically in relation to the Company’s interest in the Peace 
Valley OSB joint venture as these items would be presented as 
one line item on each of these statements.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, INCLUDING 
PRESENTATION OF MINORITY INTERESTS 

IFRS requires that minority interests be treated as a component 
of equity, rather than as a liability, in the Company’s balance 
sheet. In addition, under IFRS the related income (loss) is no 
longer deducted in arriving at net income (loss), but disclosed 
separately on the face of the income statement. As noted in the 
section “Changes in Accounting Policy” earlier in this document, 
effective January 1, 2010, Canfor has also elected to early adopt a 
new standard under Canadian GAAP which is aligned with IFRS. 

In addition to the other changes noted in this section, a 
number of other reclassifications between line items on the 
financial statements are expected under IFRS.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

IFRS 1 provides an exemption that allows companies 
transitioning to IFRS not to restate business combinations 
entered into prior to the date of transition. Canfor plans to 
take this exemption. In addition, the Company has elected 
to early adopt a new standard under Canadian GAAP from 
January 1, 2010 which would align the accounting for business 
combinations under Canadian GAAP to IFRS, should any such 
combinations occur in 2010.

FOREIGN ExCHANGE

IFRS 1 provides an exemption that allows a Company to reset its 
cumulative translation account to zero at the date of transition, 
with the balance being transferred to opening retained 
earnings. Canfor plans to take this exemption.

PROVISIONS

The threshold for recognition of provisions under IFRS is lower 
than that under Canadian GAAP. Under IFRS, a provision must 
be recorded where required payment is “probable”, which is a 
lower threshold than “likely” under Canadian GAAP. This could 
result in additional provisions being required on transition 
to IFRS. The measurement of those provisions may also be 
adjusted, with IFRS requiring the mid-point in a range of 
potential outcomes to be used, whereas Canadian GAAP permits 
use of an amount at the low end of the range where no amount 
within the range is indicated as a better estimate than any other. 
Measurement of provisions may also be affected by differences 
in the required calculation, such as the determination of the 
discount rate to be used. 

INCOME TAxES

Canfor is currently in the process of completing its review of the 
impacts of the transition to IFRS related to income taxes. 

Additional information about the Company, including its 2009 Annual Information Form, is available at www.sedar.com or at www.canfor.com
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The information and representations in these consolidated 
financial statements are the responsibility of management and 
have been approved by the Board of Directors. The consolidated 
financial statements were prepared by management in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
Canada and, where necessary, reflect management’s best 
estimates and judgments at this time. It is reasonably possible 
that circumstances may arise which cause actual results 
to differ. Management does not believe it is likely that any 
differences will be material. 

Canfor maintains systems of internal accounting controls, 
policies and procedures to provide reasonable assurance as to 
the reliability of the financial records and the safeguarding of  
its assets. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that 
management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting 
and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the 
financial statements. The Board carries out these activities 
primarily through its Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is comprised of three Directors who 
are not employees of the Company. The Committee meets 
periodically throughout the year with management, external 
auditors and internal auditors to review their respective 
responsibilities, results of the reviews of internal accounting 
controls, policies and procedures and financial reporting 
matters. The external and internal auditors meet separately 
with the Audit Committee.

The consolidated financial statements have been reviewed 
by the Audit Committee, which recommended their approval by 
the Board of Directors. The consolidated financial statements 
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the 
external auditors, whose report follows.

February 10, 2010

James F. Shepard Thomas Sitar
President and Vice-President Finance and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

to the Shareholders of Canfor Corporation
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Canfor 
Corporation as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the 
consolidated statements of income (loss), changes in 
shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss) and 
cash flows for each of the years in the two year period ended 
December 31, 2009. These consolidated financial statements 
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results 
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the 
two year period ended December 31, 2009 in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

February 10, 2010

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, BC

management’s responsibility

auditors’ report 
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A s a t  D e ce m b e r 31 (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

ASSetS
Current Assets
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 133.4 $ 362.4
 Accounts receivable
  Trade (N ote 3 )  137.2  105.9
  Other  41.9  93.7
 Income taxes recoverable   45.5  47.1
 Future income taxes, net (N ote 2 3)  11.4  31.2
 Inventories (N ote 4 )  311.3  404.9
 Prepaid expenses  36.4  35.1
Total current assets  717.1  1,080.3
Long-term investments and other (N ote 5 )  93.7  125.7
Property, plant, equipment and timber (N ote 6 )  1,676.6  1,798.5
goodwill   73.3  85.7
deferred charges (N ote 7 )  117.1  110.2
   $ 2,677.8 $ 3,200.4

LIAbILIIteS    
Current Liabilities
 Operating loans (N ote 8 ) $ 0.6 $ 25.2
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (N ote 9 )  211.4  322.9
 Current portion of long-term debt (N ote 10 )  34.0  168.3
 Current portion of deferred reforestation obligation (N ote 12 )  27.8  32.5
Total current liabilities  273.8  548.9
Long-term debt (N ote 10 )  333.3  428.7
Long-term accrued liabilities and obligations (N ote 11)  209.8  208.8
Future income taxes, net (N ote 2 3)  200.8  242.4
Non-controlling interests  273.3  276.8
   $ 1,291.0 $ 1,705.6
ShARehoLdeRS’ eqUIty
Share capital (N ote 15 ) $ 1,124.7 $ 1,124.7
Contributed surplus  31.9  31.9
Retained earnings  246.2  316.7
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  (16.0)  21.5
   $ 1,386.8 $ 1,494.8
   $ 2,677.8 $ 3,200.4

Commitments and contingencies (N ote 31)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

APPROVED BY THE BOARD

Director, R.S. Smith Director, J.F. Shepard

Consolidated balanCe sHeets



CA NFoR CoRP oR AtIoN A NNUA L ReP oRt 20 0936

Ye a r s e n d e d D e ce m b e r 31 (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Sales $ 2,120.4 $ 2,611.6
Costs and expenses    
 Manufacturing and product costs  1,633.0  1,953.1
 Freight and other distribution costs  410.4  476.2
 Export taxes   48.7  55.1
 Amortization  155.3  171.2
 Selling and administration costs  53.5  60.6
 Restructuring, mill closure and severance costs (N ote 17 )  29.9  53.5
    2,330.8  2,769.7
operating income (loss)  (210.4)  (158.1)

Interest expense, net (N ote 18 )  (29.3)  (25.4)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on long-term debt and investments, net  50.4  (100.3)
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments (N ote 2 6)  24.4  (88.5)
Gain on sale of mill property (N ote 19)  44.6  –
North Central Plywoods mill fire, net (N ote 2 0 )  (3.0)  57.9
Prince George Pulp and Paper mill fire, net   –  8.2
Asset impairments (N ote 21)  –  (169.6)
Other income (expense), net (N ote 2 2 )  (11.4)  12.7
Net income (loss) before income taxes and non-controlling interests  (134.7)  (463.1)
Income tax recovery (N ote 2 3)  71.9  141.9
Non-controlling interests  (7.7)  (24.0)
Net income (loss) $ (70.5) $ (345.2)

Per common share (in dollars) (N ote 2 4 )    
Net income (loss) – Basic and Diluted $ (0.50) $ (2.42)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statements of inCome (loss)
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A s a t  D e ce m b e r 31 (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ equity

Share capital    
Balance at beginning and end of year (N ote 15 ) $ 1,124.7 $ 1,124.7

Contributed surplus    
Balance at beginning and end of year $ 31.9 $ 31.9

Retained earnings    
Balance at beginning of year $ 316.7 $ 692.5
Change in accounting for inventories (N ote 2 )  –  (30.6)
Net income (loss) for the year  (70.5)  (345.2)
Balance at end of year $ 246.2 $ 316.7

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    
Balance at beginning of year $ 21.5 $ (32.0)
Net change in foreign exchange translation adjustment on self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries  (37.6)  54.2
Reclassification to income of losses on derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges 
 in prior years  0.1  (0.7)
Balance at end of year $ (16.0) $ 21.5

total shareholders’ equity – balance at end of year $ 1,386.8 $ 1,494.8

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)    

Net income (loss) for the year $ (70.5) $ (345.2)

other comprehensive income (loss)    
Net change in foreign exchange translation adjustment on self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries  (37.6)  54.2
Reclassification to income of losses on derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges 
 in prior years  0.1  (0.7)
Other comprehensive income (loss)  (37.5)  53.5

total comprehensive income (loss) $ (108.0) $ (291.7)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statements of CHanges in sHareHolders’ eQuity  
and CompreHensive inCome (loss)
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Ye a r s e n d e d D e ce m b e r 31 (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Cash generated from (used in)
operating activities
Net income (loss) for year $ (70.5) $ (345.2)
Items not affecting cash:    
 Amortization  155.3  171.2
 Future income taxes  (22.5)  (94.0)
 Long-term portion of deferred reforestation  (2.8)  (2.5)
 Gain on sale of mill property (N ote 19)  (44.6)  –
 North Central Plywoods mill fire, net (N ote 2 0 )  3.0  (57.9)
 Prince George Pulp & Paper mill fire, net   –  (8.2)
 Foreign exchange (gain) loss on translation of long-term debt and investments, net  (50.4)  100.3
 Changes in mark-to-market values of derivative financial instruments  (65.5)  79.3
 Asset impairments (N ote 21)  –  169.6
 Employee future benefits  11.4  7.9
 Non-controlling interests  7.7  24.0
 Other, net  8.0  15.3
    (70.9)  59.8
Net proceeds from replacement of derivative financial instruments  –  11.0
Salary pension plan contributions  (16.4)  (15.9)
Deferred scheduled maintenance spending  (10.5)  (8.7)
Net change in non-cash working capital (N ote 2 5 )  29.2  105.6
    (68.6)  151.8
Financing activities    
 Repayment of long-term debt (N ote 10 )  (175.5)  (14.8)
 Increase (decrease) in operating loans (N ote 8 )  (24.6)  25.2
 Cash distributions paid to non-controlling interests  (8.9)  (52.3)
 Other, net  0.7  (0.5)
    (208.3)  (42.4)
Investing activities    
 Additions to property, plant, equipment and timber  (59.0)  (80.2)
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant, equipment and timber  55.3  5.6
 Proceeds from North Central Plywoods mill fire claim (N ote 2 0 )  33.3  30.0
 Proceeds from Prince George Pulp & Paper mill fire claim   –  9.5
 Advances to affiliated companies  –  (11.5)
 Interest received for restructuring period of asset-backed commercial paper (N ote 5 )  4.5  –
 Proceeds from redemption of asset-backed commercial paper (N ote 5 )  15.4  –
 Other, net  0.1  (1.8)
    49.6  (48.4)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash and cash equivalents of self-sustaining foreign operations  (1.7)  5.9
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (229.0)  66.9
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  362.4  295.5
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 133.4 $ 362.4

    
Cash receipts (payments) in the year    
 Interest, net $ (29.5) $ (26.6)
 Income taxes $ 52.0 $ 137.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated CasH flow statements
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These consolidated financial statements of Canfor Corporation 
are expressed in Canadian dollars and are prepared in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”).

bASIS oF CoNSoLIdAtIoN

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 
Canfor Corporation and its subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to 
as “Canfor” or “the Company”. Significant subsidiaries include 
100% of Canadian Forest Products Ltd., 100% of New South 
Companies Inc., and 50.2% of Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership 
(“CPLP”). Investments over which the Company exercises 
significant influence are accounted for using the equity method, 
in which the original investment is recorded at cost and is 
subsequently adjusted for Canfor’s share of post-acquisition 
earnings. Joint ventures, which include Canfor-LP OSB Limited 
Partnership (“Canfor-LP OSB”) and Coastal Fibre Limited 
Partnership (“CFLP”) are proportionately consolidated (Note 
28). Investments over which Canfor does not exercise significant 
influence are accounted for using the cost method, in which the 
original investment is recorded at cost and investment income 
distributions are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of 
Income (Loss).

USe oF eStIMAteS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
Canadian GAAP requires management to make estimates  
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the 
financial statements and accompanying notes. Canfor regularly 
reviews its estimates and assumptions, however, it is possible 
that circumstances may arise which cause actual results to 
differ from management estimates, and these differences  
could be material.

Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates 
are the allowance for doubtful accounts, income tax provisions, 
inventory valuations, amortization rates, deferred reforestation 
costs, asset retirement obligations, environmental remediation 
costs, provisions for insurance claims, pension and other benefit 
plan assumptions, and the valuation of goodwill, long-lived 
assets, and financial instruments, including investments and 
non-bank asset-backed commercial paper (“ABCP”).

CASh ANd CASh eqUIvALeNtS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in bank accounts and 
highly liquid money market instruments with maturities of three 
months or less from the date of acquisition, and are valued at 
cost, which approximates market value. Interest is earned at 
variable rates dependent on amount, credit quality and term.

INveNtoRIeS

Inventories are valued at the lower of average cost and net 
realizable value.

PRoPeRty, PLANt, eqUIPMeNt ANd tIMbeR

Costs of major replacements, extensions and improvements to 
plant and equipment are capitalized, together with related interest 
incurred on major projects during the construction period.

Property, plant, equipment and timber assets are amortized 
over the following estimated productive lives:

Timber – renewable licenses 60 years
Buildings 5 to 50 years
Pulp and kraft paper machinery and equipment 20 years
Sawmill machinery and equipment  5 to 15 years
Plywood machinery and equipment 5 to 15 years
Oriented strand board machinery and equipment 10 to 20 years
Logging roads and bridges 5 to 25 years
Logging machinery and equipment 4 to 20 years
Mobile equipment 5 years

Amortization of logging and manufacturing assets is 
calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful productive 
lives of those assets, based on available operating days.

Amounts capitalized as timber, which comprise tree farm 
licenses and timber licenses that are renewable with the 
Provinces of British Columbia and Alberta, are amortized over 
60 years. Non-renewable licenses are amortized over the period 
of the license. 

LoNg-LIved ASSetS

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment when the 
occurrence of events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable, as 
measured by comparing their net book value to the estimated 
future cash flows generated by their use and eventual 
disposition. Impaired assets are recorded at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value, determined principally using 
discounted future cash flows expected from their use and 
eventual disposition (see Note 21).

1. signifiCant aCCounting poliCies

December 31, 2009 and 2008

notes to tHe Consolidated finanCial statements
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goodWILL

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price paid for an 
acquisition of a business over the fair value of the net assets 
acquired. Goodwill, all of which is denominated in US dollars for 
Canfor, is not amortized but is assessed annually for impairment, 
or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that it may 
be impaired. The fair value of goodwill is estimated in the same 
manner as goodwill is determined at the time of acquisition. 
There was no write-down to goodwill in 2009 or 2008.

deFeRRed ReFoReStAtIoN obLIgAtIoN

Forestry legislation in British Columbia and Alberta requires 
Canfor to incur the cost of reforestation on its forest, timber and 
tree farm licenses. Accordingly, Canfor records the fair value 
of the costs of reforestation in the period in which the timber is 
cut, with the fair value of the liability determined with reference 
to the present value of estimated future cash flows using a 
credit adjusted risk free rate. In periods subsequent to the initial 
measurement, changes in the liability resulting from the passage 
of time and revisions to fair value calculations are recognized 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) as they occur. 
These costs are included in manufacturing and product costs.

eNvIRoNMeNtAL ReMedIAtIoN CoStS

Costs associated with environmental remediation obligations 
are accrued and expensed when such costs are probable and 
can be reasonably estimated. Such accruals are adjusted 
as further information becomes available or circumstances 
change. Costs of future expenditures for environmental 
remediation obligations are discounted to their present value 
when the amount and timing of expected cash payments are 
reasonably determinable.

ASSet RetIReMeNt obLIgAtIoNS

Canfor recognizes the fair value of a liability for an asset 
retirement obligation in the period in which it is incurred when 
a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made and a legal 
obligation exists. The asset retirement costs equal to the fair 
value of the retirement obligations are capitalized as part 
of the cost of the related long-lived asset and allocated to 
amortization expense on a basis consistent with the expected 
useful life of the related asset. The liability is increased or 
accreted to full value with the passage of time based on the 
credit adjusted risk free interest rate with a periodic accretion 
expense charge to operating income. The liability is adjusted for 
any revisions to the timing or amount of the original estimate of 
undiscounted cash flows to discharge the liability.

eMPLoyee beNeFIt PLANS 

Canfor has various defined benefit and defined contribution 
plans that provide both pension and other retirement benefits 
to most of its salaried employees and certain hourly employees 
not covered by forest industry union plans. Canfor also provides 
certain health care benefits and pension bridging benefits to 
eligible retired employees.

Canfor accrues the costs and related obligations of the 
defined benefit pension and other retirement benefit plans using 
the projected benefit actuarial method prorated on service, 
and management’s best estimates of expected plan investment 
performance, salary escalation, and other relevant factors. For 
the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, 
those assets are valued at fair value. Actuarial gains or losses 
arise from the difference between the actual and expected long-
term rates of return on plan assets for a period or from changes 
in actuarial assumptions used to determine the accrued benefit 
obligation. The excess of the net accumulated actuarial gain or 
loss over 10% of the greater of the benefit obligation and the fair 
value of plan assets is amortized over the average remaining 
service period of the active employees. Past service costs 
arising from plan amendments are deferred and amortized 
on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service 
period of employees active at the date of the amendment. On 
January 1, 2000, Canfor adopted the new recommendations 
of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants relating 
to the accounting for pensions and other post employment 
benefits using the prospective application method. Canfor is 
amortizing the transitional balance on a straight-line basis over 
the average remaining service period of employees expected to 
receive benefits under the benefit plan as of January 1, 2000. 

Pension expense for the defined contribution plans is based 
on a percentage of employees’ salaries or on a contribution 
required under collective agreements.

For hourly employees covered by forest industry union 
defined benefit pension plans, the expense is equal to its 
contributions required under the collective agreements. 

ReveNUe ReCogNItIoN 

Canfor’s revenues are derived from the following major product 
lines: lumber, pulp, kraft paper, panel products, residual fibre 
and logs. Revenue is recognized from product sales when 
persuasive evidence of a sale exists, the sales price is fixed 
and determinable, when title has transferred and collectability 
is reasonably assured. Sales are reported net of discounts, 
allowances and vendor rebates. Amounts charged to customers 
for shipping and handling are recognized as revenue, and 
shipping and handling costs incurred by Canfor are reported as 
a component of costs and expenses. Lumber export taxes are 
also recorded as a component of costs and expenses.
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FoReIgN CURReNCy tRANSLAtIoN

The majority of Canfor’s sales and long-term debt are 
denominated in foreign currencies. Foreign currencies, except 
in respect of Canfor’s foreign operations, are translated into 
Canadian dollars using the temporal method as follows: 
monetary assets and liabilities at year-end exchange rates; 
non-monetary assets and liabilities at historical rates; and 
revenues and expenses at exchange rates prevailing at the time 
the transaction occurs. Exchange gains and losses are reflected 
in income immediately. 

Canfor’s foreign operations are considered to be 
self-sustaining and the assets and liabilities are translated using 
the current rate method. The translation gain or loss is included 
as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income 
(loss) in shareholders’ equity. Canfor’s self-sustaining foreign 
operations include New South Companies, Inc. and Canfor USA, 
both of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries based in the U.S.

INCoMe tAxeS

Canfor accounts for income taxes using the liability method. 
Under this method, future income tax assets and liabilities 
are determined based on the temporary differences between 
the accounting basis and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. 
Those temporary differences are measured using the current 
tax rates and laws expected to apply when the differences 
reverse. Future tax benefits, such as capital loss carry-
forwards, are recognized to the extent that realization of such 
benefits is considered more likely than not. The effect on 
future tax assets and liabilities of a change in income tax rates 
is recognized in earnings in the period that the substantive 
enactment date of the change occurs.

FINANCIAL INStRUMeNtS 

All financial instruments and derivatives are measured at  
fair value on initial recognition except for certain related  
party transactions. 

Canfor’s cash and cash equivalents and ABCP are classified 
as held-for-trading and are measured at fair value subsequent 
to initial recognition. Accounts receivable are classified as loans 
and receivables and are measured at amortized cost. Operating 
loans, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and long-
term debt, including interest payable, are classified as other 
liabilities, all of which are measured at amortized cost. 

Derivative instruments are recorded at fair value, including 
those derivatives that are embedded in financial or non-
financial contracts that are not closely related to the host 
contract. Canfor utilizes derivative financial instruments in 
the normal course of its operations as a means to manage its 
foreign exchange and commodity price risk. Canfor’s policy 
is not to utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or 
speculative purposes. 

The Company has chosen not to designate its derivative 
financial instruments as hedges. Consequently, such derivatives 
for which hedge accounting is not applied are carried on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value, with changes in 
(realized and unrealized) fair value being recognized as ‘Gain 
(loss) on derivative financial instruments’ in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income (Loss).

Canfor reviews all assets, including financial instruments, for 
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. 

StoCk-bASed CoMPeNSAtIoN PLANS 

Canfor has three stock-based compensation plans, as described 
in Note 16. No stock options have been granted since 2002.

Cash consideration received from employees when they 
exercise the options is credited to share capital. Compensation 
expense is recognized for Canfor’s contributions to the 
Employee Share or Unit Purchase Plans when they are made.

Compensation expense is recognized for Canfor’s Deferred 
Share Unit Plans when the deferred share units are granted, 
and changes in market value of the underlying shares are 
reflected in earnings at the end of each period. 

MAJoR MAINteNANCe CoStS

CPLP has adopted the deferral method of accounting for major 
maintenance costs. Under this method an asset is recorded 
when qualifying expenditures related to major maintenance 
are incurred. This asset is then amortized over the period to 
which the maintenance relates. CPLP has presented the related 
unamortized expenditures in prepaid expenses and long-term 
investments and other, as appropriate.
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CURReNt yeAR

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants’ (“CICA”) new Handbook 
Section 3064 Goodwill and Intangible Assets. These 
requirements have been incorporated into the consolidated 
financial statements. 

This Section replaced Section 3062 Goodwill and Intangible 
Assets and Section 3450 Research and Development Costs, 
and establishes revised standards for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and 
intangible assets. On adoption of this new Standard, EIC 27 
Revenues and Expenditures During the Pre-operating Period 
was withdrawn and so various pre-production and start-up 
costs are required to be expensed as incurred. No material 
adjustments were required upon adoption of this new Standard.

During 2009, the CICA amended Handbook Section 3862 
Financial Instruments – Disclosures to require enhanced 
disclosures about the relative reliability of the data that 
an entity uses to measure the fair values of its financial 
instruments. Additional disclosures as required by this 
amendment include the classification of financial instruments 
measured at fair value at one of three levels according to the 
relative reliability of the inputs uses in estimating fair values. 
These disclosures have been included in Note 26. 

PRIoR yeAR

Effective January 1, 2008, Canfor adopted the CICA’s new 
Handbook Sections: 1535 Capital Disclosures, 3031 Inventories, 
3862 Financial Instruments – Disclosures and 3863 Financial 
Instruments – Presentation. These sections resulted in 
additional disclosures in the Company’s financial statements. 
The revaluation of inventories on adoption of Section 3031 also 
resulted in a reduction of opening retained earnings for 2008  
of $30.6 million. 

FUtURe ChANgeS IN ACCoUNtINg PoLICy 

The CICA has issued three new inter-related accounting 
standards, Handbook Sections 1582 Business Combinations, 1601 
Consolidated Financial Statements, and 1602 Non-controlling 
Interests. Prospective application of these new Sections is 
mandatory for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2011, with earlier adoption permitted. The CICA 
requires all three Sections to be adopted concurrently. Canfor 
expects to early adopt the new standards as of January 1, 2010.

Section 1582 will replace CICA Handbook Section 1581 
Business Combinations, and will bring the accounting for 
business combinations under Canadian GAAP in line with the 
accounting under International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). This will impact Canfor’s financial statements should a 
business combination, such as a merger or an acquisition, occur 
during the year.

Sections 1601 and 1602 replace CICA Handbook Section 
1600 Consolidated Financial Statements. Adoption of these 
Sections also reduces the differences between Canadian GAAP 
and IFRS. The adoption of Section 1602 will have a significant 
impact on the balance sheet and income statement of Canfor. 
The non-controlling interest on Canfor’s balance sheet will be 
reclassified from long-term liabilities into equity, and the net 
income (loss) of non-controlling interests will no longer be 
deducted in arriving at the total net income (loss) of Canfor. As 
at December 31, 2009, the effect of applying the new Sections on 
Canfor’s balance sheet would be to reduce long-term liabilities 
by $273.3 million, and increase equity by the same amount.

2. CHanges in aCCounting poliCies

3. trade aCCounts reCeivable

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

    
Gross receivables $ 139.3 $ 108.9
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts  (2.1)  (3.0)
    $ 137.2 $ 105.9
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The non-bank asset-backed commercial paper (“ABCP”) of $41.1 
million (US$39.2 million) is measured at the estimated fair value 
of Canfor’s combined investments in asset-backed commercial 
paper of four different Canadian trusts with total original 
principal amount of US$81.2 million and original maturities 
between August and September 2007. 

In the first half of 2009, the Company received interest 
related to the restructuring period of its ABCP of $4.5 million 
(US$3.6 million) which was recorded as a reduction in its 
carrying value. Effective July 1, 2009, all interest received has 
been credited to the income statement ($0.2 million for the 
second half of 2009). In addition, in 2009 the Company received 
proceeds of $15.4 million (US$13.4 million) from the partial 
redemption of its ABCP, which were also credited against its 
carrying value. The balance of the movement in the ABCP 
between December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009 reflects the 
impact of the stronger Canadian dollar over the year.

5. long-term investments and otHer

6. property, plant, eQuipment and timber

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Non-bank asset-backed commercial paper $ 41.1 $ 69.3
Other investments  27.3  28.9
Customer agreements  16.8  22.9
Other deposits, loans and advances  8.5  4.6
   $ 93.7 $ 125.7

 2009 2008

    Accumulated   Accumulated
    Amortization   Amortization
    and Net book  and Net Book
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  Cost Impairments value Cost Impairments Value

Land  $ 42.0 $ 4.8 $ 37.2 $ 45.2 $ 4.8 $ 40.4
Pulp and kraft paper mills  1,350.1  814.9  535.2  1,337.6  765.9  571.7
Sawmills, plywood and oriented strand  
 board plants  1,257.5  788.3  469.2  1,289.4  756.2  533.2
Logging buildings and equipment  10.7  4.5  6.2  12.4  4.8  7.6
Logging roads and bridges  149.5  142.2  7.3  150.1  140.3  9.8
Other equipment and facilities  28.6  17.4  11.2  28.5  15.0  13.5
Timber  840.2  229.9  610.3  838.8  216.5  622.3
   $ 3,678.6 $ 2,002.0 $ 1,676.6 $ 3,702.0 $ 1,903.5 $ 1,798.5

Included in the above costs are assets under construction in the amount of $10.2 million in 2009 (2008 – $11.0 million), which were  
not amortized.

4. inventories

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Logs  $ 39.9 $ 49.1
Finished products  164.7  238.1
Residual fibre  22.3  25.3
Processing materials and supplies  84.4  92.4
   $ 311.3 $ 404.9

The above inventory balances are stated after inventory write-downs from cost to net realizable value, which mostly reflect  
historically low prices for solid wood products at both reporting dates. The write-downs for the various components of inventory  
at December 31 were:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Logs  $ 13.0 $ 16.2
Finished products  12.7  30.0
   $ 25.7 $ 46.2
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On a consolidated basis, at December 31, 2009, the Company 
had $445.6 million of unsecured operating loan facilities 
(December 31, 2008 - $432.0 million), of which $0.6 million 
was drawn down (December 31, 2008 - $25.2 million) and an 
additional $18.6 million was reserved for several standby letters 
of credit (December 31, 2008 - $41.4 million). The Company also 
had a separate facility to cover a $16.0 million standby letter of 
credit at December 31, 2009.

The Company’s operating loan facilities include two 
facilities in the amounts of US$12.9 million (“Facility A”) and 
US$34.1 million (“Facility B”) at December 31, 2009, which 
were negotiated in the first quarter of 2009. Facility A expires in 
January 2012, with the option of four one-year extensions, and 
is non-recourse to the Company under normal circumstances, 
except for an amount of US$6.7 million. Facility B expires in 
January 2011 and is non-recourse to the Company under normal 
circumstances. The ABCP assets of the Company have been 
pledged as security to support these credit facilities.

Excluding Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership (“CPLP”), the 
Company’s bank operating lines were $405.6 million (December 
31, 2008 - $357.0 million) of which $0.6 million was drawn 
down (December 31, 2008 - nil) and $18.1 million (December 
31, 2008 - $17.3 million) was reserved for several standby 
letters of credit, the majority of which relates to unregistered 
pension plans. Except for Facility A and Facility B, interest is 
payable at floating rates based on lenders’ Canadian prime rate, 
bankers acceptances, US dollar base rate or US dollar LIBOR 
rate, plus a margin that varies with the Company’s net debt to 
total capitalization ratio. Facility A and Facility B have similar 
terms, except that their interest rate is plus or minus a margin. 
Other than Facility A and Facility B, substantially all of the bank 
operating lines expire in June 2011. 

On September 30, 2009 CPLP completed a new $40.0 
million bank credit facility with a maturity date of November 
30, 2011, of which $0.5 million was utilized at December 31, 
2009 for standby letters of credit issued for general business 
purposes. In addition, CPLP has arranged a separate facility 
with a maturity date of November 30, 2011, to cover a $16.0 
million standby letter of credit issued to BC Hydro. The general 
terms and conditions of the new financing include interest 
payable at floating rates that vary depending on the ratio of net 
debt to operating earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, 
amortization and certain other non-cash items, and is based on 
lenders’ Canadian prime rate, bankers acceptances, US dollar 
base rate or US dollar LIBOR rate, plus a margin. 

As at December 31, 2009, and during 2009, the Company  
was in compliance with all covenants relating to its operating 
lines of credit.

8. operating loans

9. aCCounts payable and aCCrued liabilities

7. deferred CHarges

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Prepaid pension benefits  $ 114.8 $ 104.7
Other  2.3  5.5
   $ 117.1 $ 110.2

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Trade payables $ 97.6 $ 127.5
Accrued payroll and related liabilities  67.9  73.8
Derivative financial instruments  5.4  67.5
Restructuring, mill closure and severance costs  13.7  19.5
Interest payable  8.5  11.5
Other  18.3  23.1
   $ 211.4 $ 322.9
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On March 2, 2009, the Company repaid $99.7 million (US$77.3 
million) of privately placed senior notes (US$45.0 million at 
7.98% interest rate and US$32.3 million at 8.03% interest rate). 
On April 1, 2009, the Company repaid $75.8 million (US$60.0 
million) of 5.66% interest rate privately placed senior notes.

Canfor’s debt agreements include a restriction on the 
distribution of the Company’s retained earnings, with dividends 
restricted to an amount calculated under the terms of the debt 
agreements, and based upon earnings and dividends paid in 
previous periods. 

FAIR vALUe oF totAL LoNg-teRM debt

The fair value of total long-term debt at December 31, 2009 
was $377.4 million (2008 - $578.1 million). The fair value was 
determined using prevailing market rates for long-term debt 
with similar characteristics and risk profiles.

SChedULed LoNg-teRM debt RePAyMeNtS ANd 
INteReSt PAyMeNtS

Long-term debt repayments and interest payments are payable 
in the next four years as follows:

 Debt Interest 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) Repayments Payments

2010 $ 34.0 $ 21.4
2011  87.4  16.2
2012  52.3  11.9
2013  193.6  7.8
 $ 367.3 $ 57.3

10. long-term debt

11. long-term aCCrued liabilities and obligations

Canfor has the following long-term debt, all of which is unsecured:

SUMMARy oF LoNg-teRM debt

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Privately placed senior notes    
Canfor Corporation    
 US$45 million, interest at 7.98%, repayable March 1, 2009 $ – $ 55.1
 US$97 million, interest at 8.03%, repayable in 3 equal annual installments  
  commencing March 1, 2009  67.7  118.8
 US$60 million, interest at 5.66%, repayable April 1, 2009  –  73.5
 US$50 million, interest at 6.18%, repayable April 1, 2011  52.3  61.2
 US$50 million, interest at 6.33%, repayable February 2, 2012  52.3  61.2
 US$75 million, interest at 5.42%, repayable April 1, 2013  78.5  91.9

Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership  
 US$110 million, interest at 6.41%, repayable November 30, 2013  115.1  134.7

Other long-term obligations  1.4  0.6
    367.3  597.0
Less: current portion  (34.0)  (168.3)
   $ 333.3 $ 428.7

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Deferred reforestation obligation (Note 12) $ 60.3 $ 63.1
Accrued pension obligations (Note 13)  19.6  20.0
Accrued pension bridge benefit obligations (Note 13)  9.1  8.7
Other post-employment benefits (Note 13)  103.5  98.3
Asset retirement obligations (Note 14)  4.8  4.7
Other  12.5  14.0
   $ 209.8 $ 208.8
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The total undiscounted amount of the estimated cash flows 
required to settle the obligation at December 31, 2009 was $98.9 
million (2008 – $105.7 million) with payments spread over 16 years. 

The estimated cash flows have been adjusted for inflation and 
discounted using credit-adjusted risk-free rates ranging from 
4% to 9%.

Canfor has several funded and unfunded defined benefit plans, 
as well as defined contribution plans, that provide pension, other 
retirement and post-employment benefits to substantially all 
salaried employees and certain hourly employees. The defined 
benefit plans are based on years of service and final average 
salary. Canfor’s other post-employment benefit plans are non-
contributory and include a range of health care and other benefits.

Total cash payments for employee future benefits for 2009 
were $47.5 million (2008 - $50.3 million), consisting of cash 
contributed by Canfor to its funded pension plans, cash payments 
directly to beneficiaries for its unfunded other benefit plans, 
cash contributed to its defined contribution plans, and cash 
contributed to its forest industry union defined benefit plans.

deFINed beNeFIt PLANS

Canfor measures its accrued benefit obligations and the fair 
value of plan assets for accounting purposes as at September 
30 of each year. In 2009, Canfor had six registered defined 
benefit plans, for which actuarial valuations are performed 
every three years. The most recent actuarial valuation for 
funding purposes of Canfor’s single largest pension plan was 
as of December 31, 2006. The required plan valuation as of 
December 31, 2009 is currently being prepared. 

Information about Canfor’s defined benefit plans, in 
aggregate, is as follows:

12. deferred reforestation obligation

13. employee future benefits

The following table provides a reconciliation of the deferred reforestation obligation for the 2008 and 2009 years:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Reforestation obligation – beginning of year $ 95.6 $ 100.0
Expense for year  17.9  30.1
Accretion expense  3.4  3.6
Changes in estimated future reforestation expenditures  (6.1)  (8.5)
Paid during the year  (22.7)  (29.6)
Reforestation obligation – end of year $ 88.1 $ 95.6
Less: current portion  (27.8)  (32.5)
Long-term portion (N ote 11) $ 60.3 $ 63.1

DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN ASSETS

 2009 2008

   Pension other Pension Other 
   benefit benefit Benefit Benefit 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) Plans Plans Plans Plans

Fair market value of plan assets
Beginning of year $ 476.8 $ – $ 571.1 $ –
Actual gain (loss) on plan assets  2.1  –  (76.5)  –
Canfor contributions  24.8  4.4  22.3  3.4
Employee contributions  0.9  –  1.1  –
Benefit payments  (39.2)  (4.4)  (38.7)  (3.4)
Net transfer out  (1.9)  –  –  –
Settlement of Taylor sawmill plan  –  –  (2.5)  –
End of year $ 463.5 $ – $ 476.8 $ –

 
       
Plan assets consist of the following:
   2009 2008

A s s et c ategor y  Percentage of Plan Assets

Equity securities  58%  61%
Debt securities  41%  38%
Other   1%  1%
    100%  100%
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Excluded from the above tables are amounts relating to a 
defined benefit pension plan of New South Companies, Inc., 
which was curtailed in 2003, and Canfor USA. The accrued 
benefit assets of these plans at December 31, 2009 totalled $0.8 
million (2008 - $0.3 million).

Included in the above pension and other benefit provisions 
and fair value of plan assets at year-end are the following 
amounts in respect of plans that are not fully funded:

DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS

 2009 2008

   Pension other Pension Other 
   benefit benefit Benefit Benefit 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) Plans Plans Plans Plans

Accrued benefit obligation        
Beginning of year $ 510.6 $ 103.6 $ 570.2 $ 146.7
Current service cost  10.1  1.5  13.3  2.6
Interest cost  32.8  6.9  31.2  8.1
Employee contributions  0.9  –  1.1  –
Benefit payments  (39.2)  (4.4)  (38.7)  (3.4)
Settlement of Taylor sawmill plan  –  –  (2.5)  –
Net transfer out  (1.9)  –  –  –
Plan amendments  –  (0.1)  –  –
Curtailment gain  –  (0.6)  –  –
Actuarial (gain) loss   17.0  11.4  (64.0)  (50.4)
End of year $ 530.3 $ 118.3 $ 510.6 $ 103.6

RECONCILIATION OF THE FUNDED STATUS OF THE BENEFIT PLANS TO THE AMOUNTS RECORDED IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 2009 2008

   Pension other Pension Other
   benefit benefit Benefit Benefit
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  Plans Plans Plans Plans

Fair market value of plan assets $ 463.5 $ – $ 476.8 $ –
Accrued benefit obligation  (530.3)  (118.3)  (510.6)  (103.6)
Funded status of plan – surplus (deficit)  (66.8)  (118.3)  (33.8)  (103.6)

Employer contributions after measurement date  6.2  1.1  7.2  1.1
Unamortized transitional amount  (13.8)  11.8  (17.5)  13.9
Unamortized past service costs  2.6  0.7  3.0  1.2
Unamortized net actuarial (gain) loss   169.0  1.2  128.6  (10.9)

Accrued benefit asset (liability)  97.2  (103.5)  87.5  (98.3)
Valuation allowance  (2.8)  –  (2.8)  –
Accrued benefit asset (liability), net of valuation allowance $ 94.4 $ (103.5) $ 84.7 $ (98.3)

The accrued benefits asset (liability) is included in Canfor’s 
 balance sheet as follows:
Deferred charges  $ 114.0 $ – $ 104.7 $ –
Long-term accrued liabilities and obligations (N ote 11)  (19.6)  (103.5)  (20.0)  (98.3)
End of year $ 94.4 $ (103.5) $ 84.7 $ (98.3)

 2009 2008

   Pension other Pension Other 
   benefit benefit Benefit Benefit 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) Plans Plans Plans Plans

Fair market value of plan assets $ 434.3 $ – $ 395.2 $ –
Accrued benefit obligation  (510.0)  (118.3)  (440.2)  (103.6)
End of year $ (75.7) $ (118.3) $ (45.0) $ (103.6)

Of the $75.7 million of pension plan deficit at December 31, 
2009, $25.5 million relates to unregistered plans for which 
funding is not required (2008 - $25.1 million). Unregistered 
pension liabilities at December 31, 2009 include $12.9 million 
(2008 - $12.7 million) which are secured by a letter of credit.

“Other benefit plans” are not funded, except when 
expenditures are incurred.
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Canfor also provides pension bridge benefits to certain 
eligible former employees. At December 31, 2009, the 
actuarially determined obligation for those benefits was $15.9 
million (2008 - $15.4 million). The accrued benefit liability for 

those benefits at December 31, 2009 was $9.1 million (2008 - 
$8.7 million) (Note 11) and the related expense recognized in 
2009 was $1.7 million (2008 - $2.2 million).

Canfor’s expense for company-sponsored benefit plans is as follows:

 2009 2008

   Incurred Matching Recognized Incurred Matching Recognized
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  in year Adjustmentsa in year in Year Adjustmentsa in Year

Pension Benefit Plans
Current service cost $ 10.1 $ – $ 10.1 $ 13.3 $ – $ 13.3
Interest cost  32.8  –  32.8  31.2  –  31.2
(Return) loss on plan assets  (2.1)  (32.2)  (34.3)  76.5  (117.4)  (40.9)
Settlement/Curtailment loss  –  –  –  0.3  –  0.3
Plan amendments  –  0.4  0.4  –  0.4  0.4
Actuarial (gain) loss   17.0  (8.3)  8.7  (64.0)  67.0  3.0
Valuation allowance provided against accrued  
benefit asset  –  –  –  –  0.3  0.3
Amortization of transitional asset  –  (3.7)  (3.7)  –  (3.7)  (3.7)
   $ 57.8 $ (43.8) $ 14.0 $ 57.3 $ (53.4) $ 3.9

Other Benefit Plans            
Current service cost $ 1.5 $ – $ 1.5 $ 2.6 $ – $ 2.6
Interest cost  6.9  –  6.9  8.1  –  8.1
Plan amendments  (0.1)  0.4  0.3  –  0.1  0.1
Curtailment gain  (0.6)  –  (0.6)  –  –  –
Actuarial (gain) loss   11.4  (12.0)  (0.6)  (50.4)  52.6  2.2
Amortization of transitional obligation  –  2.1  2.1  –  2.0  2.0
   $ 19.1 $ (9.5) $ 9.6 $ (39.7) $ 54.7 $ 15.0

(a)  M atc h in g a d ju s tm e nt s a r e a cco unt in g a d ju s tm e nt s to a l l o c a te co s t s to d i f f e r e nt p e r i o d s s o a s to r e co gn ize th e l o n g - te r m n at ur e o f  e m p l o y e e f u t ur e b e n ef i t s .

SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS

The actuarial assumptions used in measuring Canfor’s benefit plan provisions are as follows:

 2009 2008

   Pension other Pension Other
   benefit benefit Benefit Benefit
( w e i ghte d a v e r a g e a s s um p t i o n s)  Plans Plans Plans Plans

Accrued benefit obligation as of December 31:        
Discount rate  6.25%  6.75%  6.60%  6.70%
Rate of compensation increase  3.00%  n/a  3.00%  n/a
Benefit costs for year ended December 31:        
Discount rate  6.60%  6.70%  5.60%  5.50%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets  7.50%  n/a  7.50%  n/a
Rate of compensation increase  3.00%  n/a  3.00%  n/a

ASSUMED HEALTH CARE COST TREND RATES

( w e i ghte d a v e r a g e a s s um p t i o n s)   2009  2008

Initial health care cost trend rate  7.15%  5.83%
Ultimate health care trend rate  4.20%  4.40%
Year ultimate rate is reached  2029  2014
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Canfor’s asset retirement obligations include $3.0 million in 
relation to landfill closure costs at CPLP. These obligations 
represent estimated undiscounted future payments of $40.6 
million to remediate the landfills at the end of their useful lives. 
The payments are expected to occur at periods ranging from 32 
to 40 years and have been discounted at rates from 5.8% to 6.3%.

Canfor has certain assets that have indeterminable useful 
lives and, therefore, there is an indeterminate settlement date 
for the related asset retirement obligations. As a result, no 
asset retirement obligations are recorded for these assets. 

These assets include wastewater and effluent ponds that 
will have to be drained once the related operating facility is 
closed and storage sites for which removal of chemicals, fuels 
and other related materials will be required once the related 
operating facility is closed. Once the useful life of these assets 
becomes determinable and an estimate of fair value can be 
made, an asset retirement obligation will be recorded.

It is possible that changes in future conditions in the near 
term could require a material change in the recognized amount 
of the asset retirement obligations.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect 
on the amounts reported for the other benefit plans. A one 
percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend 
rates would have the following effects for 2009:

 1% 1%  
 Increase Decrease

Accrued benefit obligation $ 20.0 $ 16.3
Total of service and interest cost $ 1.4 $ 1.1

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION AND OTHER PLANS

The total cost recognized in 2009 for Canfor’s defined 
contribution plans was $3.5 million (2008 - $3.6 million).

Canfor contributes to various forest industry union defined 
benefit pension plans providing both pension and other 
retirement benefits. These plans are accounted for as defined 
contribution plans. Contributions to these plans, not included 
in the cost recognized for defined contribution plans above, 
amounted to $14.5 million in 2009 (2008 - $17.4 million).

14. asset retirement obligations

15. sHare Capital

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Balance, beginning of year $ 4.7 $ 13.2
Accretion expense  0.3  0.4
Paid during the year  –  (1.2)
Gain on settlement  –  (0.9)
Change in estimate  (0.2)  (6.8)
Balance, end of year (Note 11) $ 4.8 $ 4.7

Authorized:
10,000,000 preferred shares, with a par value of $25 each
1,000,000,000 common shares without par value 

Issued:
 2009 2008

   Number of  Number of 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t n um b e r o f  s h a r e s) Shares Amount Shares Amount

Common shares, beginning and end of year  142,589,297 $ 1,124.7  142,589,297 $ 1,124.7
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eMPLoyee ShARe ANd UNIt PURChASe PLANS 

The Company has a share purchase plan, which is available 
to all employees, other than CPLP and New South employees. 
Purchases of common shares under this plan occur on the open 
market. Under the plan, employees can purchase up to 10% 
of their base salary or wage. Up to June 2007, the Company 
matched 30% of the first 5% of the amount contributed by the 
employee and paid the plan’s brokerage fees. During 2009 and 
2008, the Company has not made any contributions towards the 
purchase of its shares under the plan.

CPLP has a unit purchase plan, which is available to all 
CPLP employees. Purchases of Canfor Pulp Income Fund units 
under this plan occur on the open market. Under the plan the 
employees can purchase up to 10% of their base salary or wage. 
CPLP matches 30% of the first 5% of the amount contributed by the  
employee and pays the plan’s brokerage fees. In 2009, CPLP made  
contributions of $0.6 million towards the purchase of the units of 
Canfor Pulp Income Fund under the plan (2008 - $0.6 million). 

deFeRRed ShARe UNIt PLANS

On January 1, 2002, the Company implemented a Deferred 
Share Unit Plan for non-employee directors of the Company. 
A Deferred Share Unit (“DSU”) is a right granted to a non-
employee director to receive one common share of the Company, 
purchased on the open market, or the cash equivalent, on 
a deferred payment basis. The maximum number of DSUs 
outstanding under the plan is 1,000,000, and currently each non-
employee director is entitled to 2,500 DSUs per year. The value 
of the DSUs, when redeemed, is equal to the market value of the 
shares on the redemption date, including the value of dividends 
paid on the Company’s common shares, if any, as if they had 
been reinvested in additional DSUs on each payment date. The 
DSUs may only be redeemed upon a director’s retirement from 
the Company. The value of the outstanding DSUs at December 
31, 2009 was $0.8 million (2008 - $0.7 million). 

In May 2007, the Company implemented a Deferred Share 
Unit Plan (the “CEO Plan”) for the Company’s President and 
Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). Pursuant to the terms of the 
plan, the CEO receives his annual salary in DSU units, which 
are allocated on a monthly basis. The value of the DSUs when 
redeemed will be equal to the market value of the shares on 
the redemption date, including the value of dividends paid on 
the Company’s common shares, if any, as if they had been 
reinvested in additional DSUs on each payment date. The DSUs 
under the CEO Plan may only be redeemed on the date the CEO 
ceases, for whatever reason, to be employed by the Company. 
The value of the outstanding CEO DSUs at December 31, 2009 
was $1.4 million (2008 - $0.7 million).

 2009 2008

    Weighted  Weighted
   Number of Average Number of Average
   Shares  exercise Price Shares  Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year  200,468 $ 9.34  213,801 $ 9.39
Expired  –  –  (13,333)  10.18
Outstanding at end of year  200,468 $ 9.34  200,468 $ 9.34

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2009:

 Options outstanding Options exercisable

    Weighted
   Number of Average Weighted Number of Weighted
   Options Remaining Average Options Average
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding  Life (years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price

$8.30    63,800  1.1 $ 8.30  63,800 $ 8.30
$9.80 to $10.10    136,668  2.1  9.82  136,668  9.82
Outstanding at end of year    200,468  1.8 $ 9.34  200,468 $ 9.34

Canfor has three stock-based compensation plans, which are 
described below.

StoCk oPtIoN PeRFoRMANCe PLAN

The Company has a stock option performance plan pursuant to 
which stock options were granted to selected officers and senior 
managers. No new stock options were granted in 2009 or 2008. 
The stock option performance plan provided for the issuance of 

up to a maximum of 5.8 million common shares at an exercise 
price equal to the market price of the Company’s common 
shares on the date of grant. However, there are various criteria 
that limit the amount of options exercisable during each option 
year within the option period. The options are for a term of ten 
years and vest equally over three years. All granted options have 
fully vested. A summary of the status of the plan as of December 
31, 2009 and 2008, and changes during the years ending on those 
dates, is presented below:

16. stoCk-based Compensation
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Restructuring, mill closure and severance costs represent  
costs associated with the indefinite or permanent closures of 
facilities and staff reductions. The expense for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 amounted to $29.9 million (2008 - $53.5 

million) and substantially resulted from the indefinite closures 
of the Radium, Rustad and Vavenby sawmills, as well as the 
on-going closure costs of the Company’s PolarBoard and 
Tackama panels operations. 

For the year ended December 31, 2009, short-term interest 
expense, net is comprised of interest expense on operating 
loans and letter of credit charges of $5.3 million (2008 - $3.7 
million), offset by interest income on cash and cash equivalents 
and other receivables of $3.7 million (2008 - $13.2 million). 
Long-term interest expense, net relates substantially to interest 
expense on long-term debt.

In February 2009, the Company completed the sale of a property 
located in New Westminster, British Columbia, for net proceeds 
of $46.0 million. The property was the site of the Company’s 
former Panel and Fibre operation, which was permanently 
closed at the beginning of 2008. The sale transaction resulted in 
a pre-tax gain of $44.6 million.

17. restruCturing, mill Closure and severanCe Costs

18. interest inCome (expense)

19. sale of mill property

The following table provides a breakdown of the restructuring, mill closure and severance costs by business segment:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Lumber $ 20.9 $ 18.7
Unallocated and Other  9.0  34.8
   $ 29.9 $ 53.5

The following table provides a reconciliation of the restructuring, mill closure and severance liability for the 2008 and 2009 years:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Accrued liability at beginning of year $ 23.3 $ 29.8
Costs accrued in the yeara  29.9  39.8
Paid during the year  (34.1)  (46.3)
Accrued liability at end of year $ 19.1 $ 23.3

(a)  E xc l u d in g n o n - c a s h e x p e n s e s a n d r e co v e r i e s r e l a te d to p r o v i s i o n s f o r c a p i t a l  a s s et  a n d in v e nto r y w r i te - d o w n s r e s u l t in g f r o m in d ef in i te a n d p e r m a n e nt m i l l  c l o s ur e s .

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Interest expense $ (33.3) $ (38.7)
Less: Interest income  4.0  13.3 
Interest expense, net $ (29.3) $ (25.4)

Interest expense, net is comprised of:
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Short-term interest income (expense), net $ (1.6) $ 9.5
Long-term interest income (expense), net  (27.7)  (34.9)
Interest expense, net $ (29.3) $ (25.4)
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In April 2009, the Company reached a final settlement of the 
North Central Plywoods mill fire claim for gross proceeds of 
$65.5 million, less a deductible of $2.2 million, for net proceeds 
of $63.3 million. The Company received cash advances of $30.0 
million from its insurer in 2008 and the remaining amount of 
$33.3 million in the second quarter of 2009. The final settlement 

resulted in a pre-tax loss of $8.8 million in the second quarter of 
2009 of which $5.8 million was recorded to manufacturing and 
product costs and $3.0 million was recorded to North Central 
Plywoods mill fire, net. Under the terms of the settlement, there 
are no conditions attached to the use of the proceeds.

CAPItAL ASSetS

Canfor reviews the carrying values of its long-lived assets on 
a regular basis as events or changes in circumstances may 
warrant. Where the carrying value of assets is not expected 
to be recoverable from future cash flows, they are written 
down to fair value. A review of the carrying values of Canfor’s 
sawmill and panelboard operations and various other assets was 
undertaken in 2008 and 2009 as a result of operating losses in 
both years and difficult market conditions.

The first step in this process was to determine for each 
operation whether projected undiscounted future cash flows 
from operations exceeded the net carrying amount of the assets 
as of the assessment date. For those operations where an 
impairment was indicated, the second step was to calculate fair 
values using discounted future cash flows expected from their 
use and eventual disposition.

Estimates of future cash flows used to test the recoverability 
of Canfor’s long-lived assets generally include key assumptions 
related to forecast prices and exchange rates. Other significant 
assumptions are the estimated useful life of the long-
lived assets, and the impacts of both the Softwood Lumber 
Agreement with the U.S. and Mountain Pine Beetle epidemic. 
Price and foreign exchange forecasts for 2010 and beyond were 
determined with reference to Resource Information Systems, 
Inc. publications. 

As a result of its review, no impairment charges were 
recorded in relation to Canfor’s capital assets in 2009 (2008 – 
$77.2 million).

ASSetS ReLAted to hoWe SoUNd PULP ANd  
PAPeR LIMIted PARtNeRShIP ANd CoAStAL FIbRe 
LIMIted PARtNeRShIP

Canfor holds a 49.99% interest in Howe Sound Pulp and Paper 
Limited Partnership (“HSLP”) and a 50% interest in Coastal 
Fibre Limited Partnership (“CFLP”), an entity which supplies 
chips and logs and related services to HSLP. An impairment 
charge on assets related to HSLP and CFLP of $70.0 million 
was recorded in 2008, reflecting fair value based on estimated 
future cash flows. No such impairments were recorded in 2009. 

NoN-bANk ASSet-bACked CoMMeRCIAL PAPeR

In 2008, an impairment of $10.2 million (US$8.4 million) was 
recorded in relation to the Company’s investment in non-bank 
asset-backed commercial paper (“ABCP”). These investments 
had failed to make payment on maturity and were subject to a 
restructuring plan, which was completed in January, 2009. The 
ABCP was impaired to estimated fair value at December 31, 
2008. No further impairments have been recorded in 2009.

otheR

An amount of $12.2 million was recognized for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 in relation to other investments and spare 
parts inventory at indefinitely idled operations. 

20. settlement of nortH Central plywoods mill fire insuranCe Claim

21. asset impairments

22. otHer inCome (expense)

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Foreign exchange gain (loss) on translation of working capital $ (11.4) $ 17.3
Sawmill fire-related costs  (3.4)  –
Gain on sale of surplus property  4.7  –
Other, net  (1.3)  (4.6)
   $ (11.4) $ 12.7
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The tax effects of the significant components of temporary differences that give rise to future income tax assets and liabilities are  
as follows:
 2009 2008

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  Current Long-term Current Long-term

Future income tax assets        
 Accruals not currently deductible $ 12.4 $ 18.6 $ 23.2 $ 22.9
 Derivative financial instruments  0.7  0.4  21.2  1.0
 Non-capital loss carryforwardsa  –  34.6  –  18.4
 Investments  –  1.5  0.2  2.5
 Post employment benefits  –  27.1  –  27.5
 Other  –  6.8  0.2  8.4
   $ 13.1 $ 89.0 $ 44.8 $ 80.7
Future income tax liabilities        
 Depreciable capital assets $ – $ (244.9) $ – $ (270.8)
 Deferred pension and other costs  –  (33.1)  –  (33.2)
 Unrealized foreign exchange gains on debt  (1.7)  (8.2)  –  (7.1)
 Income from limited partnerships  –  –  (13.2)  –
 Other  –  (3.6)  (0.4)  (12.0)
   $ (1.7) $ (289.8) $ (13.6) $ (323.1)
Future income taxes, net $ 11.4 $ (200.8) $ 31.2 $ (242.4)

(a)  N o n - c a p i t a l  l o s s c a r r y f o r w a r d s e x p i r e o n d a te s b e t w e e n 2 0 2 7 a n d 2 0 2 9.

The components of income tax recovery are as follows:
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Current $ 49.4 $ 47.9
Future  22.5  94.0
   $ 71.9 $ 141.9

The reconciliation of income taxes calculated at the statutory rate to the actual income tax provision is as follows:
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Net loss before income taxes and non-controlling interests $ (134.7) $ (463.1)

Income tax recovery at statutory tax rate $ 40.4 $ 143.6
Add (deduct):
 Non-controlling interests  2.3  7.4
 Change in corporate income tax rates  7.3  9.1
 Entities with different income tax rates and other tax adjustments  2.9  4.4
 Tax recovery at rates other than statutory rate  2.8  3.5
 Permanent difference from capital gains and losses and other non-deductible items  16.2  (26.1)
Income tax recovery $ 71.9 $ 141.9

23. inCome taxes

Basic net income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing 
the net income (loss) available to common shareholders by 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share is 
calculated by dividing the net income (loss) available to common 
shareholders by the weighted average number of common 

shares during the period using the treasury stock method. 
Under this method, proceeds from the potential exercise of 
stock options are assumed to be used to purchase Canfor’s 
common shares. When there is a net loss, the exercise of stock 
options would result in a calculated diluted net loss per share 
that is anti-dilutive.

24. net inCome (loss) per sHare

   2009 2008

Weighted average number of common shares  142,589,297 142,589,297
Incremental shares from potential exercise of stock optionsa  –  1,778
Diluted number of common sharesa  142,589,297 142,589,297

(a)  W h e r e th e a d d i t i o n o f  s h a r e o p t i o n s to th e to t a l  s h a r e s o u t s t a n d in g h a s a n a nt i - d i l u t i v e im p a c t o n th e d i l u te d n et  in co m e ( l o s s)  p e r s h a r e c a l c u l a t i o n ,  th o s e s h a r e o p t i o n s 
h a v e n ot  b e e n in c l u d e d in th e to t a l  co m m o n s h a r e s o u t s t a n d in g f o r p ur p o s e s o f  th e c a l c u l a t i o n o f  d i l u te d n et  in co m e ( l o s s)  p e r s h a r e .
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CLASSIFICAtIoN ANd MeASUReMeNt oF  
FINANCIAL INStRUMeNtS

Canfor’s accounts receivable, other deposits, loans and 
advances, operating loans, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, and long-term debt are measured at amortized cost 
subsequent to initial recognition. 

Cash and cash equivalents, ABCP and derivative 
instruments are measured at fair value. CICA Handbook Section 
3862 Financial Instruments – Disclosures requires classification 
of these items within a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to 
fair value measurement. 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:
Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

The following table summarizes Canfor’s financial instruments 
at December 31, 2008 and 2009, and shows the level within 
the fair value hierarchy in which they have been classified (for 
financial instruments measured at fair value):

26. finanCial instruments

25. net CHange in non-CasH working Capital

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Accounts receivable $ (24.7) $ 89.6
Income taxes recoverable  1.6  89.6
Inventories  89.7  2.9
Prepaid expenses  (1.5)  (0.6)
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and current portion of deferred reforestation obligation  (35.9)  (75.9)
Net (increase) decrease in working capital $ 29.2 $ 105.6

 Fair Value
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  Hierarchy Level 2009 2008

Financial assets
Held for trading
 Cash and cash equivalents  Level 1 $ 133.4 $ 362.4
 ABCP  Level 2  41.1  69.3
 Derivative financial instruments  Level 2  1.9  2.1
Loans and receivables
 Accounts receivable  n/a  179.1  199.6
 Other deposits, loans and advances  n/a  8.5  4.6
Available for sale
 Cost-accounted investments in other entities  n/a  27.3  28.9
     $ 391.3 $ 666.9
Financial liabilities
Held for trading
 Derivative financial instruments  Level 2 $ 7.7 $ 71.4
Other liabilities
 Operating loans  n/a  0.6  25.2
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (excluding derivatives)  n/a  206.0  255.4
 Long-term debt  n/a  367.3  597.0
     $ 581.6 $ 949.0



55CoNSoLIdAted FIN A NCI A L S tAteMeNt S

FINANCIAL RISk MANAgeMeNt

Canfor is exposed to a number of risks as a result of holding 
financial instruments. These risks include credit risk, liquidity 
risk and market risk.

Canfor’s Risk Management Committee manages risk in 
accordance with a Board approved Price Risk Management 
Controls Policy. This policy provides the framework for risk 
management related to commodity price, foreign exchange, 
interest rate and counterparty credit risk.

(A) CREDIT RISK:

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to Canfor if a customer 
or third party to a derivative instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. 

Financial instruments that are subject to credit risk include 
cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and long-term 
investments and other. Cash and cash equivalents includes 
cash held through major Canadian and international financial 
institutions and temporary investments with an original 
maturity date of three months or less. The cash and cash 
equivalents balance at December 31, 2009 is $133.4 million.

Canfor utilizes a combination of credit insurance, letters of 
credit and self-insurance to manage the risk associated with 
trade receivables. Approximately 65% of the outstanding trade 
receivables are covered by credit insurance. Canfor’s trade 
receivable balance at December 31, 2009 is $137.2 million, net of 
an allowance for doubtful accounts of $2.1 million. At December 
31, 2009, approximately 97% of the trade accounts receivable 
balance was within Canfor’s established credit terms. 

(B) LIQUIDITY RISK:

Liquidity risk is the risk that Canfor will be unable to meet 
its financial obligations on a current basis. Canfor manages 
liquidity risk through regular cash-flow forecasting in 
conjunction with maintaining in good standing adequate 
committed operating bank loan facilities.

At December 31, 2009, Canfor has operating loans of $0.6 
million, accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $211.4 
million and current debt obligations of $34.0 million (US$32.3 
million), all of which fall due for payment within one year of the 
balance sheet date. 

(C) MARKET RISK:

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
interest rates, foreign currency and commodity prices.

(I) INteReSt RAte RISk:

Canfor is exposed to interest rate risk through its current 
financial assets and financial obligations bearing variable 
interest rates. Canfor’s cash and cash equivalents include term 
deposits with original maturity dates of three months or less. 

Changes in the market interest rates do not have a 
significant impact on Canfor’s results of operations due to 
the short-term nature of the respective financial assets and 
obligations and because all long-term debt is based on fixed 
rates of interest.

Canfor currently does not use derivative instruments to 
reduce its exposure to interest rate risk.

(II) CURReNCy RISk:

Canfor is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily related to 
the US dollar, as Canfor’s products are sold principally in US 
dollars and all long-term debt is denominated in US dollars. In 
addition, Canfor holds financial assets and liabilities primarily 
related to New South Companies Inc. based in South Carolina, 
in US dollars.

An increase (decrease) in the value of the Canadian dollar by 
US$0.01 would result in a pre-tax: (i) loss (gain) of approximately 
$0.5 million in relation to working capital balances denominated 
in US dollars at year end (including cash, accounts receivable 
and accounts payable); (ii) loss (gain) of approximately $0.4 
million in relation to the ABCP denominated in US dollars at year 
end; (iii) gain (loss) of approximately $3.2 million in relation to 
long-term debt denominated in US dollars at year end.

A portion of the currency risk associated with US  
dollar denominated sales is naturally offset by US dollar 
denominated expenses and the US dollar denominated debt. 
Part of the remaining exposure is covered by option contracts 
(foreign exchange collars) that effectively limit the minimum 
and maximum Canadian dollar recovery related to the sale of 
those US dollars.

An increase (decrease) in the value of the Canadian dollar by 
US$0.01 would result in a pre-tax gain (loss) of approximately 
$0.9 million in relation to the foreign exchange forward 
contracts held at year end.

Canfor had the following foreign exchange derivatives at December 31, 2009 and 2008:

 2009 2008

   Notional Amount exchange Rates Notional Amount Exchange Rates

   (m i l l i o n s o f  ( p r o te c t i o n / to p s i d e ,  (m i l l i o n s o f  ( p r o te c t i o n / to p s i d e ,

US dollar collars U S d o l l a r s)  p e r d o l l a r )  U S d o l l a r s)  p e r d o l l a r )

0-12 months
US Dollar Collars  $ 12.0 $ 1.0500 / $ 1.2200 $ 397.0 $ 0.9800 / $ 1.1328

   (m i l l i o n s o f  ( r a n g e o f  r a te s ,  (m i l l i o n s o f  ( r a n g e o f  r a te s ,

US dollar forward sales contracts U S d o l l a r s)  p e r d o l l a r )  U S d o l l a r s)  p e r d o l l a r )

0-12 months        
US Dollar Forward Contracts $ 86.0 $ 1.0302 - $ 1.0723 $ 95.8 $ 1.1963 - $ 1.2618
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(Iv) CoMModIt y PRICe RISk:

Canfor is exposed to commodity price risk related to sale of 
lumber, pulp, paper, and oriented strand board. From time to  
time, Canfor enters into futures contracts on the Chicago 
Mercantile Exchange for lumber and forward contracts direct 
with customers for pulp. Under the Price Risk Management 
Controls Policy, up to 15% of lumber sales and 5% of pulp sales 
may be sold in this way.

An increase (decrease) in the futures market price of lumber 
of US$10 per Mfbm would result in a pre-tax loss (gain) of 
approximately $0.6 million in relation to the lumber futures held 
at year end.

Canfor had the following energy derivatives at December 31, 2009 and 2008:

 2009 2008

   Notional Amount Average Rate Notional Amount Average Rate

   (m i l l i o n s o f  (d o l l a r s p e r (m i l l i o n s o f  (d o l l a r s p e r

Natural gas g i g a j o u l e s)  g i g a j o u l e)   g i g a j o u l e s)   g i g a j o u l e)

Floating to fixed swap        
0 – 12 months  2.1 $ 7.53  4.2 $ 7.58
13 – 36 months  1.1 $ 8.04  2.7 $ 7.76

   (m i l l i o n s o f   (d o l l a r s p e r (m i l l i o n s o f  (d o l l a r s p e r

diesel g a l l o n s)  g a l l o n)  g a l l o n s)  g a l l o n)

Floating to fixed swap
0 – 12 months  1.8 $ 2.49  5.3 $ 2.76
13 – 36 months  0.2 $ 2.12  1.2 $ 2.70
Call option
0 – 12 months  –  –  3.0 $ 3.55

 2009 2008

   Notional Amount Average Rate Notional Amount Average Rate

    (U S d o l l a r s  (U S d o l l a r s

Lumber (MM f b m) p e r M f b m) (MM f b m) p e r M f b m)

Future sales contracts
0 – 12 months  55.8 $ 242.30  –  –

deRIvAtIve INStRUMeNtS

Canfor uses a variety of derivative financial instruments to 
reduce its exposure to risks associated with fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates, lumber prices and energy costs. At 
December 31, 2009, the fair value of outstanding commodity 
and exchange financial instruments was a net liability of $5.8 
million (2008 - net liability of $69.3 million). The fair value of 
these financial instruments was determined based on prevailing 
market rates for instruments with similar characteristics.

(III) eNeRgy PRICe RISk:

Canfor is exposed to energy price risk relating to purchases of 
natural gas and diesel oil for use in its operations. 

The exposure may be hedged up to 100% through the use 
of floating to fixed swap contracts or option contracts with 
maturity dates up to a maximum of three years. In the case of 
diesel, Canfor uses heating oil contracts to hedge its exposure.

An increase (decrease) in the market price of natural gas of 
$0.10 per gigajoule would result in a pre-tax gain (loss) of 
approximately $0.3 million in relation to the natural gas swaps 
held at year end.

An increase (decrease) in the market price of diesel of $0.10 
per gallon would result in a pre-tax gain (loss) of approximately 
$0.2 million in relation to the diesel swaps held at year end.
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Canfor undertakes transactions with various related entities. 
These transactions are in the normal course of business and 
are generally on the same terms as those accorded to unrelated 
third parties, except where noted otherwise.

hoWe SoUNd PULP ANd PAPeR LIMIted PARtNeRShIP 

Howe Sound Pulp and Paper Limited Partnership (“HSLP”) is 
jointly owned by Canfor and Oji Paper Co. Ltd. (“Oji”) and operates 
a kraft pulp and newsprint mill at Port Mellon, British Columbia. 

At December 31, 2009, Canfor recorded a total net receivable 
from HSLP, after impairments, of $21.2 million (2008 - $11.3 
million). Canfor’s transactions with HSLP during 2008 and 2009, 
as well as various receivable balances that are included in this 
net receivable balance, are set out below:

a) Under a long-term fibre agreement with Western Forest 
Products Inc., CFLP purchases chips and logs for resale to 
HSLP at CFLP’s cost. In 2009, these purchases totalled $9.8 
million and $11.2 million respectively (2008 - $18.5 million, 
$21.8 million) and the balance receivable at December 31, 
2009 was $21.3 million (2008 - $19.1 million). CFLP charges 
HSLP a commission for this service, which amounted to $0.1 
million in 2009 (2008 - $0.3 million) and at December 31, 
2009, there was a balance receivable of $0.9 million (2008 
- $0.8 million). These amounts have been proportionately 
consolidated in Canfor’s financial statements.

b) Canfor and Oji, the partners of HSLP, and HSLP have a 
prepayment agreement whereby the partners prepay HSLP 
in advance of the due date for receivables for pulp marketed, 
or to be marketed, and collected on their behalf. Canfor 
charges a market rate of interest to HSLP for the period 
paid in advance and the prepayment is partially covered by 
the assignment of current or future accounts receivable. 
The agreement provides for Canfor and Oji to prepay up to 
a maximum amount of $60.0 million each, which is used 
as short-term operating funds by HSLP. Canfor, through 
CPLP, markets the pulp production of HSLP for which it 
receives commissions under the terms of its agency sales 
agreement. Canfor provides management, fibre supply 
and other services to HSLP at cost. At December 31, 2009, 
Canfor has a balance of $41.4 million owing from HSLP 
(2008 - $31.4 million).

c) As a consequence of a debt restructuring agreement among 
HSLP, Canfor, Oji and a consortium of Japanese banks (the 
“Banks”) in February 2008, Canfor contributed additional 
funds to HSLP of $18.8 million, which were still outstanding 
at year end. These funds are secured by the assets of HSLP, 
subject to other security granted to the Banks and Oji. 
The repayment of these funds has priority over all other 
repayments, except a minimum bank debt repayment, from 
the annual free cash flow of HSLP.

The following table summarizes the gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Foreign exchange collars and forward contracts $ 36.0 $ (86.1)
Natural gas swaps  (16.0)  1.0
Diesel options and swaps  1.6  (3.4)
Lumber futures  2.8  –
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments $ 24.4 $ (88.5)

The following table summarizes the fair market value of the derivative financial instruments included in the balance sheet at 
December 31, 2009 and 2008:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Foreign exchange collars and forward contracts $ 1.6 $ (53.2)
Natural gas swaps  (6.8)  (6.5)
Diesel options and swaps  (0.9)  (9.6)
Lumber futures  0.3  –
   $ (5.8) $ (69.3)
Less: current portion  (3.5)  (67.5)
Long-term portion $ (2.3) $ (1.8)

27. related party transaCtions
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CoAStAL FIbRe LIMIted PARtNeRShIP

In March 2006, Canfor completed the transfer of its Englewood 
logging operation and associated timber licenses (“Englewood 
operations”) to a new limited partnership, Coastal Fibre Limited 
Partnership (“CFLP”), jointly owned with Oji Paper Canada 
Ltd., which contributed cash of equal value. In consideration of 
the transfer Canfor received a partnership interest valued at 
$45.0 million, which approximated the book value of the assets 

transferred. On the same day, CFLP transferred the Englewood 
operations and cash of $35.0 million to Western Forest 
Products Inc. (“WFP”) in return for a long-term agreement with 
WFP to supply CFLP with fibre, which CFLP will then supply to 
HSLP. The majority of CFLP’s assets were written off in Canfor’s 
balance sheet in 2008, and Canfor’s share of CFLP’s income and 
expenses were not significant in 2009 or 2008.

otheR ReLAted PARtIeS

Canfor purchases chips and lumber from Lakeland Mills Ltd. 
and Winton Global Lumber Ltd., in which Canfor has a 33.3% 
interest. In 2009, Canfor purchased $3.9 million in chips and 
$0.9 million in lumber (2008 - $6.0 million and $1.5 million 
respectively). The balance outstanding at December 31, 2009 
was $0.4 million (2008 - $0.2 million). 

In 2009, shipping services provided by Seaboard 
International Shipping Company (“Seaboard”), in which Canfor 
has a 20% interest, amounted to $0.6 million (2008 - $3.4 
million). There was no balance outstanding at December 31, 
2009 or 2008. In addition, the Seaboard General Partnership, 
which owns Seaboard, declared a cash distribution to its 
partners during 2009, of which Canfor’s share was $2.9 million.

On December 29, 2009 Canfor received a loan of $1.1 
million from the Seaboard General Partnership by way of a 
demand, non-interest bearing promissory note payable on or 
before January 4, 2010. On January 4, 2010, Seaboard General 
Partnership declared an income distribution to its partners 
of which Canfor’s share was $1.1 million. The distribution was 
received by way of offset against the non-interest bearing 
promissory note of the same amount.

Louisiana-Pacific Canada Ltd. performs the sales and 
receivable functions for Peace Valley OSB, an oriented strand 
board mill located in Fort St. John, British Columbia (Note 28). 
In 2009, Louisiana-Pacific Canada Ltd. sold $79.0 million of 
Peace Valley OSB inventory (2008 - $110.7 million). Louisiana-
Pacific Canada Ltd. charges a fee for this service, which 
amounted to $2.6 million in 2009 (2008 - $3.1 million). There 
was a net receivable from Louisiana-Pacific Canada Ltd. of 
$0.4 million at December 31, 2009 (2008 - net payable of $0.1 
million). These amounts have been proportionately consolidated 
in Canfor’s financial statements.

CANFoR-LoUISIANA PACIFIC oSb LIMIted PARtNeRShIP

Canfor and Louisiana-Pacific Canada Ltd. jointly own Peace 
Valley OSB (“Canfor-LP OSB”), a limited partnership. Canfor has 
agreed to supply 330,000 cubic metres of timber annually to the 

joint venture from its existing timber tenure in the area where 
the mill is located. In 2009, Canfor made capital contributions of 
$0.8 million to Canfor-LP OSB (2008 - $3.5 million).

28. Joint ventures

The following balances, which represent Canfor’s 50% ownership interest in Canfor-LP OSB, have been proportionately consolidated in 
Canfor’s consolidated financial statements:  
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

balance sheet
 Cash $ 2.2 $ 2.8
 Other current assets  3.0  3.0
 Property, plant and equipment  99.4  106.5
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (2.9)  (3.6)
Net assets $ 101.7 $ 108.7
Statement of income (loss)
 Sales $ 38.9 $ 54.8
 Costs and expenses  (46.7)  (69.1)
Net loss $ (7.8) $ (14.3)
Cash flow statement
 Cash from (used in) operating activities $ (1.3) $ (3.5)
 Cash from (used in) investing activities  0.7  3.1
Net decrease in cash $ (0.6) $ (0.4)

The transactions with HSLP in 2009 and 2008 are summarized below:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Chips purchased for resale to HSLP by CFLP (Canfor’s portion) $ 4.9 $ 9.3
Pulp logs purchased for resale to HSLP by CFLP (Canfor’s portion)  5.6  10.9
Interest  1.0  3.1
Commission earned from marketing of HSLP pulp  2.4  2.6
Other  0.3  0.3
   $ 14.2 $ 26.2
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Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the CEO and the 
executive management team, who operate as Canfor’s chief 
operating decision maker. The CEO and executive management 
team are responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments.

Canfor has two reportable segments, as described below, 
which offer different products and are managed separately 
because they require different production processes and 
marketing strategies. The following summary describes the 
operations of each of the Company’s reportable segments:

• Lumber – Includes logging operations, and manufacture and 
sale of various grades and widths of lumber products.

• Pulp and paper – Includes purchase of residual fibre, and 
production and sale of pulp and paper products, including 
northern bleached softwood kraft (“NBSK”) and bleached 
chemi-thermo mechanical pulp (“BCTMP”). This segment 
includes 100% of Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership and the 
Taylor Pulp mill.

Sales between segments are accounted for at prices that 
approximate fair value. These include sale of residual fibre from 
the lumber segment to the pulp and paper segment for use in 
their pulp production process. 

Effective January 1, 2009, the operating results, capital 
expenditures and identifiable assets of the Company’s panels 
business are no longer reported separately as an operating 
segment. With the exception of the Peace Valley OSB Limited 
Partnership, of which the Company owns a 50% share, all panel 
operations are currently indefinitely idled. Operating results, 
capital expenditures and identifiable assets of the panels 
business are now included in the Unallocated & Other segment. 
Sales of panels for the 2009 year were $39.3 million (2008 - 
$170.3 million).

29. segmented information

     Pulp &  Unallocated Elimination
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)   Lumbera Paper & Other Adjustment Consolidated

year ended december 31, 2009
Sales to external customers   $ 1,162.9  918.2  39.3  – $ 2,120.4
Sales to other segments    $ 78.9  –  0.1  (79.0) $ –
operating income (loss)   $ (171.4)  5.4  (44.4)  – $ (210.4)
Amortization   $ 90.0  50.5  14.8  – $ 155.3
Capital expenditures   $ 39.1  17.9  2.0  – $ 59.0
Identifiable assets   $ 1,279.3  861.8  536.7  – $ 2,677.8

Year ended December 31, 2008
Sales to external customers   $ 1,490.5  950.8  170.3  – $ 2,611.6
Sales to other segments    $ 96.0  –  3.6  (99.6) $ –
Operating income (loss)   $ (155.0)  76.8  (79.9)  – $ (158.1)
Amortization   $ 99.5  48.8  22.9  – $ 171.2
Capital expenditures   $ 39.5  39.9  0.8  – $ 80.2
Identifiable assetsb   $ 1,434.4  906.6  859.4  – $ 3,200.4

(a)  S a l e s in c l u d e s a l e s o f  C a nf o r - p r o d u ce d l um b e r o f  $949. 6 m i l l i o n in 2 0 0 9 ( 2 0 0 8 – $1, 214 . 3 m i l l i o n) . 
(b )  I d e nt i f i a b l e a s s et s in 2 0 0 8 a r e p r e s e nte d n et  o f  a n im p a ir m e nt c h a r g e o f  $169. 6 m i l l i o n ,  o f  w h ic h $ 2 . 2 m i l l i o n r e l a te d to th e L um b e r s e gm e nt a n d $167. 4 m i l l i o n to 

U n a l l o c ate d a n d O th e r. 

geogRAPhIC INFoRMAtIoN
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Sales by location of customer
 Canada $ 319.5 $ 505.3
 United States  1,043.0  1,378.3
 Asia  556.0  522.7
 Europe  168.3  174.5
 Other  33.6  30.8
   $ 2,120.4 $ 2,611.6
Capital assets and goodwill by location
 Canada $ 1,598.1 $ 1,697.9
 United States  151.7  186.1
 Asia and Other  0.1  0.2
   $ 1,749.9 $ 1,884.2
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Canfor’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain a 
strong balance sheet and a globally competitive cost structure 

that ensures adequate liquidity to maintain and develop the 
business throughout the commodity price cycle.

oPeRAtINg LeASe CoMMItMeNtS

Canfor has committed to operating leases for property, plant 
and equipment. As at December 31, 2009, the future minimum 
lease payments under these operating leases were as follows:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  

2010   $ 15.1
2011    10.1
2012    6.7
2013    4.1
2014    1.6
Thereafter    0.7
Total minimum lease payments   $ 38.3

LetteRS oF CRedIt

Canfor and CPLP have several letters of credit which are 
summarized in Note 8, Operating Loans.

otheR CoNtRACtUAL CoMMItMeNtS

Contractual commitments at December 31, 2009 totalled $30.2 
million (2008 - nil), and related principally to the construction of 
capital assets.

On October 9, 2009 the Canadian federal government announced 
the allocation of credits from the billion dollar Pulp and 
Paper Green Transformation Program (“the Program”, which 
was originally announced on June 17, 2009). The Program is 

designed as a reimbursement of funds to be spent on qualifying 
energy and environmental capital projects. Credits may be used 
until the program end date of March 31, 2012. CPLP has been 
allocated $122.2 million from this Program.

Certain 2008 figures have been reclassified to conform to the 
current year’s presentation.

The Company has certain financial covenants in its 
debt obligations that stipulate maximum net debt to total 
capitalization ratios and minimum net worth amounts based on 
total shareholders’ equity. The net debt to total capitalization is 
calculated by dividing total debt, less cash and cash equivalents, 
by shareholders’ equity plus total debt less cash and cash 
equivalents. Debt obligations are held by various entities  
within the Canfor group and the individual debt agreements 
specify the entities within the group that are to be included in 
the covenant calculations.

Separately, CPLP has leverage and interest coverage ratios 
calculated by reference to operating earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortization.

Canfor’s strategy is to ensure it remains in compliance  
with all of its existing covenants, so as to ensure continuous 
access to capital, and management reviews results and 
forecasts to monitor Canfor’s compliance. Canfor was in 
compliance with all its debt covenants for the years ended 
December 31, 2009 and 2008.

30. Capital disClosures

31. Commitments and ContingenCies

32. pulp and paper green transformation program

33. Comparative figures

Canfor’s capital is comprised of net debt and shareholders’ equity:
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  2009 2008

Total debt (including operating loans) $ 367.9 $ 622.2
Less: Cash and cash equivalents  (133.4)  (362.4)
Net debt  234.5  259.8
Total shareholders’ equity  1,386.8  1,494.8
Total capitalization $ 1,621.3 $ 1,754.6
Net debt to total capitalization percentage  14.5%  14.8%
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summary of Consolidated produCtion and sHipments

(un a u d i te d)

produCtion

2009   1st qtr 2nd qtr 3rd qtr 4th qtr year

Lumber SPF – MMfbm   $ 701.9  759.3  613.9  691.7  2,766.8
Lumber SYP – MMfbm    62.4  58.6  70.5  76.0  267.5
Oriented strand board – MMsf 3/8” basis    26.0  63.1  68.2  61.2  218.5
Pulp – 000 mt    270.0  299.1  315.6  307.3  1,192.0
Kraft paper – 000 mt    28.4  30.7  33.6  38.4  131.1

2 0 0 8  1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr Year

Lumber SPF – MMfbm    883.7  877.0  747.1  791.6  3,299.4
Lumber SYP – MMfbm    106.0  104.4  99.6  78.6  388.6
Oriented strand board – MMsf 3/8” basis    158.4  134.3  85.3  56.8  434.8
Pulp – 000 mt    284.5  276.2  307.8  256.1  1,124.6
Kraft paper – 000 mt    32.4  34.2  35.9  30.1  132.6

sHipments
2009   1st qtr 2nd qtr 3rd qtr 4th qtr  year

Lumber – MMfbm
 Canfor produced SPF    684.9  764.5  714.7  750.1  2,914.2
 Canfor produced SYP    66.7  69.1  66.0  115.8  317.6
 Purchased from other producers    39.0  50.1  56.1  20.6  165.8
 Total Lumber    790.6  883.7  836.8  886.5  3,397.6
Oriented strand board – MMsf 3/8” basis    29.7  60.6  68.5  62.6  221.4
Pulp – 000 mt
 Canfor produced    276.6  344.4  307.1  315.4  1,243.5
 Marketed on behalf of HSLP    70.9  81.9  101.9  68.2  322.9
 Total Pulp    347.5  426.3  409.0  383.6  1,566.4
Kraft paper – 000 mt    25.2  34.3  37.4  38.1  135.0

2 0 0 8  1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr Year

Lumber – MMfbm
 Canfor produced SPF    862.7  935.3  755.9  834.3  3,388.2
 Canfor produced SYP    110.3  125.9  110.3  86.2  432.7
 Purchased from other producers    49.5  46.0  39.8  35.7  171.0
 Total Lumber    1,022.5  1,107.2  906.0  956.2  3,991.9
Oriented strand board – MMsf 3/8” basis    163.8  152.9  90.5  55.7  462.9
Pulp – 000 mt
 Canfor produced    279.0  289.4  284.0  235.6  1,088.0
 Marketed on behalf of HSLP    78.3  96.2  86.0  52.6  313.1
 Total Pulp    357.3  385.6  370.0  288.2  1,401.1
Kraft paper – 000 mt    35.1  33.7  31.7  24.3  124.8
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2009 seleCted Quarterly finanCial information

(un a u d i te d)   1st qtr 2nd qtr 3rd qtr 4th qtr year

Sales and income (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)

Sales   $ 488.2 $ 541.7 $ 540.9 $ 549.6 $ 2,120.4
Manufacturing and product costs    444.0  385.0  399.0  405.0  1,633.0
Freight and other distribution costs    97.3  107.9  101.0  104.2  410.4
Export taxes    10.9  13.3  13.3  11.2  48.7
Amortization    39.6  38.5  38.4  38.8  155.3
Selling and administration costs    14.2  16.8  14.4  8.1  53.5
Restructuring, mill closure and severance costs    6.4  11.4  6.2  5.9  29.9
operating income (loss)    (124.2)  (31.2)  (31.4)  (23.6)  (210.4)
Interest expense, net    (8.3)  (7.0)  (6.9)  (7.1)  (29.3)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on  
 long-term debt and investments, net    (12.9)  29.1  26.2  8.0  50.4
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments    (21.3)  25.7  17.7  2.3  24.4
Gain on sale of mill property    44.6  –  –  –  44.6
North Central Plywoods mill fire, net    –  (3.0)  –  –  (3.0)
Other income (expense), net    2.5  (2.5)  (8.7)  (2.7)  (11.4)
Net income (loss) before income taxes and  
 non-controlling interests    (119.6)  11.1  (3.1)  (23.1)  (134.7)
Income tax recovery    49.7  1.0  7.2  14.0  71.9
Non-controlling interests    11.1  (1.6)  (9.3)  (7.9)  (7.7)
Net income (loss)   $ (58.8) $ 10.5 $ (5.2) $ (17.0) $ (70.5)

Per common share (d o l l a r s)

Net income (loss)
  Basic and diluted   $ (0.41) $ 0.07 $ (0.04) $ (0.12) $ (0.50)

Cash generated from (used in) (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)

Operating activities   $ (127.0) $ 38.9 $ 33.3 $ (13.8) $ (68.6)
Financing activities
 Long-term debt     (99.7)  (75.8)  –  –  (175.5)
 Other, net    (10.7)  (3.4)  (16.1)  (2.6)  (32.8)
      (110.4)  (79.2)  (16.1)  (2.6)  (208.3)
Investing activities          
 Additions to property, plant, equipment and timber    (18.8)  (7.5)  (22.4)  (10.3)  (59.0)
 Other, net    48.8  45.2  6.5  8.1  108.6
      30.0  37.7  (15.9)  (2.2)  49.6
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash and  
 cash equivalents of self-sustaining foreign operations   0.2  0.2  (1.4)  (0.7)  (1.7)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   $ (207.2) $ (2.4) $ (0.1) $ (19.3) $ (229.0)

C e r t a in p r e v i o u s ly p ub l i s h e d f i g ur e s h a v e b e e n r e c l a s s i f i e d to co nf o r m to th e c ur r e nt p r e s e nt a t i o n .
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2008 seleCted Quarterly finanCial information

(un a u d i te d)   1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr Year

Sales and income (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)

Sales   $ 648.5 $ 706.4 $ 668.0 $ 588.7 $ 2,611.6
Manufacturing and product costs    574.4  447.0  459.2  472.5  1,953.1
Freight and other distribution costs    115.1  129.7  114.3  117.1  476.2
Export taxes    13.4  18.2  17.5  6.0  55.1
Amortization    43.5  41.5  42.2  44.0  171.2
Selling and administration costs    15.8  15.2  16.6  13.0  60.6
Restructuring, mill closure and severance costs    3.8  34.0  5.4  10.3  53.5
operating income (loss)    (117.5)  20.8  12.8  (74.2)  (158.1)
Interest expense, net    (5.3)  (5.7)  (6.7)  (7.7)  (25.4)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on long-term debt and investments  (12.0)  (0.1)  (16.2)  (72.0)  (100.3)
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments    6.0  26.0  (38.8)  (81.7)  (88.5)
North Central Plywoods mill fire, net    –  57.9  –  –  57.9
Prince George Pulp and Paper mill fire, net    8.5  –  –  (0.3)  8.2
Asset impairments    –  –  (70.0)  (99.6)  (169.6)
Other income (expense), net    1.2  (1.5)  0.1  12.9  12.7
Net income (loss) before income taxes and  
 non-controlling interests    (119.1)  97.4  (118.8)  (322.6)  (463.1)
Income tax recovery (expense)    55.7  (24.0)  30.0  80.2  141.9
Non-controlling interests    (22.0)  (9.2)  (5.4)  12.6  (24.0)
Net income (loss)   $ (85.4) $ 64.2 $ (94.2) $ (229.8) $ (345.2)

Per common share (d o l l a r s)

Net Income (loss)
 Basic and diluted   $ (0.60) $ 0.45 $ (0.66) $ (1.61) $ (2.42)

Cash generated from (used in) (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)

Operating activities   $ (3.6) $ 74.6 $ 65.3 $ 15.5 $ 151.8
Financing activities
 Long-term debt     (14.8)  –  –  –  (14.8)
 Other, net    (9.9)  (11.8)  (14.0)  8.1  (27.6)
      (24.7)  (11.8)  (14.0)  8.1  (42.4)
Investing activities
 Additions to property, plant, equipment and timber    (19.3)  (16.6)  (22.4)  (21.9)  (80.2)
 Other, net    (6.4)  9.9  6.6  21.7  31.8
      (25.7)  (6.7)  (15.8)  (0.2)  (48.4)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash and  
 cash equivalents of self-sustaining foreign operations   –  –  1.1  4.8  5.9
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   $ (54.0) $ 56.1 $ 36.6 $ 28.2 $ 66.9

C e r t a in p r e v i o u s ly p ub l i s h e d f i g ur e s h a v e b e e n r e c l a s s i f i e d to co nf o r m to th e c ur r e nt p r e s e nt a t i o n .
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five year Comparative review

(un a u d i te d)   2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Sales and income (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)

Sales   $ 2,120.4 $ 2,611.6 $ 3,275.6 $ 3,842.3 $ 3,787.1
Manufacturing and product costs    1,633.0  1,953.1  2,583.6  2,949.8  2,597.7
Freight and other distribution costs    410.4  476.2  565.0  598.3  593.3
Export taxes, countervailing and anti-dumping duties    48.7  55.1  101.8  109.8  224.8
Amortization    155.3  171.2  184.1  182.6  151.6
Selling and administration costs    53.5  60.6  72.8  78.5  72.0
Restructuring, mill closure and severance costs    29.9  53.5  41.3  6.5  5.3
Countervailing and anti-dumping duty refund    –  –  –  (717.7)  –
operating income (loss)    (210.4)  (158.1)  (273.0)  634.5  142.4
Interest income (expense), net    (29.3)  (25.4)  (9.4)  56.2  (42.2)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on long-term debt and  
 investments, net    50.4  (100.3)  16.2  4.7  10.0
Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments    24.4  (88.5)  16.0  –  –
Asset impairments    –  (169.6)  (268.0)  (19.1)  –
Other income (expense), net    (11.4)  12.7  (11.1)  (10.5)  12.8
Non-recurring items    41.6  66.1  –  –  (8.8)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations  
 before income taxes and non-recurring interests    (134.7)  (463.1)  (529.3)  665.8  114.2
Income tax recovery (expense)    71.9  141.9  234.1  (169.4)  (12.4)
Non-controlling interests    (7.7)  (24.0)  (65.4)  (20.7)  –
Net income (loss) from continuing operations    (70.5)  (345.2)  (360.6)  475.7  101.8
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations    –  –  –  (3.9)  (5.8)
Net income (loss)   $ (70.5) $ (345.2) $ (360.6) $ 471.8 $ 96.0

Per common share (d o l l a r s)

Net Income (loss) from continuing operations  
 – basic and diluted   $ (0.50) $ (2.42) $ (2.53) $ 3.34 $ 0.71
Net income (loss) – basic and diluted   $ (0.50) $ (2.42) $ (2.53) $ 3.31 $ 0.67
Book value per share   $ 9.73 $ 10.48 $ 12.74 $ 15.63 $ 14.36

balance Sheet (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)

Working capital   $ 443.3 $ 531.4 $ 815.2 $ 1,172.3 $ 725.7
Long-term investments and other    93.7  125.7  170.4  115.3  186.5
Property, plant, equipment and timber    1,676.6  1,798.5  1,959.4  2,254.9  2,211.1
Goodwill    73.3  85.7  69.2  81.6  –
Deferred charges    117.1  110.2  90.0  91.8  96.9
Net assets of discontinued operations    –  –  –  –  73.8
Net assets   $ 2,404.0 $ 2,651.5 $ 3,104.2 $ 3,715.9 $ 3,294.0

Long-term debt   $ 333.3 $ 428.7 $ 481.6 $ 602.8 $ 544.5
Long-term accrued liabilities and obligations    209.8  208.8  203.5  173.3  220.5
Future income taxes    200.8  242.4  299.5  415.4  468.3
Deferred credit    –  –  –  –  14.1
Non-controlling interests    273.3  276.8  302.5  296.7  –
Shareholders’ equity    1,386.8  1,494.8  1,817.1  2,227.7  2,046.6
     $ 2,404.0 $ 2,651.5 $ 3,104.2 $ 3,715.9 $ 3,294.0

Additions to property, plant, equipment 
 and timber (m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)   $ 59.0 $ 80.2 $ 90.6 $ 107.1 $ 334.5

C e r t a in p r i o r y e a r s’  f i g ur e s h a v e b e e n r e c l a s s i f i e d to co nf o r m to th e 2 0 0 9 p r e s e nt a t i o n .
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five year Comparative review

(un a u d i te d)   2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Cash generated from (used in) (m i l l i o n o f  d o l l a r s)

Operating activities   $ (68.6) $ 151.8 $ (483.1) $ 1,140.2 $ 193.3
Financing activities
 Long-term debt    (175.5)  (14.8)  (99.1)  26.5  (67.8)
 Common shares    -  -  0.4  0.3  (11.9)
 Cash distributions paid to non-controlling interest    (8.9)  (52.3)  (74.2)  (17.6)  -
 Other, net    (23.9)  24.7  (1.4)  (23.5)  (1.6)
      (208.3)  (42.4)  (174.3)  (14.3)  (81.3)
Investing activities
 Property, plant, equipment and timber, net    (3.7)  (74.6)  (86.6)  (104.3)  (327.0)
 Temporary investments    -  -  124.5  (119.0)  3.0
 Business acquisitions    -  (0.8)  (16.8)  (206.1)  –
 Changes in long-term investments    19.9  –  (85.9)  –  –
 Other, net    33.4  27.0  (6.1)  11.8  75.2
      49.6  (48.4)  (71.5)  (417.6)  (248.8)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash and cash equivalents  
 of self-sustaining foreign operations    (1.7)  5.9  –  –  –
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
 From continuing operations    (229.0)  66.9  (728.3)  708.3  (136.8)
 From discontinued operations    –  –  –  16.6  7.4
     $ (229.0) $ 66.9 $ (728.3) $ 724.9 $ (129.4)

Cash and cash equivalents at year end   $ 133.4 $ 362.4 $ 295.5 $ 1,023.8 $ 298.9

Financial statistics
EBITDA   $ (55.1) $ 13.1  (88.9)  817.1  294.0
Return on capital employed    (2.8)%  (17.1)%  (16.9)%  18.0%  5.3%
Return on common shareholders’ equity    (4.9)%  (18.5)%  (17.8)%  22.1%  4.8%
Ratio of current assets to current liabilities    2.6:1  2.0:1  3.0:1  2.2:1  2.4:1
Ratio of net debt to capitalization    14%  15%  10%  (26)%  14%

Production statistics*
Lumber SPF – MMfbm    2,766.8  3,299.4  4,111.6  4,459.8  4,624.4
Lumber SYP– MMfbm    267.5  388.6  389.2  341.4  –
Plywood – MMsf 3/8” basis    –  233.4  385.0  439.2  433.3
Oriented strand board – MMsf 3/8” basis    218.5  434.8  673.2  734.4  478.8
Pulp – 000 mt    1,192.0  1,124.6  1,244.5  1,209.8  1,189.1
Kraft paper – 000 mt    131.1  132.6  131.6  129.1  127.4
Hardboard – MMsf 3/8” basis    –  –  26.2  27.3  29.4
Refined fibre – 000 mt    –  –  25.5  34.8  35.9

Sales by product line*
Lumber – Canfor produced    46%  47%  49%  50%  59%
Pulp and kraft paper     43  36  32  25  25
Plywood    0  3  4  4  4
Lumber – other producers    2  2  4  11  6
Oriented strand board    2  3  4  4  4
Miscellaneous    7  9  7  6  2
      100%  100%  100%  100%  100%

Sales by market
United States    49%  53%  57%  67%  67%
Canada    15  19  19  15  12
Asia     26  20  17  13  13
Europe    8  7  6  4  7
Other    2  1  1  1  1
      100%  100%  100%  100%  100%

*E xc l u d e s d i s co nt in u e d o p e r at i o n s
C e r t a in p r i o r y e a r s’  f i g ur e s h a v e b e e n r e c l a s s i f i e d to co nf o r m to th e 2 0 0 9 p r e s e nt a t i o n .
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direCtors

offiCers

direCtors and offiCers
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Darlington, SC . . . . . . . . . 20

PULP & PAPeR
Howe Sound (2). . . . . . . . . . 21

Intercontinental (1). . . . . . . 22

Northwood (1) . . . . . . . . . . . 23

Prince George (1) . . . . . . . . 24

Taylor. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25

PLyWood & oSb
Peace Valley OSB (2) . . . . . . 26

PolarBoard OSB  . . . . . . . 27

Tackama Plywood . . . . . . 28

otheR
Bellingham, WA. . . . . . . . 29

Uneeda . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30

J.D. Little Forest Centre. . 31

(1)  C a nf o r P u l p L im i te d P a r tn e r s h ip – 5 0 . 2 % o w n e r s h ip
( 2 )  L im i te d P a r tn e r s h ip – 5 0 % o w n e r s h ip

western Canada east Coast

prinCe george

map of operations
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Corporate and sHareHolder information

Annual general Meeting 
Canfor’s Annual General 
Meeting will be held at 
the Terminal City Club, 
Metropolitan Room, 
837 West Hastings Street, 
Vancouver, B.C., on Thursday 
April 29th, 2010 at 11:30 a.m.

Auditors 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Vancouver, BC

transfer Agent and Registrar 
CIBC Mellon Trust Company 
Vancouver, Calgary, Regina, 
Winnipeg, Toronto, Montreal 
and Halifax

Stock Listing 
Toronto Stock Exchange 
Symbol: CFP

Investor Contact 
Patrick Elliott 
Treasurer 
t: (604) 661-5441 
F: (604) 661-5429 
e: patrick.elliott@canfor.com

Canfor Corporation head 
office 
#100 – 1700 West 75th Avenue 
Vancouver, BC V6P 6G2 
Telephone: (604) 661-5241 
Fax: (604) 661-5235 
Email: info@canfor.com 
Web: www.canfor.com

Canfor also produces an 
Annual Information Form. 
To obtain this publication or 
more information about the 
company, please contact 
Canfor Corporation, Public 
Affairs or visit our website at 
www.canfor.com/investors

Public Affairs Contact 
Dave Lefebvre 
Director, Public Affairs &  
Corporate Communications 
t: (604) 661-5225 
F: (604) 661-5219 
e: dave.lefebvre@canfor.com

book value per Share is the shareholders’ equity at the end of 
the year, divided by the number of common shares outstanding 
at the end of the year.

Capital employed consists of current bank loans, current portion 
of long-term debt, long-term debt and shareholders’ equity, less 
cash and cash equivalents and temporary investments.

earnings before Interest, taxes and Amortization (ebItdA) 
represents operating income before amortization.

Net debt is total debt less cash and cash equivalents and 
temporary investments.

Net Income (Loss) per Common Share is calculated as 
described in Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Return on Capital employed is equal to net income plus interest, 
after tax, divided by the average capital employed during the year.

Return on Common Shareholders’ equity is equal to net income 
for the year, divided by the average total shareholders’ equity 
during the year.

 2009 
 Production Capacity

LUMbeR (MM f b m)

Total SPF  2,766.8  4,356
Total SYP  267.5  552
total Lumber   3,034.3  4,908

Plywood (MM s f 3 / 8 ” b a s i s )  –  270

oSb (MM s f 3 / 8 ” b a s i s )  (1)  437.0  1,460

PULP (0 0 0 to n n e s)

Canfor Pulp LP (1)  1,006.8
Howe Sound Pulp and Paper LP (1)  323.8
Taylor Pulp  186.2
total Pulp  1,516.8  1,673

PAPeR (0 0 0 to n n e s)

Canfor Pulp LP (1)  131.1  140

NeWSPRINt (0 0 0 to n n e s)

Howe Sound Pulp and Paper LP (1)  149.2  230

(1)  P a r t l y  o w n e d – in c l u d e s 10 0 % o f  p r o d u c t i o n .

mill operations definitions of seleCted finanCial terms
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SPF LUMbeR (Spruce-Pine-Fir)

D im en s ion L umb er

• Dimension Lumber 

(imperial/metric)

• Studs (Solid & Finger 

Joined) (imperial/metric) 

• Long Length Finger 

Joined Lumber

• Customized Prime 

Grade Products

SyP LUMbeR (Southern yellow Pine)

S Y P L umb er

• Dimension Lumber

• Studs (Solid & 

Finger Joined)

• Customized Prime 

Grade Products

eNgINeeRed LUMbeR

M S R

• MSR (Machine Stress Rated)

• Long Length Finger 

Joined MSR

• Customized Glulam 

Products

• Plywood

• OSB

O S B

StRUCtURAL PANeLS

gAtoR gUARd (Southern yellow Pine)

Tr e ate d L umb er

• Treated Lumber

• Treated Plywood

• Treated Siding

• Treated Balusters

• Treated Spindles
SILvAStAR

• Fascia and Trim

• Decking

• Log Cabin Siding

• Pattern Stock

• Furring Strips
Fa s c ia

Quality produCts we are 

proud to put our name on




